
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 26 September 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr. Matthew Hand (Tel: 0116 305 2583) 

Email: matthew.hand@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. R. Blunt CC 

Sue Elcock 
Karen English 

Cllr. J. Kaufman 
Cllr. P. King 

Harsha Kotecha 
Dr Mayur Lakhani 

DPCC Kirk Master 
Jane Moore 

Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 
 

Mike Sandys 
Frances Shattock 
John Sinnott 
Micheal Smith 
Ch. Supt Adam Streets 
Jane Toman 
Caroline Trevithick 
Mark Wightman 
Jon Wilson 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2019 
and Action Log.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Position Statement by the Chairman.  
 
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works


 
 
 
 

 

 Performance: Placed Based Outcomes. 
 
 

5.  
  

Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Adults Board Annual Report.  
 

Independent Chair 
of the 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 
 

(Pages 15 - 40) 

6.  
  

Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Childrens' Board Annual Report.  
 

Independent Chair 
of the 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local 
Safeguarding 
Children Board 
 

(Pages 41 - 70) 

7.  
  

Developing a New Place- Based Health and 
Wellbeing Outcomes Framework for 
Leicestershire.  
 

Director of Health 
and Care 
Integration 
 

(Pages 71 - 86) 

 Strategy. 
 
 

 Housing in the Place 
 
 

8.  
  

Housing Developments across Leicestershire 
over the next 10 years.  
 

Joint Strategic 
Planning Manager 
for Leicester and 
Leicestershire 
 

(Pages 87 - 
102) 

9.  
  

Active Design in New County Housing 
Developments.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 103 - 
110) 

 Health and Care in the Place 
 
 

10.  
  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - 
Multimorbidity and Frailty.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 111 - 
116) 

11.  
  

Mental Health Standards and Local Investment 
Plans from 2019/20 Onwards.  
 

West 
Leicestershire and 
East Leicestershire 
and Rutland CCG 
 

(Pages 117 - 
120) 

12.  
  

Better Care Fund Plan 2019/20.  
 

Director of Health 
and Care 
Integration 
 

(Pages 121 - 
154) 

 Governance 
 

 
13.  

  
Health and Wellbeing Board Governance 
Arrangements and Sub Structure.  
 

Director of Health 
and Care 
Integration 

(Pages 155 - 
160) 



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

15.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 
Thursday 28 November at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on 
Thursday, 11 July 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

 
Leicestershire County Council 
 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC (Chairman)                  Jane Moore 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC                    Jon Wilson      
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
  
Caroline Trevithick 
Dr Andy Ker 
Dr Jeff Hanlon 
 
Leicestershire District and Borough Councils 
 
Cllr. J. Kaufman 
 
Healthwatch 
 
Micheal Smith                
 
In attendance 
 
Simon Down                  Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Supt Steve Potter          Leicestershire Police 
Frances Shattock          NHS England 
 
Apologies 
 
Mr. R. Blunt CC, Sue Elcock, Karen English, Cllr. P. King, DPCC Kirk Master, 
Mike Sandys, John Sinnott, Ch. Supt Adam Streets, Jane Toman and Mark Wightman 
 

162. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30 May were taken as read, confirmed and signed. 
 

163. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

164. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 
165. Position Statement by the Chairman.  

 
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:- 
 
• London School of Economics – Evaluation of the performance of Leicestershire 

County Council’s Quality Team (QT). 
• Inspired to Care  
• Clean Air Day 
• Adverse Childhood Experiences  
 
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes. 
 

166. Development of Primary Care Networks Across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  
 
The Board considered a joint report of East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Group and West Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning 
Group which provided an update on the development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 
5’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 

 The rules by which practices could combine to form each PCN were set nationally. 
PCNs must cover every patient registered in a GP practice and align with County 
Council boundaries, although there was no requirement to align with district 
council boundaries. Practices in each PCN must also share borders and have 
close working relationships.   
 

 Each PCN would receive funding in order to provide roles such as a clinical 
pharmacist, a social prescribing link worker and a physiotherapist. It was 
acknowledged that whilst this clinical expertise would be available to all patients 
within each PCN, they may be required to travel to a different surgery (within their 
PCN area) to access the service. It would be the responsibility of the individual 
PCN, working with patient groups, to manage service delivery in a way which did 
not cause transport issues or other difficulties for patients. 
 

 It was acknowledged that some Leicestershire residents received health services 
from GP surgeries and hospitals outside of Leicestershire. The NHS budget for 
these residents was received by the CCG covering the GP practice where they 
were registered, however, it would be important for there to be effective 
communication across the county borders to ensure that service provision was 
joined up.  

 

 Each PCN would have an accountable clinical director. A monthly half-day forum 
was being set up to enable effective two-way communication between the PCNs, 
CCGs and partner agencies. 
 

 Concern was raised that the changes and benefits to services as a result of the 
new PCN system had not been communicated to patients. It was noted that the 
establishment of PCNs was undertaken quickly, and the request by NHS England 
for the networks geographical profiles not to be released ahead of their 
introduction on the 1 July meant only a limited amount of information could initially 

6



 
 

 

be shared. There was now an opportunity for further engagement with patients to 
help them understand the benefits. However, it was confirmed that patients should 
not expect to see any differences in service provision to start with. Patients would 
continue to feel affiliation with the practice they were registered with. In future, 
patients should benefit from a more localised service with extended services which 
aimed to keep care closer to home. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That a further update on the implementation of Primary Care Networks across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland be considered at a future meeting of the Board.  
 

167. Integrated Community Workstream and Community Services Redesign.  
 
The Board considered a joint presentation of East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Group and West Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning 
Group which provided an update on the Better Care Together, Community Health 
Services Redesign project led by the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. A copy of the presentation marked ‘Agenda item 6’ 
is filed with these minutes. 
 
In order to help restore capacity around the neighbourhood nursing teams, the redesign 
project included plans to enable as far as possible, patient management to be undertaken 
locally by GP teams. To enable this to happen Integrated locality Teams would work 
closely with social care and the 25 primary care networks within Leicestershire.   
 
It was noted that public and patient engagement on the proposed future model had been 
a fundamental part of the redesign process. It had been a comprehensive exercise which 
was well received by Healthwatch Leicestershire. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the presentation be noted.  
 

168. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - Air Quality and Health.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health concerning the findings 
and recommendations arising from the Joint Strategy Needs Assessment Air Quality and 
Health Chapter. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 7’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
It was noted that the recommendations arising from the findings of the chapter would be 
considered alongside the County Council’s recent Climate Emergency declaration. It was 
agreed that many of the recommendations required actions from a variety of partners and 
it would therefore be beneficial for a multi agency action plan to be developed. This would 
be taken forward by the Air Quality and Health Partnership. CCGs were not currently 
represented on this partnership and it was felt that it would be beneficial if they identified  
representative going forward.  
 
In reference to the Council organised events held on 20 June to celebrate Clean Air Day, 
it was noted that it could be extended in future years to include other partners.    
 
RESOLVED: 
 

7



 
 

 

a) That the recommendations arising from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Air 
Quality and Health Chapter be supported; 
 

b) That a multi-agency action plan based on the recommendations be produced and 
considered at a future meeting of the Board. 

 
169. Strategic Partnership Board Update.  

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the work undertaken by the Strategic Partnership Board, 
including the development of People Zones. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 8’ 
is filed with these minutes.  
 
It was noted that work was ongoing to align the work of the Partnership Board closer to 
that of Health providers and improve communication between partners across 
Leicestershire. There was an ongoing piece of work to develop this which reflected the 
recent implementation of PCNs.  
 
In reference to the development of People Zones, members welcomed the approach 
which used existing assets to address key issues within communities.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

170. Progress of the Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan 2017-2020.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which detailed 
progress made with the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Social Care 
Sector Growth Plan published in 2017. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 9’ is 
filed with these minutes. 
 
In reference to consultation undertaken on the Growth Plan, it was noted that whilst there 
had not been any formal consultation with the general public, there had been extensive 
engagement with providers and there would be further opportunities to do so as the Plan 
was developed. Work was currently being undertaken with schools and colleges, for 
example at careers fairs, to raise interest in the health and social care sector.   
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the progress towards the Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan be 

noted; 
 

b) That it be noted that relevant actions arising from the Local Workforce Action 
Board Workshop held on 10 July would be added to the Plan;    
 

c) That the Board consider a further update on the progress of the Health and Social 
Care Sector Growth Plan in 12 months’ time. 
 

 
 
 
 

8



 
 

 

171. Better Care Fund Plan 2019/20.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which 
provided an overview of the progress to refresh and submit the Leicestershire Better 
Care Fund (BCF) Plan. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 10’ is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
In response to a query concerning how the Disabled Facilities Grant was allocated to 
district councils, the Director advised that the formula was set by national Government.   
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That it be noted that the updated BCF Expenditure Plan (Appendix A), which now 

incorporates Local Authority confirmed winter planning and DFG allocations, and 
that this is subject to further edits in order to commit remaining unallocated spend, 
once the final CCG allocations are announced; 
 

b) That it be noted that the requirement to submit the 2019/20 BCF planning template 
to NHS England, when published, a process which is expected to take place 
ahead of the next scheduled meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board; 
 

c) That it be noted that the submission of the 2019/20 BCF Plan would be 
undertaken in line with the following delegation agreed by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in March 2019; 
 
That the Chief Executive of Leicestershire County Council, following consultation 
with the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board, be authorised to make any 
amendments to the BCF plan 2019/20 in light of the national guidance, prior to its 
submission to NHS England; 
 

d) That it be noted that the Health and Wellbeing Board will be engaged in the 
following activities during 2019/20: 

 
i. Receiving a progress report on the delivery of integrated models of care 

and joint commissioning, along with a new place-based outcomes 
dashboard; 
 

ii. Receiving a briefing about the emerging policy position for the BCF for 2020 
and feedback from our local risk analysis; 

 
iii. Engaging in the full refresh of the Leicestershire BCF plan for 2020 

onwards. 
 

172. Leicestershire Social Prescribing Model Update.  
 
The Board considered a presentation of the Director of Public Health which provided an 
update on progress made in Leicestershire to develop the existing social prescribing and 
care coordination models. A copy of the presentation is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Director reported that since the Board last considered an update on the matter at its 
meeting in May, Public Health officers had attended various PCN engagement events to 
understand the future funding arrangements for social prescribing link workers employed 
by the networks. 

9



 
 

 

 
It was recognised that work to develop the existing social prescribing and care co-
ordination model could not be viewed in isolation, but instead as part of a wider 
consideration of how services were commissioned and their links to the new PCN 
arrangements.   
 
In reference to the services patients were directed to as part of the service model, it was 
important they were accessible, performing to a high standard and were well supported 
by partners. It was noted that the Unified Prevention Board would continue to explore the 
region’s social prescribing offer and would involve Healthwatch in order to gain further 
insight into patient’s needs/experiences.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That a further update on the Leicestershire Social Prescribing Model be considered at a 
future meeting of the Board.  
 

173. New Multi- Agency Children's Safeguarding Arrangements.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning the new multi-agency Children’s safeguarding arrangements which would 
replace the current Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
In response to questions from members, the Director confirmed that the performance of 
the new safeguarding practices would be measured using a set of Key Performance 
Indicators. It was expected that the new arrangements would lead to additional 
safeguarding collaboration between health providers, the Police and other partner 
agencies.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

174. County Lines and Child Criminal Exploitation.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the Child Criminal Exploitation within the County, including 
County Lines. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 13’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
In reference to the link between young people failing to attend school and engaging with 
criminality, the Director confirmed that whilst on occasions parents of children not 
attending school were taken to court, this would follow an extensive process to try and 
integrate the young person back into education. Work was undertaken with inclusion 
partners to ensure that the CSE hub was advised of new young people joining alternative 
provision to enable them to be supported.  
 
The Board welcomed the work of the Violence Reduction Units across the County which 
manage the local response to serious violence and enabled partners to work together to 
deter children and young people from being drawn into crime. 
 
 
 

10



 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
That a report detailing the work of the Violence Reduction Unit be considered at a future 
meeting of the Board.  
 

175. Actions Arising from the Agreed Outcomes of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Development Session Held on 30 November 2018.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Care and Integration which provided an 
update on the delivery of the actions agreed following the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Development session held in November 2018. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 
14’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
It was noted that a recent partner urgent care workshop exploring patient admissions to 
the University Hospital of Leicester identified an increase in the number of patients 
entering the system with mental health symptoms. It was acknowledged that in many 
cases accident and emergency was not the right place for patients suffering with such 
symptoms and the issue should be added to the action plan and further explored.   
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the action log and the progress made be noted 

 
b) That actions arising from the Urgent Care Workshop which relate to mental health 

accident and emergency attendance be added to the action log; 
 

c) That the proposed approach and strategy of the Leicestershire Mental Health Self-
Care Campaign be approved; 
 

d) That the Leicestershire Mental Health Self-Care Campaign become a workstream 
of the Unified Prevention Board; 
 

176. Healthwatch Leicestershire Annual Review.  
 
The Board considered a report of Healthwatch Leicestershire, which presented their 
Annual Review for 2018-19. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 15’ is filed with 
these minutes.  
 
In reference to the 25% of respondents to Healthwatch’s GP access survey who used an 
online booking service to secure an appointment, it was noted that whilst the service was 
viewed  by some as a more convenient way of securing an appointment, it did reduce a 
surgery’s ability to initially signpost patients to the most appropriate services.  
   
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Healthwatch Leicestershire Annual Review for 2018-19 be noted.  
 

177. Dates of Future Meetings.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That future meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on the following 
dates:- 

11



 
 

 

 
26 September 2019 
28 November 2019 
23 January 2020 
19 March 2020 
28 May 2020 
9 July 2020 
24 September 2020 
26 November 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

      2.00  - 4.10 pm CHAIRMAN 
11 July 2019 

 

12



Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No. Date Action Responsible 

Officer

Comments Status

349(d) 05/01/17 Submit a report on the Local Digital Roadmap to 

a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.

Vikesh Tailor A report is scheduled for a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

367(c) 16/03/17 Request the Unified Prevention Board  to take 

forward Leicestershire specific work actions from 

the LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action 

Plan and report back to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board when appropriate.

Mike Sandys Six monthly updates from the Unified Prevention 

Board are scheduled for the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.

GREEN

75(b) 24/05/18 That the Health and Wellbeing Board receives a 

report outlining the work undertaken in localities 

to support people with dementia.

Jane Toman A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

119 (a) 29/11/18 That the Director of Public Health be asked to 

meet  with officers from the UHL to give further 

consideration to the targeted offer for secondary 

prevention;

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

LLR STP Prevention Board. 

GREEN

119 © 29/11/18 That the Health and Wellbeing Board receive a 

report in 2019 on the development of locality 

profiles, specifically how these have supported 

Integrated Locality Teams to target interventions 

more effectively to the needs of local 

populations.

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

122 29/11/18 That the outcome of the review of joint funded 

packages be reported to a future meeting of the 

Board.

East Leics CCG A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

123 29/11/18 That the Health and Wellbeing Board consider a 

report at a future meeting which explores work 

being undertaken by Local Authorities and 

Leicestershire and Rutland Sport and other 

partners to encourage increased levels of 

physical activity.

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

1

13



Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No. Date Action Responsible 

Officer

Comments Status

140 14/03/19 That a report concerning the promotion of active 

design within new county housing developments 

be considered at a future meeting of the Health 

and Wellbeing Board.

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to the Baord at its meeting in 

September

GREEN

155a 30/05/19 That a report concerning locality profiles be 

considered by the Board once the Primary Care 

Networks (PCN) locality profiles have been 

developed; 

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

166 11/07/19 That a further update on the implementation of 

Primary Care Networks across Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland be considered at a 

future meeting of the Board. 

East Leics CCG A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

168b 11/07/19 That an Air Quality and Health multi-agency 

action plan based on the recommendations in 

the JSNA be produced and considered at a 

future meeting of the Board.

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

170c 11/07/19 That the Board consider a further update on the 

progress of the Health and Social Care Sector 

Growth Plan in 12 months time

Jon Willson A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

172 11/07/19 That a further update on the Leicestershire 

Social Prescribing Model be considered at a 

future meeting of the Board. 

Mike Sandys A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

174 11/07/19 That a report detailing the work of the Violence 

Reduction Unit be considered at a future 

meeting of the Board.

Jane 

Moore/Simon 

Down

A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

2

14



           

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF LEICESTERSHIRE & 
RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (LRSAB)  

 
SAFEGUARDING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to bring to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s attention 

the draft Annual Report 2018/19 of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Adult Board (LRSAB) for consultation and comment. 
 

 Link to the local Health and Care System 
 
2. Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.  Health and care needs can be linked to 

safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have 
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in 
other agencies. 

 
3. Connectivity between the LRSAB and the Better Care Together (BCT) Programme 

was established during 2014/15 when the Board was a consultee during the process 
of formulating the BCT Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-19.  At that stage it was agreed 
that safeguarding would be a cross-cutting theme across the BCT Programme and 
we secured agreement to ensuring that the BCT Programme would incorporate, 
promote, measure and evaluate safeguarding outcomes within its improvement 
plans. 

 
4. The Annual Report considers safeguarding effectiveness across partner agencies 

including those working in the health and care system.  The LRSAB Business Plan 
Priorities for 2018/19 incorporated areas within priority health workstreams, including 
emotional health and wellbeing and mental health. 

 
5. In 2018/19 the LRSAB has specifically considered safeguarding individuals with 

complex needs and behaviours, including those who are or have been part of the 
Transforming Care programme.  

 
Recommendation 
 
6. It is recommended that the Board notes and comments on the draft LRSAB Annual 

Report for 2018/19. 
 
 
 

15 Agenda Item 5



 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

7. The LRSAB is a partnership that is required by regulation as a result of the Care Act 
2014.  One requirement of the Care Act 2014 that the Annual Reports of the LRSAB 
be presented to the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 
8. The Business Plan of the LRSAB for the current year, 2019/20 was presented to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on 30 May 2019. 
 

9. The County Council’s Cabinet considered the Annual Report at its meeting on 13 
September 2019. 

 
Background 
 
Statutory Framework 
 
10. The LRSAB became a statutory body on 1st April 2015 as a result of the Care Act 

2014. The Act requires that it must lead adult safeguarding arrangements across its 
locality and oversee and coordinate the effectiveness of the safeguarding work of its 
member and partner agencies.  
 

11. Safeguarding Adult Boards have three core duties. They must: 
• Develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how they will meet their 

objectives and how their member and partner agencies will contribute; 
• Publish an annual report detailing how effective their work has been 
• Commission safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet 

the criteria for these. 
 

12. It is the second of these duties to which the appended Annual report relates. 
 

Annual Report 
 
13. The Annual Report provides a full assessment of performance on the local approach 

to safeguarding adults in line with the requirements of the Care Act 2014.  
 

14. The key purpose of the Annual Report is to assess the impact of the work undertaken 
in 2018/19 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for adults with care and 
support needs in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically it evaluates performance 
against the priorities that were set out in the LRSAB Business Plan 2018/19. 

 
15. The Annual Report 2018/19 can be found in full at Appendix A to this report, and 

includes: 
(i) A foreword from the Independent Chair; 

(ii) A summary of the work and findings of the Board during the year; 

(iii) An overview of the Board’s governance and accountability arrangements and 

local context; 

(iv) Two separate outlines of safeguarding adults performance, activity and 

outcomes for Leicestershire and Rutland;   

(v) Analysis of performance against the key priorities in the 2018/19 Business 
Plan; 

16



 

(vi) An overview of the Board’s work on engagement, assurance, learning and 
development and training; 

(vii) The challenges ahead including the Business Development Plan Priorities for 
2019/20. 

 
Key Messages 

 
16. The key messages from the LRSAB, specifically in relation to Leicestershire are: 

a. Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard adults in 

Leicestershire. 

b. A variety of multi-agency approaches exist that may work with vulnerable 

adults, but that don’t always interact to get the full picture. 

c. ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) is influencing practice across agencies 

and more people in Leicestershire have more say in the enquiries about their 

safeguarding. 

d. Further work is required to understand how well vulnerable adults with 

particularly complex and challenging needs are safeguarded 

e. Good and consistent understanding of, and responses to, Mental Capacity 

remains a development need across the workforce. 

f. The Board will continue to work together to foster a reliable, trusting culture in 

organisations and across our area and challenge and drive improvement in 

multi-agency safeguarding of adults.  

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 
17. The Annual Report includes a summary of the consultation and engagement work 

which the SAB has carried out with the public, adults with care and support needs 
and with practitioners. 

 
18. This report to the Board is part of the consultation on the Annual Report. 

 
19. All members of the Boards have had opportunities to contribute to and comment on 

earlier drafts of the Annual Report.   
 
Resource Implications 

 
20. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendation in this report.  

The LRSAB operates with a budget of £102,152 to which partner agencies 
contribute. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
21. The final Annual Report will be published in October 2019.  

 
Background papers 
 
None 
 
 
 

17



 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Fran Pearson, Independent Chair of the LRSAB 
Telephone: 0116 305 7130 
Email: SBBO@leics.gov.uk  
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
22. The LRSAB seek to ensure that a fair, effective and equitable service is discharged 

by the partnership to safeguard vulnerable adults. At the heart of their work is a focus 
on any individual or group that may be at greater risk of safeguarding vulnerability 
and the performance framework tests whether specific groups are at higher levels of 
risk. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
23. The SAB works closely with community safety partnerships in Leicestershire to 

scrutinise and challenge performance in community safety issues that affect the 
safeguarding and wellbeing of individuals and groups, for example domestic abuse 
and Prevent.  The SAB also supports community safety partnerships in carrying out 
Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their recommendations.  

 
Environmental Implications 
 
24. The published LRSAB Annual Report will primarily be made available on-line in 

electronic form, rather than paper. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
25. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in 

national regulation relating to the Care Act 2014. 
 

18



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  1 

 

 

 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 

(LRSAB) 

Annual Report  

2018/19 
 

 

 

 

 

Document Status  

First draft completed:  12/07/2019 

Approved by Board:   

Published:    

Report Author: Safeguarding Boards Business Office, 
 Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and SAB  
    
Independent Chair:  Fran Pearson 

 

19



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  2 

 

Foreword 

 

I feel privileged to have been appointed as the new 
independent chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board whose 
work is presented in this report. Although this report looks 
forward to the year we are currently in, it is in part about the 
impact of the Board during the year April 2018 to March 
2019. I was not in post at that point, so it is my chance here 
to thank Robert Lake for his work as independent chair 
during that year.  

 
Being curious, and asking for assurance that safeguarding work is genuinely 
effective, is at the heart of what we can all expect from Board members. During the 
year, organisations in Rutland and Leicestershire all stepped up and made their 
contribution to keeping adults, who are at risk of neglect and abuse, safe. This report 
gives more information not only on how they did that, but as importantly, how that 
was tested out by the Board. 
 
A small survey of adults with care and support needs was carried out at the end of 
the year. There is more information on this in the report, but the overriding message 
was: what helps people in Rutland and Leicestershire feel safe is having someone 
around who they can talk to, and trust and rely on if they need help or support. It is 
our responsibility as a board to work together to foster that sort of reliable, trusting 
culture not just in organisations but across society as a whole. I look forward to 
working with you all to build on the Board’s consistent work in this area during the 
past year.  
 

Fran Pearson 

Independent Chair of the Board. 

 

 

20



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  3 

 

Contents 
 
Foreword 2 
Summary 4 
Board Background 5 
Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire 7 
Safeguarding Adults in Rutland 9 
Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire and Rutland 11 
Business Plan 2017/18 Achievements 12 
Operation of the Board  

 Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 13 

 Challenge and Assurance 14 

 Learning and Improvement 17 

 Co-ordination and Procedures 19 

 Training and Development 19 
Income and Expenditure 2018/19 21 

Business Plan Priorities 2019/20 22 

21



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  4 

 

Summary 

During 2018-19 the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board worked in 
line with the priorities in its business plan in order to improve safeguarding of adults 
with care and support needs in Leicestershire & Rutland. The Board: 

- Tried a new approach to prevention of safeguarding need through links with 
community safety Joint Action Groups in Rutland 

- Wrote guidance to support staff in assessing people’s mental capacity in 
safeguarding work, based upon feedback from staff across agencies 

- Updated thresholds for adult safeguarding and reviewed and updated multi-
agency safeguarding  

- Surveyed adults with care and support needs regarding their safety and 
ensured the experiences of adults are a key feature of our Board meetings. 

  
The Board also worked on six Safeguarding Adults Reviews, which found learning 
relating to: Mental Capacity Act; Multi-agency processes; Domestic Abuse; 
Substance Misuse and; Clarity of plans.  Work on these areas is underway and 
some will continue in future priorities of the Board. 
 
From the Board’s audits of practice, assurance reports and monitoring of 
performance information across agencies the Board has: 

- Identified that agencies continue to improve in Making Safeguarding Personal 
(MSP). 

- Identified that agencies are developing their own processes as well as 
working with partners to improve adult safeguarding. 

- Found that further work is needed to make sure adult safeguarding and 
mental capacity are considered in some agencies commissioning and contract 
management. 

- Started to look into concerns regarding safeguarding of adults with complex 
and challenging needs. 

- Revised processes to make sure immediate risks in safeguarding cases are 
considered within 24 hours.  

- Reviewed and improved the Vulnerable Adult Risk Management (VARM) 
process to support more agencies to be involved in and clearer actions be 
carried out in work to support those at risk of self-neglect.  

 
The Board has shared its learning and developments regarding adult safeguarding 
through its newsletter, through its network of local agencies’ training staff and 
through one-off training events, including a joint conference with the Leicester SAB 
and Local Safeguarding Children Boards. 
 
All of the Board’s work has influenced the Board’s priorities for 2019-20 which are: 

- More effective multi-agency meetings regarding vulnerable adults. 
- Ensure Mental capacity is considered appropriately in safeguarding adults. 
- Better recognise and respond as a partnership to criminal exploitation of 

adults. 
- Find out how well work with vulnerable young people in transition to adulthood 

assists prevention of adult safeguarding need. 

22



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  5 

 

Board Background 
 
Safeguarding Adults Board Arrangements 

The Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) serves the 
counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  The SAB leads adult safeguarding 
arrangements and oversees and coordinates the effectiveness of the safeguarding 
work of its member and partner agencies 
 
The Annual Report presented here sets out how effective the Board has been in 
delivering its objectives set out in its Business Development Plan.  The report also 
includes an outline of the Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) and other reviews 
carried out by the LRSAB, the learning gained from these reviews and the actions 
put in place to secure improvement. 
 
The LRSAB normally meets four times a year. The Board is supported by an 
integrated Safeguarding Adults and Children Executive Group that also serves the 
Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Board and supports joined up 
approaches across Children and Adult Safeguarding in the area. 
 
In 2018 the LRSAB appointed a joint Chair with the Leicester Safeguarding Adults 
Board (LSAB) and shares some subgroups with the LSAB working jointly across the 
two areas.  Further join up was considered, but paused to take account of the impact 
of work to set the new Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements for safeguarding 
children.   
 
The SAB is funded through contributions from its partner agencies.  In addition to 
financial contributions, in-kind contributions from partner agencies are essential in 
allowing the Board to operate effectively.  In-kind contributions include partner 
agencies chairing and participating in the work of the Board and its subgroups and 
Leicestershire County Council hosting the Safeguarding Boards’ Business Office. 
The income and expenditure of the Board is set out on Page 21 of this report.  
 

Independent Chair 

The LRSAB is led by an Independent Chair.  During 2018/19 Robert Lake worked as 
the Independent Chair for the Safeguarding Adults Boards in Leicestershire & 
Rutland and in Leicester City, but stepped down during the year due to health 
reasons.  Fran Pearson has been appointed as the new joint Independent Chair for 
the two Boards from June 2019. 
 
The Independent Chair provides independent scrutiny and challenge of agencies, 
and better enables each organisation to be held to account for its safeguarding 
performance. 
 
The structure of the LRSAB and membership of the Board can be found on the 
Board’s website www.lrsb.org.uk. 
 
 
SAB Business Development Plan Priorities 2018/19 
Priorities set by the LRSAB for development and assurance in 2018/19 were to: 

23

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  6 

 

 Prevent safeguarding need through building resilience and self-awareness in 
adults with care and support needs. 

 Improve the understanding of capacity to consent and the application of the 
Mental Capacity Act across agencies 

 Promote a better and more consistent understanding and use of adult 
safeguarding thresholds 

 Ensure the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board is informed by adults with 
care and support needs  

24



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  7 

 

Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire 

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the Leicestershire and Rutland SAB 
assesses that organisations are working well together in Leicestershire to safeguard 
adults with care and support needs. 
 
Adult Safeguarding snapshot for Leicestershire: 
 

 551,802 adults live in Leicestershire1.   

 4,810 safeguarding alerts (calls) to Adult Social Care 

 25% of alerts became safeguarding (s42) enquiries 

 49% of enquiries were substantiated, at least in part. 

 Financial abuse, Neglect and Omission and Physical Abuse remained the 
three most common categories of abuse. 

 756 alerts from the public. 

 78% of people were asked about what they wanted to happen from the 

safeguarding enquiry. 

 In 94% of cases the persons desired outcomes were met, at least in part 

 99% of people felt listened to in conversations and meetings with people 

about helping them feel safe  

 5% of enquiries were ceased at the request of the individual 

 4,307 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

 851 cases on the waiting list for DoLS  

 911 Paid Persons Representatives allocated to DoLS. 

 

The number of calls to Adult Social Care from professionals regarding a 
safeguarding concern was greater than last year. The number of calls from the public 
regarding a safeguarding concern stayed at a similar level to last year.   
 
For the second year running fewer of these concerns met the threshold for a 
safeguarding enquiry to be undertaken than in the previous year, however more of 
the enquiries that were carried out found that abuse probably took place (were 
substantiated, at least in part) than the previous year.  The application of thresholds 
for safeguarding enquiries was assessed by Leicestershire County Council and 
found to be consistent. 
 
Making Safeguarding Personal continues to be further embedded in safeguarding 
practice with a greater proportion of people being asked about what they wanted to 
happen from the enquiry regarding their welfare.  A slightly lower proportion of these 

                                                           
1
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2017 

25



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  8 

 

people’s desired outcomes were met this year than last year, though this was 94% of 
people.  Fewer enquiries were ceased at the individuals request than last year. 
 
The new safeguarding structure within Leicestershire County Council with the 
Safeguarding Adult Team working at the front end of the process has been analysed. 
The analysis so far has shown that people who may be at risk are being seen 
quickly; immediate risk is being managed; and the person is more quickly being 
referred to the appropriate service for either ongoing safeguarding enquiry or for 
other support where required and the safeguarding thresholds are not met.  This 
approach may also be supporting the improvement in Making Safeguarding Personal 
indicators. 
 
Leicestershire County Council and health providers have continued to review referral 
numbers and thresholds decisions regarding some safeguarding enquiries in health 
settings.  This is part of under the agreed oversight process for these enquiries, and 
the agencies have also kept the oversight approach in general under review. 
 
There was a decrease in the number of referrals for Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS).  The increase in service capacity for assessments has meant 
more DoLS have been authorised, which has led to a reduction in the waiting list for 
DoLS in Leicestershire. 
 
More people for whom there has been an application for DoLS were allocated a Paid 
Persons Representative to advocate on their behalf in the assessment process than 
in previous years.  Because of the increase in DoLS authorised this year this 
remained at 44% of all DoLS. 
 
Leicestershire County Council have placed two Adult Social Care posts in the 
Trading Standards team to embed positive joint work with Trading Standards around 
prevention of financial fraud and scams. 

26



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  9 

 

Safeguarding Adults in Rutland 

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the Leicestershire and Rutland SAB 
assesses that organisations are working well together in Rutland to safeguard adults 
with care and support needs. 
 
Adult Safeguarding snapshot for Rutland: 

 31,709 adults live in Rutland.2  

 421 safeguarding alerts (calls) to Adult Social Care 

 14% of alerts became safeguarding (Section 42) enquiries 

 35% of enquiries were substantiated, at least in part. 

 ‘Neglect and Omission’ is the most prevalent type of abuse, responsible for 
more than 50% of cases. 

 26 alerts from the public. 

95% of people were asked about what they wanted to happen from the 

safeguarding enquiry. 

 In 94% of cases the persons desired outcomes were met, at least in part.  

 15% of enquiries were ceased at the request of the individual 

 238 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

      15 cases on the waiting list for DoLS  

 89 Paid Persons Representatives allocated to DoLS. 

 

Following reductions in the last two years the number of calls to Rutland Adult Social 
Care from professionals regarding safeguarding concerns almost doubled compared 
to the previous year. The number of calls regarding safeguarding concerns from the 
public reduced by a third. 
 
A smaller proportion of the concerns raised met the threshold for a safeguarding 
enquiry to be undertaken than in the previous year and fewer of the enquiries that 
were carried out found that abuse probably took place (were substantiated, at least 
in part) compared with last year. 
 
Making Safeguarding Personal remains well embedded in safeguarding practice with 
a high proportion of people being asked about what they wanted to happen from the 
enquiry regarding their welfare.  A similar proportion of these people’s desired 
outcomes were met this year as last year.   
 
There was a continued increase in referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) and an increase in the waiting list for DoLS in Rutland.   

                                                           
2
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2017 

27



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  10 

 

More people for whom there has been an application for Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) were allocated a Paid Persons Representative to advocate on 
their behalf in the assessment process than in previous years.  This was 53% of all 
DoLS, compared with 43% last year. 
 
Following the change in numbers of alerts Rutland County Council trialled increased 
oversight of contacts in the form of managerial oversight in the screening of contacts, 
open Section 42 investigations and closures across adult social care.  Through 
fortnightly meetings progress on all Section 42 enquiries and actions is monitored 
and followed up to avoid drift.  
 
Rutland County Council’s Rapid Response Assistant Care Manager and Senior 
Practitioner roles continue to respond quickly to concerns and go on to provide time 
limited, person centre outcomes for those adults who are deemed at risk of self-
neglect and/or abuse.  This service is non-means-tested to encourage those at risk 
of self-neglect to engage with support. 
 
The Council has continued to develop its recording systems to support analysis of 
trends and themes and collate personalisation data. 
 
Rutland County Council supports ongoing improvement and development of all 
practitioners within the Adult Social Care service in Rutland, including integrated 
Health colleagues through bi-monthly Safeguarding Continuous Professional 
Development (CPD) sessions. These sessions are consistently well attended and 
provide updates on SAB multi-agency audits, relevant case law, and practice 
updates. Workers are encouraged to present case studies for peer review and peer 
shared learning. 
 
The service have developed a new forum for CPD in the form of ‘Book Clubs’ which 
each team holds monthly. This protected time allows practitioners to discuss 
research, articles, case studies and legal updates and develop their knowledge and 
practice. 
 
 
 
  

28



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  11 

 

Safeguarding Adults across Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
Our partners provide assurance regarding safeguarding practice and development 
throughout the year to our Safeguarding Effectiveness Group, key points and 
developments are included in relevant sections of this report. 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have been working with GPs to support 
improved adult safeguarding practice of GPs.   The CCG Safeguarding team has 
developed the Children’s Safeguarding Quality Markers GP self-assessment tool to 
reflect adult safeguarding, supporting GPs to ensure they have robust adult 
safeguarding arrangements in place.   In addition, the team has developed a 
safeguarding adults template for the GP electronic records system which supports 
GPs in documenting information relating adults at risk and safeguarding concerns.  
This also acts as an aide memoire to ensure risks are managed and Making 
Safeguarding Personal principles are employed to ensure a high quality of 
safeguarding referrals which have the service user at the centre. 
 
Looking forward the CCG will lead work on developing an integrated heath 
safeguarding meeting, improving community health services involvement in 
safeguarding enquires and improving safeguarding training opportunities for CCG 
staff and GPs. 
 
The Police are leading a project to develop an Adult Safeguarding Hub to support 
effective partnership working. the project team has begun to meet with partner 
agencies to shape a joint vision for the project.  
 
A dedicated Adult Social Care MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) 
post has been established across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The 
MARAC process specifically supports high-risk victims of domestic abuse and this 
post will ensure Adult Social Care Services engage effectively with the MARAC and 
support effective joint working around domestic abuse and adult safeguarding. 
 
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust have seen a 40% increase in internal 
safeguarding adult contacts.  This suggests a greater awareness of staff to 
recognise and respond to potential safeguarding concerns.   
 
The Trust has broadened the remit of the agencies safeguarding committee structure 
to have oversight of people with learning disability and dementia with a commitment 
to continually improve services.  It has also revised the Trust website to help 
members of the public access up to date information about the Trust’s safeguarding 
services. 

29



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  12 

 

Business Development Plan Priorities 

Progress on the Board’s priorities is outlined below. 

 

SAB Priority 1 – Prevent safeguarding need through building resilience and 

self-awareness in adults with care and support needs. 

Our plan said we would assess the development of the Joint Action Group (JAG) as a forum 
for prevention and develop further community awareness raising regarding safeguarding 
adults. We also planned to gain assurance that the needs of young people requiring 
additional support into adulthood are reviewed and supported in a timely and preventative 
way through that transition. 
 
The development of the pilot approach to effective multiagency prevention work in local 
areas through an existing multi-agency group, Rutland Joint Action Group developed 
stronger links across partners which supported improved screening and triaging of cases 
inside and outside of the JAG to ensure people got the most appropriate multi-agency 
response.  This will continue to be developed and will feed into our forward priority on 
effective multi-agency meetings. 
 
We commenced scoping of transitions from child services to adult services and the potential 
for this to prevent future adult safeguarding need. This will be continued under the priority for 
2019/20 shared with Leicester SAB. 
 
 
SAB Priority 2 – Improve the understanding of capacity to consent and the 
application of the Mental Capacity Act across agencies 
 
Our plan said we would look to understand specific reasons why staff struggle to confidently 
implement the principles of the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and will develop partnership 
approaches to demystifying mental capacity and support effective assessments in future. 
 
We assessed staff confidence regarding MCA through a survey across partner agencies 
capturing views of 145 staff and managers.  From this we developed draft guidance for 
decision making in safeguarding enquiries for all agencies, taking into account the views 
expressed by frontline staff.  We plan to finalise the guidance and launch it in 2019. 

 
 
SAB Priority 3 – Promote a better and more consistent understanding and use 
of adult safeguarding thresholds 
 
Our plan said we would review and revise our Safeguarding Adults Thresholds document 
and communicate this well across partners. 
 
We revised the thresholds and launched them at a multi-agency SAB conference in 
November 2018.  We produced a briefing pack to be used in team meetings across partner 
agencies to raise awareness and support understanding. 
 
Our thresholds guidance document has been used as the basis for the agreed East 
Midlands regional approach and has been adopted by other areas. 

 
We will test application of the new thresholds through our multi-agency audits. 

 

30



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  13 

 

SAB Priority 4 – Ensure the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board is informed 
by adults with care and support needs 
 
Our plan said we would work with advocacy agencies and existing engagement and 
participation groups in partner agencies to set up the Board approach for engagement and 
participation in the priorities and work of the Board.   
 
We also planned to review Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) approaches locally through 
available data and information from each partner as to their work to embed MSP. 
 
We have presented an individual adult safeguarding case study at each Board meeting to 
focus the Board on the experience of vulnerable adults we are working to safeguard.  
 
We carried out a survey of vulnerable adults to identify what affected their safety and 
feelings of safety and made contact with advocacy agencies.  A representative from an 
advocacy agency attended our January 2019 Board meeting as an observer. 
 
We reviewed data available regarding MSP from across agencies, identifying that not all 
agencies collect data, but are able to demonstrate a variety of approaches in place to 
support the application of MSP in their specific settings. 
 

 
 
Operation of the Board 
 

Partner and Public Engagement and Participation  

Partner Engagement and Attendance 

The Board met three times during 2018/19 as it met in April 2019 rather than March 
2019.  The membership of the Board can be found on the Board’s website 
www.lrsb.org.uk.  Almost all partners attended all or the majority of Board meetings 
during the year and sent apologies for those they missed.  
 
Engagement with the Criminal Justice Sector improved this year, the Community 
Rehabilitation Company attended two meetings and sent apologies to the other, 
however there was no attendance from the National Probation Service to any SAB 
Board meetings during the year. 
 
The Prison Service are now more involved in the Board with a representative from a 
local prison.  Operational matters have prevented them from attending the Board 
regularly, but they have been involved in the Board’s priority setting. The Board will 
develop engagement following consideration of the recommendations from the 
Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) survey of SAB and prison 
engagement. 
 
There was no attendance from care or voluntary sector representatives this year. 
 
All agencies consistently engage well in the subgroups of the Board.  The Police, 
CCG and Local Authorities all provide Chairs for these groups. 
 

31

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  14 

 

The new Independent Chair of the Board will engage with agencies to ensure 
appropriate attendance to support the Board to be effective. 
 
 
Public Engagement & Participation 

The Board contacted partners to identify opportunities to link in with existing 
engagement work.   
 
A small survey of adults with care and support needs was carried out at the end of 
the year through SAB partners.  The survey focussed on what supported people to 
feel safe in order to influence the work of the SAB. Responses were received from 
33 adults. 
 
The major factor for supporting people to feel safe was having people around they 
could talk to and trust and rely on if they need help or support. 
 
Things in the community were the main areas that made people feel unsafe – 
including unknown/loud/drunk people or groups of young people, but also 
environmental factors relating to mobility, such as inconsiderate road and pavement 
users and pavement works and street lighting. 
 
This highlights the importance of considering and addressing isolation, but also how 
all agencies consider the needs of the most vulnerable people in providing their 
services.  
 
Engagement will continue to be developed in the normal business of the Board. 
 

Assurance – Challenges and Quality Assurance 

Challenge Log 

The Board keeps a challenge log to monitor challenges raised by the Board and the 
outcomes of the challenges. During the year the Board raised a challenge with 
safeguarding partners regarding Transforming Care and safeguarding. 
 
Transforming Care is a national programme that started in 2015, to try and make 
sure people with learning disabilities and other particularly complex and challenging 
needs, are treated as near to their own home as possible and not in remote 
specialist settings. 
 
A report on Transforming Care identified that the project was behind target for 
individuals transferring into the community. The Board wrote to the Transforming 
Care Plan Board to seek assurance that individuals under Transforming Care 
approaches are safe now and future arrangements are in place to maintain safety. 
 
Following this challenge assurance reporting regarding people considered under 
Transforming Care approaches was set up during 2019 along with greater 
understanding of the governance arrangements for this group of adults. 
 
 

32



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  15 

 

Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework 

The Board operates a four quadrant Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework as outlined overleaf.  This is overseen by the Boards’ 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) shared with the LSCB.  The outcomes of 
and findings from this performance framework are incorporated in the relevant 
sections within the report. 
   

 
 
 

Audits 

During 2018-19 the SAB, along with Leicester SAB carried out a Safeguarding 
Adults Audit Framework (SAAF) audit that tests agencies compliance against their 
safeguarding duties within Care Act 2014 through an organisational assessment 
against safeguarding standards.  The SAB had considered alternative approaches 
but identified this approach as providing the assurance required. 
 
The following agencies that work in Leicestershire or Rutland provided a SAAF audit 
return to the SAB: 

 Leicestershire County Council Adults and Communities Service 

 Rutland County Council People Directorate 

 Leicestershire Police (Including Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner) 

 Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 

 Leicestershire & Rutland Fire and Rescue Service 

 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust 

 West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (as one response) 

 Leicestershire & Rutland Public Health 

 All seven District Councils in Leicestershire (as one response) 
Audit returns from all of these agencies identify that they are ‘effective’ or ‘excelling’ 
across all or the majority of the compliance questions that are relevant to them, 
however more areas were identified as working toward effectiveness than last year, 
mainly due to the new or revised questions. 
 
The agencies and areas of work where further improvement was required were as 
follows: 

33



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  16 

 

 The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner are working towards 
effectiveness with regard to Safeguarding Adult leads advising and supporting 
commissioning and evidencing their commissioned providers have embedded 
the Mental Capacity Act in safeguarding. 

 Leicestershire & Rutland Fire and Rescue Service are working towards 
effectiveness with regard to a link to prevent in Safeguarding adults policy and 
systems for collating carers/service users views and concerns 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups are working towards effectiveness with regard 
to incorporating Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) in safeguarding 
strategy planning and delivery, involvement of service users in strategy 
discussions, dissemination of SAB ‘Trilogy of Risk’ materials, processes to 
ensure immediate action to implement protective measures for safeguarding 
and evidencing their commissioned providers have embedded the Mental 
Capacity Act in safeguarding. 

 Leicester Partnerships NHS Trust (LPT) and District and Borough Councils 
are working towards effectiveness regarding dissemination of SAB ‘Trilogy of 
Risk’ materials. 

 Leicestershire & Rutland Public Health are working towards effectiveness with 
regard to embedding safeguarding adults in contracting and procurement, 
including assurance that providers have robust safeguarding adults standards 
and processes and Safeguarding Adult leads advising and supporting 
commissioning. 

 
The agencies and areas of work areas that were excelling were as follows: 

 Leicestershire County Council are excelling in leadership of safeguarding 
adults, reporting on safeguarding adults in commissioning assurance and 
accountability and process for effectively contributing to reviews.  

 
The SAB process for SAAF compliance assurance will be reviewed in 2019/20 to 
consider a direct challenge element. 
 
In addition to its SAAF process the Board continued its multi-agency case file audit 
approach.  During the year two safeguarding multi-agency case file audits were 
planned focussing on the following priorities: 

 Strategy Meetings 

 Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) approach 
 
The audit process involves individual agencies auditing a sample of their own case 
files using a common tool and bringing audits and learning to a multi-agency meeting 
to be reviewed across partners.  The cases are selected at random by the individual 
agencies, or by the local authority for provider agencies to prevent any potential bias. 
 
The VARM audit was carried out in two parts, the first focussing on identifying cases 
and the second considering progress and outcomes. 
 
The key findings of the strategy meeting audit were that: 

 In the majority of cases, single agency strategy discussions rather than multi-
agency meetings were held, and therefore opportunities for multi-agency input 
were potentially being lost.  This was partially due to the need to assess and 
address immediate risk within 24 hours. 

34



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  17 

 

 Immediate risk was being clearly assessed by most, but not all agencies in all 
cases.   

 There were no cases where the person involved, or their advocates were 
directly involved in strategy discussions or meetings, in one case the person 
had been invited to the meeting. In one third of cases there was evidence of 
discussion by the lead agency with the person or their advocate within the 
early stages of the enquiry. 

 
Following this audit, processes were altered to ensure immediate risks were 
considered within 24 hours and all agencies were invited to a strategy meeting within 
five days.  This has resulted in key agencies such as the police being invited to and 
involved in more strategy meetings supporting better multi-agency safeguarding.    
 
Agencies were asked to follow up with their own assurance and reported back to the 
Board by the end of the year that processes have been changed and internal 
assurance was showing that immediate risks were now being considered in all 
cases.  There are a number of factors that mean that involvement of individuals in 
strategy meetings is not appropriate or difficult, however the Board were concerned 
this did not become a default position and therefore followed this up in the SAAF. 
 
The VARM audit found that in most cases criteria were applied appropriately, correct 
agencies were invited to the initial VARM meeting, initial action plans were 
appropriate, and individuals were aware of the VARM.  The follow up found that in 
most cases risks were reducing and VARM cases were being closed, and 
practitioners and managers found the VARM approach useful. 
 
For a notable proportion of cases (30-50%) not all the necessary agencies engaged 
in the process from the outset, individuals had not been effectively engaged in the 
process, and actions were not as specific as they could be as the process 
developed. 
 
The audit process identified and recommended a number of improvements from 
specific findings be addressed in the review of the VARM process, which has now 
taken place.  
 
The audit also identified improvements could be made with regard to assessing 
Mental Capacity – this has been fed into the work on the Mental Capacity Guidance 
under this Board’s priorities. 
 
Agencies have taken away these learning points to embed this within their practice.   
Audits regarding the application of the Mental Capacity Act and Thresholds and 
regarding Financial Abuse are planned for 2019/20. 
 
Learning and Improvement 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews and other Learning Reviews 

The Board carries out Safeguarding Adult Reviews regarding vulnerable adults who 
have died or been seriously harmed. These reviews consider how agencies worked 
together and identify how we can improve working together to safeguard vulnerable 
adults in future. 

35



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  18 

 

 
The Board commenced three Safeguarding Adults Reviews and one alternative 
safeguarding adults review during the year.  Two of these had been referred to the 
Board in the previous year, but had been awaiting the outcome of other processes 
before commencing. 
 
The Board worked on two other reviews that had commenced in the previous year 
and completed one of these reviews. The other review related to a particularly 
complex case and is nearing completion.  
 
The harm factors identified in cases reviewed during the year were: 

- Mental ill health 
- Suicide 
- Substance misuse 
- Neglect 
- Lack of Mental Capacity 
- Domestic abuse, present with mental ill health and substance misuse. 

 
The learning emerging from cases reviewed during the year included: 
 
Theme 1 – Understanding Mental Capacity: In cases reviewed evidence of 
application of the Mental Capacity Act was not always available.  Staff should have 
knowledge of the Mental Capacity Act relevant to their role; however, in practice, 
staff are supporting decision making all the time, so need to assume capacity unless 
there are indicators to the contrary for that individual.  Staff should be clear who is 
assessing capacity and what the impact of lack of capacity is on daily living and 
should make good records of decision making. 
 
Theme 2 – Join up across different multi-agency processes.  In complex cases 
many different multi-agency processes may be underway regarding the case, such 
as community safety, domestic abuse, care plan approach, child safeguarding and 
adult safeguarding. Improve operation of multi-agency meetings and assessment 
processes to support understanding of the full picture of needs and risks for an 
individual and support join up of activity. 
 
Theme 3 – Understanding Domestic Abuse: Staff to be reminded that in 
assessing Domestic Abuse situations they have a good understanding of aspects 
and impact of domestic abuse and consider specific vulnerabilities and relationship 
dynamics for individuals. 
 
Theme 4 – The impact of Alcohol misuse: Supporting people who misuse drugs 
and alcohol can be challenging, complex and unpredictable. Staff should additionally 
consider resources and expert advice available and how they may be accessed, 
including information for children of parents who misuse alcohol. 
 
Theme 5 – Clear plans: The need for clear ‘end of life’ care plans, understood by all 
concerned, including methods of hydration.  
 
 
 

36



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  19 

 

Domestic Homicide Reviews 
The LSCB and SAB manage the process for carrying out Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs) on behalf of and commissioned by the Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland.   While learning and actions are 
managed by the Community Safety Partnerships., this arrangement allows a clearer 
collaborative picture of things that affect safeguarding.  Three DHRs were underway 
at the end of the year. 
 
Development Work and Disseminating Learning 
The SAB produces a quarterly newsletter in conjunction with the Safeguarding 
Children Board, called Safeguarding Matters.  This is used to disseminate key 
messages including from reviews and audits across the partnership and to front-line 
practitioners.  Findings from reviews are reflected in the themes of Safeguarding 
Adults training events. 
 
Learning has also been shared through the Board’s Trainers Network and single 
agency internal and single agency internal processes. 
 

Co-ordination of and Procedures for Safeguarding Adults  

 
In addition to work on Safeguarding Adults Thresholds outlined under the Board’s 
priorities.  The Board has carried out an extensive review and update of its multi-
agency procedures for safeguarding adults.   This involved partners and 
incorporated views of practitioners and resulted in a refreshed streamlined online 
manual to support individuals to refer to and use the procedures more effectively. 
 
Alongside this, guidance on the Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) tool 
has been revised from the findings of the VARM audit and procedures around 
County Lines (drug-related exploitation) relating to vulnerable adults has been 
developed. 
 
Future work planned includes: 

 A framework for multi-agency meetings 

 Procedures around adult criminal exploitation 
 
 
Training and Development 
 
The Competency Framework for safeguarding adults in Leicester, Leicestershire & 
Rutland sets out minimum competencies and standards across the adults workforce 
and gives advice as to how practitioners can meet these requirements through 
learning, development and training.   This supports practitioners, managers and 
organisations to ensure a good level of competence across the partnership 
workforce with regard to safeguarding adults.  
 
The SAB commenced a review of the competency framework at the end of the year, 
the revised framework will be launched in the Autumn of 2019. 
 

37



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  20 

 

The Board provides some multi-agency training, but due to limited resources much 
of the multi-agency safeguarding adults training is provided through individual 
agencies training programs, such as Leicestershire County Council. 
 
The Board linked with the Leicester and Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Boards to deliver a Safeguarding Conference incorporating the following 
cross-cutting themes: 

- Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
- The importance of participation and the voice of the child 
- Coercive Control 
- Mental Capacity Act 2005 

This was a successful event with 103 participants across the partnership agencies 
from adult’s and children’s services, and across LLR. The evaluations showed that 
staff from all areas had found the information given was interesting and relevant. 
 
The SAB, through its Safeguarding Effectiveness Group regularly requests 
information from its partners regarding the effectiveness of their safeguarding 
training programmes.  Partners have provided assurance that they are providing up 
to date training to staff to improve safeguarding awareness and address specific 
areas of need. Specific areas covered by agencies include Prevent in University 
Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) and Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT). 
Leicestershire Fire & Rescue Service (LFRS) have completely redesigned their 
training and completed roll-out the new safeguarding training package to all public-
facing staff. 
 
The Board supports a Safeguarding Adults Trainers Network across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland, which met four times during the year with regular 
attendance of forty staff from the Independent, Statutory and Voluntary Sector who 
have a responsibility for developing and delivering learning and development 
opportunities. 
 
The Network continues to give participants the opportunity to discuss and develop 
their organisations approach in light of national and local developments in practice 
and procedures and learning from reviews (national and local).  The Network also 
supports dissemination of information and awareness raising materials such as 
Safeguarding Matters, Leaflets and training events. 
 
Feedback from the group has been sought on the review of the Competency 
Framework and development of guidance regarding the Mental Capacity Act.  
 
 

38



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  21 

 

Leicestershire & Rutland SAB and LSCB Finance 2018-19 
 

 

 
 

£

SAB Contributions

Leicestershire County Council 52,798               

Rutland County Council 8,240                 

Leicestershire Police 7,970                 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and 

East Leicestershire & Rutland)

15,930               

University Hospitals of Leicestershire NHS Trust 7,970                 

Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 7,970                 

Total SAB Income 100,878             

LSCB Contributions

Leicestershire County Council 83,061               

Rutland County Council 52,250               

Leicestershire Police 43,940               

Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and 

East Leicestershire & Rutland)

55,760               

Cafcass 550                     

National Probation Service 1,348                 

Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and Rutland 

Commmunity Rehabilitation Company (Reducing Re-

offending Partnership)

3,000                 

Total LSCB Income 239,909             

Total Income (LSCB & SAB) 340,787             

£

SAB and LSCB Operating Expenditure

Staffing 210,469             

Independent Chairing 25,867               

Support Services 30,500               

Operating Costs 12,935               

Case Reviews (SAB) 15,505               

Case Reviews (LSCB) 13,461               

Young Peoples Advisory Group (LSCB) 1,736                 

Training Co-ordination and Provision (LSCB) 39,600               

Total SAB & LSCB Operating Expenditure 350,073             

Deficit £9,286

LSCB & SAB Reserve account at end of year £41,760

39



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2018-19 – v0.4  22 

 

Business Plan Priorities 2019-20 
 

Review and analysis of learning, performance information and emerging issues have 
led the Board to identify the following priorities for 2019-20: 
 

Development Priority Summary 

1. Effective Multi-
Agency meetings  

 

Multi-agency meetings regarding vulnerable adults are 
effective in supporting safeguarding adults and 
prevention of safeguarding need.  This will consider the 
adaptation of the ‘Signs of Safety’ methodology for 
safeguarding adults. 

2. Mental Capacity  Be assured that people without capacity to consent are 
being safeguarded in current practice and with the 
introduction of Liberty Protection Safeguards. 

3. Adult Criminal 
Exploitation 

Improve the recognition and co-ordinated partnership 
response to criminal exploitation of adults. 

4. Safeguarding in 
Transitions 

Be assured that work with young people who have 
been assessed as requiring additional support to 
reduce risk and vulnerability assists prevention of adult 
safeguarding need. 

 
Action plans are in place for each of these priorities. 

40



           

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF LEICESTERSHIRE & 
RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD (LRLSCB)  

 
SAFEGUARDING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to bring to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s attention 

the draft Annual Report 2018/19 of the Leicestershire and Rutland Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) for 2018/19 for consultation and comment 
by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 
2. Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.  Health and care needs can be linked to 

safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have 
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in 
other agencies. 

 
3. The Annual Report considers safeguarding effectiveness across partner agencies 

including those working in the health and care system.  The LRLSCB Business Plan 
Priorities for 2018/19 incorporated areas within priority health workstreams, including 
emotional health and wellbeing and mental health. 

 
Recommendation 
 
4. It is recommended that the Board notes and comments on the draft LRLSCB Annual 

Report for 2018/19. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
5. The LRLSCB is a partnership that is required by regulation as a result of the Children 

Act 2004 and expectations of the Board are set out in Working Together 2015.  One 
requirement is that the Annual Report of the LRLSCB be presented to the Chair of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 
Background 
 
Statutory Framework 
 

41 Agenda Item 6



 

6. The LRLSCB is a statutory body established as a result of Section 13 of the Children 
Act 2004 and currently operates under statutory guidance issued in Working 
Together 2015.   
 

7. Under the Children and Social Work Act 2017, LSCBs are due to cease and local 
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements will be established in line with statutory 
guidance issued in Working Together 2018.  Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB will 
cease on 25th September 2019.  Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements will be 
managed through a new partnership – the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Partnership.  The multi-agency safeguarding arrangements were published 
on 28th June 2019. 

 
8. The County Council’s Cabinet considered the Annual Report at its meeting on 13 

September 2019. 
 
Annual Report 
 
9. The Annual Report provides a full assessment of performance with regard to 

safeguarding children, in line with the requirements in Working Together 2015.  It is, 
necessarily, a detailed report, but has been reduced in length compared to previous 
years. 
 

10. The key purpose of the Annual Report is to assess the impact of the work undertaken 
in 2018/19 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for children and young 
people in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically it evaluates performance against 
the priorities that were set out in the LSCBs Business Plan 2018/19 and against other 
statutory functions that the LSCB must undertake. 

 
11. The full version of the Annual Report 2018/19 is attached as Appendix A and 

includes: 
(i) A foreword from the Independent Chair; 
(ii) An overview of the Boards’ governance and accountability arrangements and 

local context; 
(iii) Two separate outlines of safeguarding children performance, activity and 

outcomes for Leicestershire and Rutland;   
(iv) Analysis of performance against the key priorities in the 2018/19 Business 

Plan; 
(v) An overview of the Board’s work on engagement, assurance, learning and 

development and training; 
(vi) The challenges ahead, including the Business Development Plan Priorities 

for 2019 until the Board ceases. 
 
 
Key Messages 
 
12. The key messages from the LRLSCB, specifically in relation to Leicestershire, are: 

a) Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard children in 
Leicestershire. 

b) Further work is required regarding understanding of thresholds for 
safeguarding across the partnership. 

c) The impact of key service changes such as the children and family wellbeing 
service to be reviewed. 

42



 

d) Young People are directly influencing the work of the LSCB and hearing and 
responding to the voice and lived experience of children is improving in 
safeguarding. 

e) More and better referrals could be made to agencies who provide specialist 
support to families, such as regarding substance misuse and sexual abuse.  

f) Consistency of practice within agencies across a range of areas of work still 
requires improvement.  This includes quality of assessment, recording, and 
management oversight of staff as well as information with health agencies. 

g) The Safeguarding Children Partnership led by three statutory partners - the 
local authorities, the clinical commissioning groups for the area and the police 
will take forward multi-agency work to safeguarding children 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 

 
13. The annual report includes a summary of the consultation and engagement work the 

LSCB has carried out with children and young people and with practitioners. 
 

14. This report to the Board is part of the consultation on the Annual Report. 
 

15. All members of the Board have had opportunities to contribute to and comment on 
earlier drafts of the annual report 

 
Resource Implications 

 
16. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendation in this report.  

The LRLSCB operates with a budget of £243,419 to which partner agencies 
contribute. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
17. The final Annual Report will be published by the end of September before the LSCB 

ceases and new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements commence.  
 

Background papers 
 
None 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Simon Westwood, Independent Chair of the LRLSCB 
Telephone: 0116 305 7130 
Email: SBBO@leics.gov.uk  
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

43



 

18. Safeguarding children, young people and adults concerns individuals who are likely 
to be disadvantaged in a number of ways. Information on differing needs of, and 
impacts on different groups of individuals with regard to safeguarding is considered 
as part of the process to develop the Board’s Business Plan.  Specific impacts on or 
views of different groups is also considered in the work of the LRLSCB and LRSAB 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) in assessing performance and 
effectiveness with regard to safeguarding. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
19. The LSCB works closely with community safety partnerships in Leicestershire to 

scrutinise and challenge performance in community safety issues that affect the 
safeguarding and wellbeing of individuals and groups, for example domestic abuse 
and Prevent.  The LSCB also supports community safety partnerships in carrying out 
Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their recommendations.  

 
20. The LRLSCB Annual Report includes analysis of performance in a range of areas 

relevant to the community safety agenda and the evaluation of performance will be 
shared with these partnership forums to ensure that both strengths and development 
needs are recognised and acted on 

 
Environmental Implications 
 
21. The published LRLSCB Annual Report will primarily be made available on-line in 

electronic form, rather than paper. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
22. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in 

national regulation, Working Together 2015, published by the Department for 
Education.  
 

23. The Children and Social Work Act sets out the cessation of LSCBs and the 
establishment of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.  Working Together 2018 
governs the new arrangements, with supplementary guidance governing the 
transition to these arrangements.  New arrangements are required to be in place by 
the end of September 2019.  Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements will 
commence in Leicestershire and Rutland from 29 September 2019. 

44



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  1 
 

 

 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 

LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 

BOARD (LRLSCB)  

Annual Report  

2018/19 
 

 

 

 

Document Status  

First draft completed:  1 July 2019 

Approved by Board:   

Published:    

Report Author: Safeguarding Boards Business Office, 
 Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and SAB  
    
Independent Chair:  Simon Westwood      

     

 

 

45



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  2 
 

Foreword  
 

I am pleased to present the Annual Report for the Leicestershire 

and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children (LRLSCB) 2018/19.   

The key purpose of the report is to assess the impact of the work 

we have undertaken in 2018/19 on safeguarding outcomes for 

children, and young people in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Though 

the report is joint for the two areas it provides distinct findings 

about practice and performance in both Leicestershire and 

Rutland. 

The Board has worked over many years to promote the safety and 

welfare of children and will hand this work over to the 

Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership in 

September 2019. This partnership is led by the County Local Authorities, Clinical 

Commissioning Groups and Police for the local area and will continue to work for children & 

young people in Leicestershire and Rutland to be safe, well and achieve their full potential. 

We can never eliminate risk entirely. We need to be as confident as we can be that every 

child and vulnerable adult, are supported to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. The 

Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies are working well 

together to safeguard adults and children in Leicestershire and Rutland. 

This report outlines how we have come to this conclusion including:  

- Considering how people and organisations listen and respond to what children 
are saying 

- Assessing data and information regarding safeguarding children 
- Auditing frontline practice of agencies working together to safeguarding children 

and address child exploitation.  
- Carrying out Serious Case Reviews to identify where children have suffered 

significant harm to continuously improve how we work together. 
 

The Board has developed and improved procedures for agencies working together, provided 

training through its partners to improve safeguarding children and has fed into the 

development of the new Safeguarding Children Partnership that will replace the Board from 

September 2019. 

The input of our Young People’s Advisory Panel has been an important addition to the LSCB 

this year.  The young people on the panel have provided their views on key concerns for 

young people and have challenged and scrutinised developing services.  This is essential to 

support the Board to retain its focus on children and young people. 

I hope that this Annual Report will help to keep you informed and assured that agencies in 

Leicestershire and Rutland are committed to continuous improvement.  

 

 

Simon Westwood, Independent Chair  

46



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  3 
 

47



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  4 
 

Contents 
 
Foreword 2 
Board Background 4 
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire 5 
Safeguarding Children in Rutland 8 
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Rutland 10 
Business Plan 2018/19 Achievements 11 
Operation of the Board  

- Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 14 
- Challenge and Assurance 15 
- Learning and Improvement 18 
- Child Death Overview Panel 20 
- Procedures and Co-ordination 20 
- Training and Development 21 

Income and Expenditure 2018/19 24 

Business Plan Priorities 2019/20 25 

  

48



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  5 
 

Board Background 
 
The LRLSCB serves the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  It is a statutory 
body established in compliance with the Children Act 2004 (Section13) and The 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations 2006 to co-ordinate and ensure the 
effectiveness of work to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in the area.  
The work of the LSCB is governed by ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 
2015’ statutory guidance. 
 
Under the Children and Social Work Act 2017 LSCBs will cease by September 2019 
and local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements will be established.  In 
Leicestershire & Rutland the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children 
Partnership will be established in place of the LRLSCB by the 29th September 2019. 
 
The Board is made up of organisations in the public sector with lay members, 
voluntary sector representation and led by an Independent Chair.  The membership 
and structure of the board can be found on the Board’s website www.lrsb.org.uk. 
 
The LRLSCB works closely with Leicester City Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LCLSCB) on several areas of work to support effective working across the two 
areas.  The LRLSCB and the LCLSCB have a Joint Executive Group that oversees 
joint areas of business for the two Boards.  
 
The LSCB is funded through financial contributions from its partner agencies.  In 
addition, in-kind contributions from partners are essential for the Board to operate 
effectively.  In-kind contributions include training resource for the inter-agency 
programme, chairing and participating in the work of the Board and its subgroups 
and Leicestershire County Council hosting the Safeguarding Boards Business Office.  
The income and expenditure of the Board is set out on Page 24 of this report. 
 
The LRLSCB is led by an Independent Chair.  The independence of the Chair of the 
LSCB is a requirement of Working Together 2015.  The Independent Chair provides 
independent scrutiny and challenge and better enables each organisation to be held 
to account for its safeguarding performance. 
 
Priorities set by the LRLSCB for development and assurance in 2018/19 were that: 

 The Board positively influences the development of new multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements 

 The impact of multiple risk factors on children is recognised, understood and 
responded to across agencies 

 The pathways for access to services for safeguarding children are robust and 
effective 

 Children at risk of exploitation (including Child Sexual Exploitation, Trafficking, 
Missing and Gangs) are effectively safeguarded 

 The approach to safeguarding children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities is improved 

  

49

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  6 
 

Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire 

 
From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the LSCB assesses that whilst there 
are some areas for improvement, organisations are working well together in 
Leicestershire to safeguard children. 
 
Safeguarding children snapshot for Leicestershire: 
 

140,307 children and young people aged under-18 live in Leicestershire1 

(20% of the population). 

12% of children and young people aged 0-17 are from a Black or Minority 

Ethnic (BME) background, slightly above the general population of 
Leicestershire (11.1%). 

 22,690 contacts to First Response (Children’s services) in Leicestershire 

 4,612 referrals to Early Help services 

 5,095 referrals to Children’s social care  

 25% of referrals to CSC were re-referrals 

 2,866 Children in Need at the end of March 2019 

 388 Children on Child Protection plans at the end of March 2019  

 291 Child protection plans during the year where Neglect is a factor – 58% of 

all new plans. 

 76 Child Protection plans were for children who had previously been on a 

plan - 15% of all new plans. 

 315 referrals regarding Child Sexual Exploitation 

 739 children reported missing 

 58% of missing episodes were followed by a return interview 

 584 Children in Elective Home Education (EHE) at the end of March 2019  

 78% of children in EHE during the year received their statutory visits  

 585 Children in Care 

 3 notifications regarding Private Fostering arrangements  

 4,279 referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)  

 

While there were more contacts to Children’s Services in 2018/19 than the previous 
year, referrals into Social Care, and the number of children on child protection plans 
has reduced.  Fewer referrals are repeat referrals and there were 53 fewer child 

                                                           
1
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2018 

50



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  7 
 

protection plans for children who have previously been on a plan.  Neglect is 
recognised as a factor in larger number of cases than previously. 
 
The strong application of thresholds has supported the maintained reduction in re-
referral rates and repeat child protection plans has continued to reduce following a 
focused piece of work to understand and impact on the repeat plan figures of 
previous years. 
 
Following work in the previous year an Ofsted focussed visit in October 2018 
identified that Leicestershire’s ‘First Response’ service now has a stable workforce, 
staff feel supported and valued, good practice is celebrated and shared, and morale 
is high. It noted that staff value the learning culture that has been created, however 
further work is required regarding understanding of thresholds across the 
partnership. 
 
Leicestershire County Council carried out a large-scale review of their Early Help 
service in 2018/19, which resulted in the launch of a new Children and Family 
Wellbeing Service (CFWS) on 1st April 2019. This service merges Children Centres, 
Supporting Leicestershire Families (the local response to the national Troubled 
families programme), Youth Offending Services and Early Help Triage and 
Assessment Services into one integrated service delivered through locality-based 
multi-skilled teams. The impact and outcomes for service users linked to this new 
approach will be monitored during 2019/20. 
 
There was a significant increase in the number of referrals regarding Child Sexual 
Exploitation. There was also a significant increase in children going missing and a 
smaller proportion of these missing episodes had a return interview. The Board will 
receive a report regarding this at its final meeting in July 2019. 
 
The number of children in Elective Home Education continued to rise for another 
year, but the proportion of children who have had a home visit has remained stable. 
The Board will receive a report regarding Children Missing Education and 
approaches in place to support good outcomes for these children at its final meeting 
in July 2019. 
 
The number of Children in Care has continued to increase in line with the national 
trend. 
 
Increasing numbers of older children are attending their child protection conferences, 
due to the support of a children’s rights officer.  Leicestershire have a Strong 
Children in Care Council (CiCC) and Supporting Young People After Care (SYPAC) 
group regularly participating in work to ensure their voice is heard and represented in 
key service developments. These have supported young people to be involved in 
Foster Care recruitment and training, the recruitment to key posts in the Children and 
Families service, mapping for care leaver offer and the development and design of 
Leicestershire’s “Promise” to children in care and care leavers. 
 
Leicestershire County Council have put in place a Practice framework for all front-
line staff who work with families. This sets out the expectations about practice in 

51



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  8 
 

Leicestershire to support consistent and effective practice across services for 
Children. 
 
Further awareness across agencies and public was carried out regarding private 
fostering, however numbers of notifications of private fostering arrangements 
remained low.  

52



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  9 
 

Safeguarding Children in Rutland 
 
From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the LSCB assesses that whilst there 
are some areas for improvement, organisations are working well together in Rutland 
to safeguard children. 
 
Safeguarding children snapshot for Rutland: 

7,807 children and young people aged under-18 live in Rutland2 (20% of the 

population). 

5.7% of the population of Rutland are from a Black or Minority Ethnic (BME) 

background. 

 1,411 contacts to Children’s services in Rutland 

 360 referrals to Children’s social care 

 26% of referrals to CSC were re-referrals  

 223 Children in Need at the end of March 2018 

 22 Children on Child Protection plans at the end of March 2019  

 24 Child protection plans during the year where Neglect was a factor – 48% 

of all new plans. 

 26 Child Protection plans were for children who had previously been on a 

plan - 48% of all new plans. 

 Average caseloads of 16.3 cases per worker 

 12 referrals regarding Child Sexual Exploitation  

 14 children reported missing 

 50% of return interviews completed 

 1 Private Fostering referral 

 13 children in Elective Home Education (EHE) at the end of March 2018 

 71% of children in EHE during the year had a statutory visit 

 33 Children in Care 

 197 referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

 45 referrals to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) regarding 

individuals in positions of trust 

 

                                                           
2
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2018 

53



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  10 
 

While there were fewer contacts to Children’s Services in 2018/19 than the previous 
year, referrals into Social Care and the number of children on child protection plans 
has increased after reducing last year.  A similar proportion of referrals were repeat 
referrals however there has been an increase in the number of children on child 
protection plans who have previously been on a plan.  This relates to a few families 
and some children were on plans in other areas before moving to Rutland. 
 
Rutland County Council continue to monitor decision making regarding child 
protection plan processes and conduct thematic auditing and moderation to further 
review this area. 
 
Rutland County Council report that partner engagement in Early Help and their 
‘Team around the Family’ approach is good and professionals have greater 
confidence to refer into the service or to seek advice and guidance. 
 
Neglect was a factor in a larger number of child protection plans than the previous 
year. 
 
There have been fewer reports of children going missing but a smaller proportion of 
these missing episodes had a return interview carried out with the child.  This is 
affected by the small number of children who go missing, a few of which have 
declined their return interviews, and for some a return interview was not identified as 
appropriate.  In all cases missing episodes were discussed with the children by 
professionals working with them to support their safety in the future. 
 
There were more children in Elective Home Education during the year than previous 
year.  Over two thirds received a visit from the monitoring service, the remainder 
declined a visit. 
 
Rutland County Council are looking to review processes and practice to ensure 
children out of education and children missing their education are known and safe 
and children with disability are safeguarded. 
 
The number of Children Looked After has increased slightly.  Qualified advocates 
are provided to give children a voice. Thirty-two children received Independent 
Advocacy support during the year and feedback from young people is positive, with 
89% of recipients rating the service as good to excellent. 
 
In March 2019 Rutland County Council had a focussed visit from Ofsted which 
looked at the children’s services ‘front door’. The visit found that children are safe 
and protected in Rutland and partners understand thresholds and act to safeguard 
children and provide an appropriate and timely response. It also identified some 
areas for improvement including quality and consistency of assessments and plans 
and impact on outcomes for children from audits and supervision and management 
oversight.  The LSCB will monitor areas for improvement and hand this over to the 
new Partnership in September. 
 
More referrals have been made to the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(CAMHS) and Rutland County Council are progressing work on the CAMHS 
discharge pathway through ongoing engagement in the CAMHS Improvement Group   

54



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  11 
 

Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Rutland 

 
Our partners provide assurance regarding safeguarding practice and development 
throughout the year to our Safeguarding Effectiveness Group; key points and 
developments are included in relevant sections of this report. 
 
During 2018-19 a number of LSCB partners including Leicestershire Police, the 
National Probation Service (NPS), Rutland County Council, the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and CAFCASS had external inspections that 
identified positive practice with regard to safeguarding children.  Inspections of the 
CCGs and Rutland County Council also identified areas for improvement with regard 
to safeguarding. The LSCB will monitor areas for improvement and hand this over to 
the new Partnership in September. 
 
There was a reduction in the number of Serious Further Offences committed by 
offenders supervised by the NPS in Leicestershire. 
 
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust have seen an increase in internal 
safeguarding children enquiries following the creation of a new single point of access 
for children requiring urgent care service.  This suggests a greater awareness of staff 
to recognise and respond to potential safeguarding concerns. 
 
The CCGs have refreshed the Children’s Safeguarding Quality Makers GP Self-
assessment tool. This tool outlines to GP practices what safeguarding processes 
and procedures are required to be in place to ensure that GP can recognise and 
respond to child safeguarding concerns. 
 
A Multi-Agency Partnership Performance Meeting has been set up as a forum for 
partners to share issues and concerns relating to child safeguarding processes and 
procedures to find solutions. 
 
An increase in the number of children to being taken directly to A&E for sexual abuse 
medicals instead of being taken to the children’s specialist referral centre was 
identified. The Partnership Performance Meeting group were able to respond quickly 
and provide information to partners to resolve this with children being appropriately 
seen and medically examined in a more appropriate and child-focused environment. 
 
In a response to an LSCB survey of Voluntary and Community Sector organisations 
in a previous year the Voluntary and Community Sector reference group of the LSCB 
communicated key messages to the sector.  These messages were focussed on the 
importance of Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks, LADO obligations and 
preventing violent extremism, identified in the survey as apparent gaps in knowledge 
and practice in the sector. 
 
The Board commissioned the NSPCC to carry out a review of safeguarding in 
Leisure Centres in Leicestershire & Rutland.  The report found no immediate 
safeguarding concerns but identified some areas for development to be considered 
across Leisure Centres to support best practice.  District Councils and Leisure 
Providers are working in response to the recommendations and will report back on 
developments to the new Safeguarding Children Partnership in 2020. 

55



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  12 
 

Business Development Plan Priorities 

Progress on the Boards priorities is outlined below 
 
LSCB Priority 1 – Influencing transition to new effective multi-agency 
safeguarding children arrangements for Leicestershire and Rutland 
 

We led work with the safeguarding partners to develop and implement a transition plan for 
the new arrangements, that includes a children and young people advisory group and an 
education advisory group. 
 
The Board kept appraised of the developments of the new arrangements and supported 
these with input from the Independent Chair.  The Board’s Young People’s Advisory Group 
is part of the new arrangements and a method for engaging with schools is in development. 
 
The new arrangements for the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership 
will be published in June 2019 and implemented in September 2019. 
 

LSCB Priority 2 – The impact of multiple risk factors on children is recognised, 
understood and responded to across agencies 
 
We researched and provided guidance to practitioners regarding lack of parental 
engagement and disguised compliance.  We also shared learning from the safeguarding 
findings of the Child Death Overview Panel reviews of multiple risk factors regarding suicide 
and infant mortality and review practice, information sharing and service provision with 
regard to domestic abuse. 
 
We published guidance on disguised compliance on our website and in Safeguarding 
Matters and carried out a case file audit of cases where domestic abuse was a factor. 
 
Rutland County Council’s Emotional Health and Well Being Officer facilitated training on 
suicide awareness and self-harm for 28 practitioners across agencies locally, with positive 
feedback. 
 
We will continue to follow up reports on the effectiveness of information sharing and support 
services in domestic abuse cases where safeguarding children is a concern, following 
changes in partnership governance of domestic abuse activity in the area. 
 

 
LSCB Priority 3 – Ensure the pathways for access to services for safeguarding 
children are robust and effective 
 
We researched good practice and reviewed our local thresholds document to ensure it is 
compatible with Working Together 2018, clear to practitioners across agencies and that it 
considers learning from work on multiple risk factors and children with disabilities.  We 
were unable to complete the final version by the end of the year, as further consultation was 
required in order to agree a joint approach with Leicester LSCB. 
 
The revised Thresholds will be completed in order to commence at the same time as the 
new Safeguarding Arrangements in September 2019. 
 
 

 

56



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  13 
 

LSCB Priority 4 – Children at risk of exploitation are effectively safeguarded 
 
We reviewed how information from Missing Children Return Interviews is analysed and used 
to support improvements to services and gain assurance that work on Child Sexual 
Exploitation is safeguarding and improving outcomes for children. 
 
We sought assurance that children missing education are known and safeguarded and 
monitored the emergence of referrals regarding gangs and Child Criminal Exploitation. 
 
We carried out case file audits regarding Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Children going 
Missing and fed the findings into the delivery groups for those areas of work.  Action by the 
local CSE hub in response to the CSE audit findings was reported to the Board in January 
2019.  Analysis of returns interviews a response to the Missing audit and work with Children 
Missing Education was reported to the Board at its final meeting in July 2019. 
 
Leicestershire Police in partnership with forces in the country launched the ‘Brecks last 
game’ film and educational resource.  This highlights the danger of online grooming and 
Child Sexual Exploitation and particularly raises awareness that there is risk to boys as well 
as girls. 
 
In Leicestershire there was a 32% increase in the number of children going missing (179 
more) but missing episodes were at the same level as the previous year (2 fewer). 
 
In Rutland there was a 33% reduction in the number of children going missing (7 fewer) and 
a 20% reduction in the number of missing episodes (5 fewer) compared to the previous year. 
 
Leicestershire County Council alongside Leicestershire police were selected to contribute to 
“The First Step” report completed by The Children’s Society. The research was 
commissioned by the Home Office to assist in developing the national picture of Return 
Interview provision and identify good practice. It was recognised that there was a good 
shared understanding between police, the Return Interviewers and Children’s social care. 
 
Over a fifth of children who go missing in Leicestershire & Rutland are placed here in the 
care of other local authorities. In many cases Leicestershire and Rutland Councils and 
partners have not been notified of the placement of these children locally, which hinders 
initial risk management and affects planning to manage future risks.  
 
We supported the production and launch of a Looked After Children guidance pack (LAC 
Pack) for local residential providers.  The pack contains statutory guidance, a directory of 
local resources and a notification form.  It has been welcomed by local care providers to 
support them in safeguarding children in their care. 
 
Partnership strategic and tactical structures for CSE have been revised to incorporate all 
forms of exploitation such as criminal exploitation and ‘County Lines’ and not solely sexual 
exploitation to better reflect the emerging risks.  Partners including the Local Authorities and 
Police have reviewed their internal structures and approaches to better support a response 
to broader exploitation.   
 
Learning from operations in Rutland have been used to develop exploitation as a priority 
area for children’s services, including introducing a dedicated exploitation social worker to 
join up local intelligence and training and connect to the CSE Hub resulting in an improved 
response to vulnerable children. 
 
Leicestershire Police have revised their triage process for CSE to streamline and increase 

57



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  14 
 

the efficiency and effectiveness of the process in ensuring that vulnerable children are 
identified, assessed and supported effectively and perpetrators are also identified and 
managed effectively. 

 
 
LSCB Priority 5 – Improve the approach to safeguarding children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities 
 
We responded to the organisational assessment and audits carried out by the LSCB in 
2017-18 by reviewing and updating safeguarding thresholds and procedures for children with 
disabilities and developing awareness raising material to promote good safeguarding of 
children with disabilities.   
 
We ran two practitioner spotlight events bringing 144 practitioners together over the two 
events. The events disseminated the learning from the audits and focused on the 
assessment of children using experiential learning to help participants develop their 
understanding and practice. Further training needs for practitioners were requested as part 
of these events and a follow up evaluation is underway to gauge impact on practice following 
the events. 
 
We will finalise procedures and address further identified training needs in 2019 and in the 
work of the new partnership. 
 
 
  

58



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  15 
 

Operation of the Board 

 

Engagement and Participation 

Partner Engagement and Attendance 

The Board met four times during 2018/19.  Leicestershire and Rutland County 
Councils, the Police and the West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire & Rutland 
Clinical Commissioning Groups were represented at all ordinary Board meetings 
during the year.  
 
Attendance by other members at Board meetings remain good across most other 
partners, with some exceptions. Schools were only represented at two of the 
meetings, and normally this was only partial representation of the sector.  The 
National Probation Service and CAFCASS did not attend any Board meetings this 
year, however it is recognised they have a regional role covering many boards and 
have written to explain the challenges for them attending.  
 
Attendance at subgroups of the Board is good across agencies and all partners have 
engaged in the work of the Board such as reviews and audits. 
 
The membership of the Board can be found on the Boards website www.lrsb.org.uk.  
The role of all agencies in the new partnerships will be set out in the safeguarding 
arrangements.  Engagement with schools and education more broadly will be 
developed in the new arrangements. 
 
Voluntary Sector Engagement and Participation 

The Board has a Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) Reference Group that 
provides a link to a broad range of voluntary sector groups to communicate key 
messages from the Board to the voluntary and community sector and to feed in the 
views and challenges of the sector into the Board. 
 
The group identified concerns regarding homelessness and children and started to 
scope the scale of this to report in 2019. 
 
Fewer VCS agencies engaged through the reference group during the year.  With 
less involvement from the local infrastructure agency the group felt their reach into 
the sector reduced.  Work is underway to ensure sustainable engagement in the new 
partnership arrangements.   
 
Participation and the Voice of children 

The Board has developed its approach to engaging children and young people in its 
work.  
 
The Safeguarding Board’s Young Peoples Advisory Group is up and running 
incorporating young people from Leicestershire and Rutland.  The Young People’s 
Advisory Group led sessions at two LSCB meetings during the year. At the first 
session the young people presented two of their priorities relating to safeguarding 

59

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  16 
 

(domestic abuse and mental health) and worked with Board Members to identify 
action that could be taken to respond to these.   
 
The Young People’s Advisory Group also led LSCB scrutiny of the Future in Mind 
programmes work on developing Mental Health Services for children and young 
people and worked with Board Members to put together a plan to improve the 
response to this.  
 
During the year young people from the Advisory Group worked with Words over 
Weapons knife crime project to raise awareness of knife crime with their peers. 
 
The Advisory Group will continue to ensure the voice of children and young people is 
very visible in the work of the new Safeguarding Children Arrangements. 
 
The LSCB has received reports on the voice of children and families and how 
agencies are recording and responding to these through its Safeguarding 
Effectiveness Group.  These show that agencies across the partnership are listening 
to and responding to the voice of children to support safeguarding and broader 
service delivery.  Multi-agency audits through the year showed a clear improvement 
in agencies hearing and responding to the voice of children. 
 
The CCGs have provided additional funding for LSCB training materials to support 
commissioned services to evidence hearing and responding to the voice of children. 
 

Assurance – Challenges and Quality Assurance 

Challenge Log 

The Board keeps a challenge log to monitor challenges raised by the Board and the 
outcomes of the challenges. During the year the following challenges were raised by 
the Board with safeguarding partners regarding the following topics: 

 LSCB Multi-agency audits continue to identify recurring issues with regard to 
plans, supervision, assessments and recording with no apparent progress on 
improving in these key areas.  

 
Following these challenges: 

 Agencies were asked to report to the Board on their action to address these 
areas. This was reported to the LSCB at its final meeting in July 2019. 

 The Board, with the Leicester Safeguarding Children Board reviewed its audit 
approach to ensure the process is identifying the most important areas for 
improvement with regard to multi-agency safeguarding.  This identified that 
the process could have a greater focus on the multi-agency elements of 
safeguarding. This will be incorporated in the LSCBs multi-agency audits in 
2019 and the approach taken by the new Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

 

Work to address concerns from the previous year regarding agency attendance at 
Initial Child Protection Conferences started, but was delayed due to changes in staff.  
This has remained a concern and work recommenced at the end of the year to be 
concluded in 2019. 

 

60



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  17 
 

Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework 

The Board operates a four quadrant Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework as outlined below.  This is overseen by the Boards 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) shared with the SAB.  The outcomes of 
and findings from this performance framework are incorporated in the relevant 
sections within the report. 
 
The detailed elements of this are reviewed each year to ensure this provides 
assurance regarding core safeguarding business as well as business plan priorities 
and other emerging issues. 
 
The overall model will also be reviewed and engagement elements of the framework, 
both with staff and service users require some further development in the coming 
year in preparation for the new partnership. 

 
 

Audits 

In 2017-18 the LSCB revised its approach to ‘Section 11’ audits on agencies’ 
compliance with their duties within Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 to a peer-
review based approach every two years. In 2019 the LSCB requested updates on 
progress against improvement plans from the process in 2017/18 to be incorporated 
in the Annual Report... 
 
In addition to its ‘Section 11’ assurance process the Board continued its approach to 
multi-agency auditing.  During the year four safeguarding multi-agency case file 
audits were carried out focussing on the following priorities: 

 Children affected by Domestic Abuse 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Child Sexual Abuse in the Family 

 Missing Children 
 
The audit themes were identified based upon findings from reviews, emerging issues 
and follow up to previous Board work. 
 
The audit process follows a Multi-Agency Case File Audit approach.  All relevant 
agencies audit their practice and involvement in a set number of identified cases.  
Each case and the findings of each individual agency’s audit of that case are 

61



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  18 
 

reviewed in a multi-agency meeting to discuss practice and identify further single-
agency and multi-agency learning.  Findings are considered in the context of 
learning from previous audits. 
 
All four audits were carried out in conjunction with Leicester Safeguarding Children 
Board. Each audit considered five cases from Leicestershire and two cases from 
Rutland, except for the Child Sexual Abuse in the Family audit.  No appropriate 
cases were identified in Rutland to audit under this theme. 
 
Overall the audits showed an improvement through the year and compared to 
previous years with regard to hearing and responding to the voice and lived 
experience of children.  They also highlighted some examples of good persistent 
work to engage with children and families. 
 
Whilst audits showed some improvement in information sharing between agencies 
with cases of good information sharing with a clear impact on safeguarding children, 
they also identified recurring gaps in information sharing between Local Authorities 
and health agencies. 
 
The audits identified that referrals to agencies who provide specialist support (e.g. 

for substance misuse, domestic abuse or sexual violence) were not always being 

made when these might support improved outcomes for children and families.  When 

referrals for support are being made information on specific risks such as domestic 

abuse, child sexual exploitation and missing episodes is not always being shared. 

 

Following the CSE audit further assurance was requested from and provided by 
Rutland County Council with regard to their approach to working with cases involving 
CSE. 
 
As outlined in the challenge log the following areas were identified as recurring 
issues in cases during the year and from previous years: 

- Supervision of frontline staff was not always robust 
- Case recording was not of good quality.  
- Multi-agency plans were often not specific and measurable  
- Multi-agency assessments varied in quality 

Agencies were asked to report the action they were taking to ensure they were 

improving their practice and contribution to multi-agency working in these areas.  

 

Work is underway to improve communication with and involvement of GPs in 
safeguarding.  Through the Safeguarding Matters newsletter and inter-agency 
training the Board is reminding practitioners to consider how appropriate referrals for 
support can support safeguarding of children. 
 
The audit findings were also communicated to the domestic abuse and child 
exploitation operations groups as appropriate to act upon specific findings relating to 
their areas of work.  
 

62



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  19 
 

A multi-agency audit plan for 2019 has been set in conjunction with the Leicester 
City LSCB for the coming year linked to the Board’s priorities and national Joint 
Targeted Area Inspection themes. 
 

Learning and Improvement 

Serious Case Reviews and other Learning Reviews 

Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) are described within Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2015 and are statutory reviews undertaken by Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards (LSCBs) for cases where abuse or neglect is known or suspected and either: 

 A child dies; or 

 A child is seriously harmed and there are concerns as to the way in which 
the authority, their Board partners or other relevant persons have worked 
together to safeguard the child. 

 
The LSCB has a well-used referral process into its Safeguarding Case Review 
Subgroup that considers whether cases meet SCR criteria or may otherwise be 
appropriate and beneficial to review to support learning and improvement across the 
partnership.   Decisions regarding cases to review and appropriate types of review 
are supported by the Learning and Improvement Framework, shared with between 
the two LSCBs and two SABs across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland.  
 
The Board completed two SCRs in line with Working Together 2015 guidance during 
the year. 
 
Four further SCRs were underway at the end of the year. 
 
The LSCB took the opportunity to gain learning regarding multi-agency safeguarding 
practice from six cases that did not meet the criteria for a SCR.  The LSCB utilised 
alternative review methods including Appreciative Enquiry learning events. 
 
Learning from reviews 

The following arose in the learning and recommendations from all reviews: 

 Denied/concealed pregnancies present a high risk to the babies, particularly 
at the time of birth, and have statistically significant worse outcomes 

 The categories of harm for children in situations of parental domestic abuse 
need to be carefully considered to ensure all risk factors are considered 

 The importance and specific purpose of parts of the child protection process 
are not always well understood by professionals not regularly involved in child 
protection processes 

 The Board needs greater assurance that Child Protection plans are both 
SMART and robustly implemented 

 All professionals should be supported in considering the impact on them of 
working with people who present as aggressive / challenging behaviour  

 Information sharing with and involvement of health professionals in multi-
agency safeguarding processes could be improved 

 A continued focus on the lived experience of children with staff is required to 
support ongoing effective safeguarding 

 

63



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  20 
 

The influence of this learning can be seen in the work of the Board in its priorities, 
Training and Development of Procedures this year and in priorities and will inform 
the work of the new Safeguarding Children Partnership. 
 
The Safeguarding Case Review Subgroup monitors a master action plan containing 
recommendations and actions arising from all reviews.  
 
Domestic Homicide Reviews 

The LSCB and SAB manage the process for carrying out Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs) on behalf of and commissioned by the Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. This is managed through the joint 
Children and Adults section of the Boards’ SCR Subgroup.  Three DHRs were 
underway at the end of the year.  
 
Development Work and Disseminating Learning 

The LSCB produces a quarterly newsletter in conjunction with the Safeguarding 
Adults Board, called Safeguarding Matters.   This is used to disseminate key 
messages including from reviews and audits across the partnership and to front-line 
practitioners.   
 
Learning has also been shared through Learning Events and the Trainers Network 
and single agency internal processes.   
 
Leicestershire County Council hold annual practice summits including learning from 
multi-agency reviews.   
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups have disseminated learning from reviews to GPs 
through quarterly GP forums with an average of 40 GP practices represented at 
each one by their GP Safeguarding Lead.   
 
These forums aim to foster effective professional relationships between GPs and the 
multi-agency partnership through direct discussions about safeguarding children 
issues. They enable GPs to build on their knowledge base and basic safeguarding 
children training to effectively safeguard the children in their registered practice 
population. 
 
LLR GPs have been able to engaged in discussing over 30 safeguarding topics 
including those messages from Child Serious Case Reviews which have required 
changes to be made in GP practice.    
 
The forums have received positive reviews and feedback by the GPs including that 
GPs have a much clearer idea of how to manage safeguarding issues in GP practice 
settings 
 

 

 

 

64



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  21 
 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

The CDOP is a key part of the LSCB’s Learning and Improvement Framework since 
it reviews all child deaths in the Local Authority areas and identifies any modifiable 
factors, for example, in the family environment, parenting capacity or service 
provision and considers what action could be taken locally, regionally and nationally 
to address these. 
 
The local CDOP, shared with Leicester City, reviewed all child deaths in the area 
and identified learning from these.   
 
The CDOP review of deaths caused by suicide or self-harm in 2017/18 was followed 
up with events to disseminate the learning to practitioners. 
 
The following learning was also identified in 2017/18: 

- Over the years CDOP have noted a number of occasions where the 
information on organ donation is missing or where there isn’t a clear 
explanation of whether organ donation was discussed with parents.  

- CDOP reviewed a number of deaths resulting from knife crime and noted 
increased national attention and prevalence on this issue. 

 

These two areas were followed up by partners through a case audit and a review 

respectively, which were finalised in 2018/19. 

The local CDOP produces its own annual report, which will be published in the 
Autumn of 2019 and will summarise its work and learning from reviews in 2018/19. 
 
 

Co-ordination of and Procedures for Safeguarding Children  

The Board shares its multi-agency procedures with the Leicester City LSCB. 
Throughout the year the Board has reviewed and revised Multi-Agency Procedures 
in line with developments in local practice, practitioner feedback, learning from 
reviews and audits and changes to national guidelines including Working Together 
2018. 
 
The procedures are available through the Leicester and Leicestershire and Rutland 
Safeguarding Children Boards’ website and http://llrscb.proceduresonline.com/.  
 
In addition to review of a number of procedures the Board developed new 
safeguarding procedures regarding: 

• Harmful Sexual Behaviour 
• Children from Abroad, including Victims of Modern Slavery, Trafficking and 

Exploitation 
• Management of Marks of Concern in Pre-Mobile Babies and Non-

Independently Mobile Children 
 

The Boards also completed work on a single Multi-Agency Referral Form for all 
agencies to use to refer into children services front door for any of the Local 
Authorities in the area. The form was launched in April 2019 with training sessions to 

65

http://llrscb.proceduresonline.com/


LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  22 
 

support effective referrals planned through 2019/20.  Some agencies, such as LPT 
have incorporated this into their systems to support good referrals. 

Changes to procedures have been communicated through bulletins, the LSCB and 
SAB’s Safeguarding Matters newsletter and through training events encouraging use 
by practitioners. 
 
Access to the LLR LSCB multi-agency safeguarding procedures has increased. 
Google Analytical data shows that there has been an increase of 12% in users and 
of 10% in sessions in 2018-2019 compared to the previous year. 
 
The suite of procedures are being reviewed in line with the new Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Arrangements and this along with a transfer of procedures to a new 
platform is to be completed by September 2019. 
 
Review of the current functions of the LLR LSCB Procedures and Development 
Group to ensure full alignment with the new Multiagency Safeguarding 
Arrangement’s vision and operational model  
 

Training and Development  

The LSCBs Multi-Agency Training Programme is shared with Leicester LSCB and 
co-ordinated and delivered through the shared Multi-Agency Training Group 
(MATG).  
 
The group has representatives from all key partner agencies and the training has 
been delivered through these partners offering their resources, in terms of time, 
space or finance. This allows a comprehensive programme to be offered which is 
aligned to the priorities of the business plans of the LSCBs across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR), and any areas of development arising from 
national and local Serious Case Reviews. 
 
Due to a change in delivery the Multi-Agency Training Programme was suspended 
for the first quarter of 2018/19 and then began to build to a more comprehensive 
offer in quarters three and four and more opportunities for learning are being 
created. The change in website for advertising the programme was initially a barrier, 
however, there has been a lot of work and networking around ensuring that staff in 
the children’s workforce in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland all know to go to the 
LSCB websites. 
 
In the last quarter of 2018-19 the Board adopted a Charging policy, which requires 
some agencies would have to pay according to their status role and contribution to 
the training programme.  The proceeds will be used to further meet any learning 
needs of the children’s workforce across LLR. 
 
The LSCB also facilitates a local trainer’s network which supports development of 
local safeguarding trainers through development sessions and networking. 
 

66



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  23 
 

In total 28 courses were delivered across 9 safeguarding themes, with 1,059 
participants in training from across agencies, promoting networking and partnership 
working. 
Training linked to the Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB key priorities 
included: 

 Disabled Children 

 Neglect 

 Children’s Mental Health 

 Trilogy of Risk/Multiple Risk Factors 

 Child Sexual Abuse 
In addition, the LSCB was able to support the dissemination of learning that is 
delivered across LLR to a multi-agency audience from United Against Violence and 
Abuse (UAVA), Turning Point, and Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS). 
 
The Board linked with the Leicester and Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding 
Adults boards to deliver a Safeguarding Conference incorporating the following 
cross-cutting themes: 

- Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
- The importance of participation and the voice of the child 
- Coercive Control 
- Mental Capacity Act 2005 

This was a successful event with 103 participants across the partnership agencies 
from adult’s and children’s services, and across LLR. The evaluations showed that 
staff from all areas had found the information given was interesting and relevant. 
 
With the change in the co-ordination and delivery of the programme, the evaluation 
process is in its infancy however from two large-scale events on “Safeguarding 
Disabled Children: Focus on Assessment”, it has been possible to gain some insight 
into the impact of the learning. Of 139 participants across the two events, following 
the events: 

 88% rated their knowledge as a 4 or 5 (with 5 being high level and 1 being low 
level) 

 85% rated their skills as a 4 or 5 and, 

 82% rated their confidence as a 4 or 5. 
 

In addition, following the large-scale event on child sexual exploitation 96% of 

attendees felt that the benefit of meeting colleagues/exchanging information in a 

local context was a positive or extremely positive element of the training. 

Further evaluation of the data from the training events is required to assess the 
benefits and impact of the Multi-Agency Training Programme to date. There is a plan 
to evaluate courses three months after delivery, however this has not been 
commenced.  The courses are popular, and the uptake demonstrates a need for and 
value of such training. 
 
A new Learning Management System is being sourced to help to manage and 
analyse the training data. 
 

67



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  24 
 

Partners have provided assurance that they are providing up to date training to staff 
to improve safeguarding awareness and address specific areas of need. Specific 
areas covered by agencies include Prevent in University Hospitals of Leicester and 
input regarding the ‘one front door’ approach in the National Probation Service 
locally. Leicestershire County Council overhauled the learning offer for social 
workers in April 2018 with all training explicitly linked to their Knowledge and Skills 
statements and an annual review and refresh to ensure new areas are incorporated.   

68



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  25 
 

Leicestershire & Rutland SAB and LSCB Finance 2018-19 
 

 

 

£

SAB Contributions

Leicestershire County Council 52,798               

Rutland County Council 8,240                 

Leicestershire Police 7,970                 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and 

East Leicestershire & Rutland)

15,930               

University Hospitals of Leicestershire NHS Trust 7,970                 

Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 7,970                 

Total SAB Income 100,878             

LSCB Contributions

Leicestershire County Council 83,061               

Rutland County Council 52,250               

Leicestershire Police 43,940               

Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and 

East Leicestershire & Rutland)

55,760               

Cafcass 550                     

National Probation Service 1,348                 

Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and Rutland 

Commmunity Rehabilitation Company (Reducing Re-

offending Partnership)

3,000                 

Total LSCB Income 239,909             

Total Income (LSCB & SAB) 340,787             

£

SAB and LSCB Operating Expenditure

Staffing 210,469             

Independent Chairing 25,867               

Support Services 30,500               

Operating Costs 12,935               

Case Reviews (SAB) 15,505               

Case Reviews (LSCB) 13,461               

Young Peoples Advisory Group (LSCB) 1,736                 

Training Co-ordination and Provision (LSCB) 39,600               

Total SAB & LSCB Operating Expenditure 350,073             

Deficit £9,286

LSCB & SAB Reserve account at end of year £41,760

69



LRLSCB Annual Report DRAFT Aug 2019 v0.3  26 
 

Business Plan Priorities 2019 

The LSCB will continue work on the priorities identified for 2018-19 until it ceases to 
operate by the end of September 2019: 
 

Development Priority Summary 

1. Partnership Transition  Influence the development of new multi-
agency safeguarding arrangements 

2. Multiple Risk Factors The impact of multiple risk factors on 
children is recognised, understood and 
responded to across agencies 

3. Safeguarding Children – Access 
to Services 

Ensure the pathways for access to 
services for safeguarding children are 
robust and effective 

4. Child Exploitation - (Child 
Sexual Exploitation, Trafficking, 
Missing and Gangs) 

Children at risk of exploitation are 
effectively safeguarded 

5. Safeguarding Children with 
Disabilities 

Improve the approach to safeguarding 
children with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities 

 
Action plans have been reviewed and extended to September 2019 for each of these 
priorities. 
 
The LSCB will contribute to the Safeguarding Adults Board priority of Safeguarding 
in Transitions which is exploring how support for children affected by abuse provided 
before and as they move from children to adult services contributes to preventing 
Safeguarding need in their adult life. 
 

70



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION 
 

DEVELOPING A NEW PLACE-BASED HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK FOR LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
Purpose of the report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present a draft proposed new place-based dashboard for 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and seek the Board’s feedback on its development so 
far. 

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

2. Per the NHS Long Term Plan, it is intended that the NHS in each part of England forms 
an Integrated Care System by April 2021, to be configured in three organisational tiers 
known as “system, place and neighbourhood.”  
 

3. At the time of this report NHS and Local Authority partners across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) are currently in the process of discussing the local 
response to the NHS Long Term Plan.   

 
4. The County Council’s Cabinet considered a report at its meeting on 13 September and 

resolved as follows:  
 

a) That the County Council reiterates its recent message to the NHS and other 
partners, that the County Council: 

 
i. strongly supports the integration of health and care services wherever 

possible and to the benefit of those receiving care in any setting, 
 

ii. continues to commit significant resources to that end, 
 

iii. in the case of a move to an Integrated Care System (ICS) in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland, as required by NHS England, awaits 
clarification from the NHS as to what this would actually mean in practice 
before it can indicate its support; 

 
b) That County Council officers continue to take part in various groups set up by the 

NHS under the Better Care Together banner; 
 

c) That in recognition of the County Council’s wish to see clarity, the proposal put 
forward by officers to define ‘place’ in an Integrated Care System (ICS) as at the 
level of an upper-tier (social care and public health) authority, with ‘system’ at the 

71 Agenda Item 7



 

level of the local health economy (Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland) and 
‘neighbourhood’ at the level of the new primary care networks, be supported, 
whilst noting that any arrangements for decision-making at place level in this 
context have yet to be determined; 

 
d) That clarity in particular is sought from the NHS in respect of decision-making, 

statutory responsibilities, accountabilities and performance management in an 
ICS; 

 
e) That in respect of a proposed ICS partnership board or group, with an 

independent chair to be appointed by the NHS, the NHS be asked to explain its 
value and purpose so that the County Council can take an informed decision on 
an invitation to join; and 

 
f) That the Cabinet’s decision be made known to Leicester City and Rutland Councils. 

 
 

5. This report is written on the basis that the definition of place at the level of an upper-tier 
local authority is approved by the NHS, Leicester City and Rutland Councils. 

 
6. The draft dashboard in this report is intended to provide an overview of outcomes and 

service delivery within the place tier of Leicestershire, which would be as follows:  
 

a. LLR Tier: Better Care Together, the Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP/future ICS) tier – a dashboard has already been developed at 
this tier and is currently being tested/iterated by the LLR STP programme. The 
current version of this is attached at Appendix A for reference.  
 

b. Place Tier (e.g. for each place in L, L and R) –in this case, for Leicestershire, a 
new proposed dashboard has been developed, attached at Appendix B. The 
dashboard will inform and be consistent with the County Council’s Outcomes 
Framework and corporate reporting approach, although it incorporates a wider set 
of outcomes relevant to the broader range of health and wellbeing partners 
involved.  The Place level dashboard will contain some outcome metrics that are 
also reported at the system level. 

 
c. Neighbourhood Tier-  presenting outcomes metrics and data per each primary 

care network (PCN) and their populations. This level of reporting will incorporate 
health and wellbeing outcomes from population profiles at the level of each district 
council. Existing dashboards developed with the previous GP practice localities 
are in the process of being developed further and converted to PCN populations 
and format at the time of this report. The Health and Wellbeing Board will receive 
further information about these at a future meeting. The Neighbourhood tier 
dashboards will also contain some outcome metrics that are also reported at 
Place and/or and System level. 

 
7. The development of the new place-based dashboard for Leicestershire involved 

undertaking desk top research to consider several source materials and examples. 
These were reviewed, collated and mapped from the following sources: 

 
a. Current outcomes frameworks in use across local authority and NHS partners in 

Leicestershire e.g. using national outcomes frameworks such as those for NHS 

72



 

England, Public Health England and Adult Social Care (ASCOF),along with the 
current LLR STP dashboard (Appendix A) 

b. Core outcomes from the Health and Wellbeing Board’s joint health and wellbeing 
strategy 

c. Leicestershire County Council’s corporate outcomes framework 
d. Other STP/Integrated Care System dashboard examples (e.g. Nottingham and 

Sandwell) 
e. National tools, such as the Integration Logic Model, by the Social Care Institute for 

Excellence 
 

8. From this analysis partners have produced the proposed structure shown at Appendix B, 
as an initial prototype for discussion with the Health and Wellbeing Board. This is 
intended to provide a consolidated, focused view of three key areas: 

 
a. Leicestershire’s overall population health and wellbeing outcomes 
b. The delivery of integrated health and care in Leicestershire 

and, (in due course)  
c. The addition of specific outcomes related to joint commissioning activities 

between Leicestershire County Council and the County CCGs.  
 

9. The draft place-based dashboard (Appendix B) incorporates Better Care Fund 
Metrics (reported nationally, quarterly), a range of other national metrics routinely 
reported via local government and NHS routes, monthly and/or quarterly, and a set of 
core population health and wellbeing outcomes and metrics, some of which are only 
reported upon annually.   

 
10. The first tab reports on the core set of population health and wellbeing outcomes and 

metrics 
 
11. The second tab reports on the “delivery of health and care services”  and the content 

of this this is still  work in progress. The current content is primarily about services for 
adults and older people in line with the Integration Executive’s scope of work. This 
tab incorporates: 
a. The Better Care Fund metrics 
b. A core set of other national health and care metrics 
c. A number of outcome metrics prioritised by the LLR workstream for Integrated 

Community Services. (The implementation of new models of integrated 
community services is being conducted across all 3 parts of L, L and R to an 
agreed framework across LLR, hence seeking to measure the impact of these 
changes using a consistent set of outcome metrics). 

d. A range of other outcomes and metrics which reflect the key priorities from across 
our integration programme, e.g. areas of work where we continue to transform 
and integrate health, care, housing and prevention services, per Leicestershire’s 
“plan on a page” (Appendix C) 

 
12. There are further additions planned for this tab element of the dashboard in relation 

to Mental Health services. Discussions are in progress with the leads for these areas 
at the time of this report. 

 
13. Some outcomes for children and young people are already included as part of the 

health and wellbeing outcomes tab of the dashboard, as these form part of the 
national population health and wellbeing outcomes data set. 

73



 

 
14. There is scope to add to the “delivery of health and care services” tab of the 

dashboard with a sub set of outcomes and metrics associated with models of service 
delivery for children and young people. The intention is not to duplicate the work of 
the Children and Families Partnership Board in this regard, but to discuss further with 
that Board how this should best be focused and captured in the overall health and 
wellbeing board dashboard. 

 
15. The commissioning outcomes section will be developed during Q3 and Q4 of 

2019/20 linked to the workplan of the new Joint Commissioning Group. 
 

16. It is intended that a more visually impactful presentation of this dashboard can be 
developed, e.g. visual/graphical representation which can sit in front of the excel 
sheet format.  

 
17. Following feedback from the Health and Wellbeing Board on the overall content of 

the prototype dashboard, the overall format going forward will be discussed with the 
Business Intelligence team at Leicestershire County Council and the Midlands and 
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit. 

 
18. It is then intended that the Health and Wellbeing Board will receive this dashboard  

quarterly. 
 
Feedback on progress to date 
 
19. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to provide feedback on progress to date, in 

particular:  
 
a. Does this initial format and content of the proposed place-based dashboard meet 

with the expectations of the Board? 
 

b. Should any adjustments to the overall current content, format and layout be 
made? 
 

c. Are there any key outcomes or metrics missing that the Board would expect to be 
included, or any that the Board thinks should be removed at this tier of 
dashboard? 

 
d. Will this type of information assist the Board with:  

i. Having a joint, rounded, summary level view of the overall performance of 
the health and care system within Leicestershire. 

ii. Focusing the Board’s priorities and workplan using the presenting data? 
 

e. Any other actions the Board recommends? 
 
Recommendations 

 
20. It is recommended that; 

 
a) The Health and Wellbeing Board provides feedback on the progress to date on 

the development of a new place-based dashboard, specifically addressing the 
questions raised at paragraph 19 of the report; 

74



 

 
b) The Health and Wellbeing Board note: 

 
i. That the Leicestershire Integration Executive will oversee further 

developments of this dashboard, on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, working with respective subgroups of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and of the Integration Executive. 
 

ii.  That the Integration Executive will receive the dashboard bi-monthly 
meetings, the Integration Delivery Group and Joint Commissioning Forum will 
receive the dashboard monthly, and the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
receive it quarterly.  

 
iii. That the Leicestershire Integration Executive will ensure coordination with 

those officers developing the LLR-wide and Neighbourhood level 
dashboards, to ensure consistency for those metrics that require reporting at 
all 3 levels, also to avoid unnecessary duplication and to agree the tier(s) of 
reporting required for specific metrics 

 
iv. That there will be a report at a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board about the developing of Primary Care Networks dashboards. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Cheryl Davenport 
Director of Health and Care Integration 
cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk 
0116 305 4212  
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
21. The placed based dashboard for Leicestershire will assist the Board in measuring its 

impact of performance in respect of health and care equality/ inequalities, as such 
this is just one of a number of sources of this intelligence, which include amongst 
others, the JSNA.  
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
22. The tracking and delivery of health and care metrics and outcomes in order to 

produce the Leicestershire dashboard involves the collaboration of all health and 
care partners in Leicestershire, along with their business intelligence teams and 
associated tools. 
 

23. The dashboard is intended to support the Health and Wellbeing Board and its 
subgroups discharge their duties more effectively based on data and evidence and 
support joint planning, prioritisation and commissioning decisions across agencies so 
that resources are allocated in the most effective way, and will be impactful in order 
to achieve the desired outcomes for our population. 

75

mailto:cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Performance & Business Intelligence 
Embedded Analyst Team,  
Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland 

Better Care Together 
Outcomes Framework 

Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland 

77



78



79



User Information

Title: Better Care Together Outcomes Framework

Report ID: LLR-BCTOF

Client(s) Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland STP

Data Source(s): Various

Version: Version 2.0

Contact: Jon.Adamson@nhs.net or 07881 359 195

 
Guide to using this 

report:

- 'LLR_Summary' worksheet provides an overview of all measures on the BCT Outcomes Framework. 

- The 'LLR_Summary' worksheet is set-up to print out as an A3 sheet, portrait layout, to provide an overview of 

the outcomes framework on one piece of paper. Please note, none of the other worksheets containing data 

are set up for printing. 

- The 'LRR_Summary' worksheet has filters which enable the users to filter on, for example: 

    - just those indicators updated since the report was last issued;

    - Just those measures RAG-rated 'red'; 

    - just those measures relevant to a specific workstream. 

- Hover over the description to view the rationale for this outcome being included in the framework. 

- The description of each measure links to a separate worksheet with further information about that measure. 

In the first cell of the worksheet containing additional information there is a quick link back to the main 

summary page ('Go to: LLR_Summary').

Midlands and Lancashire CSU Business Intelligence Page 4

80

mailto:Jon.Adamson@nhs.net


System Leadership Team, 22 August 2019 Paper H - Appendix A – BCT Outcomes Framework: August 2019 Update

LLR Plans No. Description Latest data Target
On 

target? 

Direction 

of travel

Good 

is…
Trend Lead workstream Updated?

Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth - female 64.4 >65.2 g h h Prevention

Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth - male 65.1 >64.8 n i h Prevention

Life Expectancy at Birth - female 83.9 >83.7 n h h Prevention

Life Expectancy at Birth - male 80.1 >80.0 n h h Prevention

2a Tobacco Screening [Figures are LPT / UHL] 99% / 99% >90% n h h h Prevention P

2b Tobacco brief advice [Figures are LPT / UHL] 94% / 92% >90% n h h h Prevention P

2c Tobacco referral & medication offer  [Figures are LPT / UHL] 44% / 57% >30% n h h h Prevention P

2d Alcohol screening [Figures are LPT / UHL] 93% / 92% >50% n n i h Prevention P

2e Alcohol brief advice [Figures are LPT / UHL] 73% / 87% >80% n h h h Prevention P

Early Detection & 

Management of Disease
3

Age -standardised rate of mortality from all cardiovascular diseases (under 

75yrs, per 100,000 population)
73.9 <76.1 n i i Long Term Conditions

4
Total incomplete pathways (no. of patients waiting for treatment at month 

end) 
70,015 <= 73,459 n i i Contracts Team (CCGs) P

5
Patients being seen and treated - at the patient's location, followed by 

treatment, discharge and/or onward referrals
42,960 < 44,295 n h h Urgent & Emergency Care P

6 Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions 8,808 < 8,399 g i h Long Term Conditions P

7
Primary care access - Proportion of population benefitting from extended 

access services for 7 days
100% 100% n n h Primary Care Board P

8 Average length of stay (ALOS) in community hospitals (exc day cases) 18.9 < 20.3 n h i
Integrated Communities 

Board
P

9
Emergency re-admissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital 

(no. of spells)
1,616 < 1,548 g i i Urgent & Emergency Care P

10 Patient Experience of GP Services 79.8% > 82.9% g i h Primary Care Board P

676.5 < 692.4 n i i

547.9 < 632.7 n i i

526.6 < 553.8 n i i

86.5% > 91.3% g h i

92.7% > 86.5% n h i

89.0% > 97.2% g h i

69.8% > 61.9% n h h

80.4% > 80.2% n h h

83.2% > 75.9% n h h

14 Total number of emergency admissions 8,973 < 9,197 n i i Urgent & Emergency Care P

536.9 g i i P

509.2 g h i P

574.7 g i i P

16
Percentage of patients admitted, transferred or discharged from A&E within 

4 hours (LLR)
80.6% 95% g i i A&E Board P

17
Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) for all reasons per 100,000 

population
6.6 7.82 n i i A&E Board P

18 Improve ambulance response times 00:12:28 00:15:00 n i i A&E Board P

Developing urgent 

treatment centres in the 

community

19
Actual number of Type 1 A&E Attendances to be no greater than the 

planned number of Type 1 A&E Attendances
288,756 < 276,107 g n i A&E Board P

51.9 > 51.1 n h h

47.0 > 48.1 g i h

46.4 > 47.4 g i h

21 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies - Recovery 48.9% >= 50% g i h Mental Health P

22 Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia 73.8% 66.7% n n h Mental Health P

23 Maternity: percentage of women who were smokers at the time of delivery 9.0% <= 10.32% n i i Children's & Maternity P

24 Access to Children's & Adolescent Mental Health Services 16.7% >=32% g h Children's & Maternity P

25 Cancers diagnosed at early stage 51.0% > 50.3% n h h Cancer Board P

26 Patient reported experience of overall care [UHL] 75.9% > 74.8% n h h UHL

27
Total no. of inappropriate Out of Area Placements for Mental Health (rolling 

3mth)
1,230 <= 360 g h i Mental Health P

28
Number of people with first episode of psychosis starting treatment with a 

NICE-recommended package of care treated within 2 weeks of referral
89.6% >= 56% n h h Mental Health P

29 Cancer patient experience (UHL) 8.7 > 8.5 n h h Cancer Board

Finance 30 STP financial performance against control total Green Green n h G AGAGAAARAAAG Financial Control P

31 Primary care workforce - no. of GPs (FTE) 553.7 567.8 g i h Workforce Group P

UHL 9.1% UHL <10% n i i Workforce Group P

LPT 9.0% LPT <= 10% n h i Workforce Group P

UHL 7.8% UHL < 10% n i i Workforce Group

LPT 8.1% LPT <= 7% g h i Workforce Group P

Running Health & Social 

Care Services Efficiently
33 Effectiveness of working relationships in local system 66.6 > 66.6 g n h System Leadership Team P

Estates 34 Maintain "Good" rating of the LLR Estates Workbook. Good Good n n G
n/a - new metric from 

LLR Estates Forum
Estates Group P

1a

Support patients in 

community facilities to get 

best outcomes

Support patients in 

hospital to get best 

outcomes

Reduce duplication & 

improve flow

1b

Better Public Health & 

Prevention of Illness

Support of patients at 

Home & in their 

Community

D - High Quality Specialised Care

E - Health & Social Care System Fit for The Future

Seamless community 

based specialist care

Improve rehabilitation & 

reablement

C - Responsive care in a crisis

Secondary care workforce: staff turnover rates

Secondary care workforce: staff vacancy rates

32
Workforce

Adult Social Care

Support patients in their 

homes to get best 

outcomes

20
Percentage of people dying in usual place of residence

[Figures are, top-to-bottom: ELR CCG, LC CCG, WL CCG]
End of life Taskforce

Reduction in use of hospital beds following emergency admission

[Figures are, top-to-bottom: ELR CCG, LC CCG, WL CCG]
15

Managing demand in 

community - clinical 

navigation & NHS 111 Urgent & Emergency Care

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days 

after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services. ASCOF 

2B(1)

[Figures are, top-to-bottom: Leicester, Leicestershire, Rutland]

12 Adult Social Care

13

Proportion of people discharged from reablement requiring no or reduced 

services. ASCOF 2D

[Figures are, top-to-bottom: Leicester, Leicestershire, Rutland]

A - Keep more people well & out of hospital

B - More Care Closer to Home

n/a - only 2 data points

Long-term support needs met by admission to residential and nursing care 

homes, per 100,000 population. ASCOF 2A(2) 

[Figures are, top-to-bottom: Leicester, Leicestershire, Rutland]

11 Adult Social Care

P

< 505.15

Contact: Jon.Adamson@nhs.net or 07881 359 195 This copy printed:  17/09/19

81



This page is intentionally left blank



83



Integration Offer Metrics
S / P / N 

/ C

Input / 

Output / 

Outcome

Frequency

M / Q / A / 

B

Updated 

since last 

IDG

Target (if 

applicable)

Latest 

period

Latest 

position

Direction 

of travel
Trend

Appears in 

Other 

Dashboard

Comments / Source of Data

FCP1. Number of referrals received P / N Input M  Jul-19 585 ↓ This represents an increase of 16% on June 2019

FCP1a. Number of referrals received from NT Care Coordinator Check with Debbie this can be provided.

FCP2. Number of onward referrals made P / N Output M  Jul-19 617 ↓ This is reflective of the higher number of referrals

FCP3. Number of episodes of information and advice given P / N Output M  Jul-19 572 ↓ This is back on target now that triage cases is getting on track

LAC1. Number of level 1 introductions P / N Output M  Jul-19 321 ↓

LAC2. Number of level 2 introductions P / N Output M  Jul-19 27 ↓

LAC3. Number of Community Groups being supported P / N Output M  Jul-19 55 ↓

H1. DFG Completion Times - average number of weeks to complete a DFG P / N Q  20 Wks Q1, 2019-20 20.2

H2. No of DFG's Completed by Type YTD P / N Q  Q1, 2019-20 56

H3. DFG Dropout - % over time P / N Q  Q1, 2019-20 8%

H4. Reason for Dropout from the DFG process P / N Q  Q1, 2019-20 66

H5. End to End Times - Avg. No of Weeks P / N M  Jun-19 15.39

H6. Total Value of Invoiced and Commited funds P / N Q  Q1, 2019-20 £713,012.00

H7.  Number of Housing MOTs completed per District Q Q4, 2018-19 545

H8.  Average Number of interventions per Housing MOT per District Q Q4, 2018-19 3.5

H9. Number of HET Referrals - UHL M  Jun-19 56

H10. Number of HET Referrals - LPT (Bradgate Unit) M  Jun-19 12

H11. Referral to Resolution - UHL (Average Days) M  Jun-19 2.51

H12. Referral to Resolution - LPT (Average Days) M  Jun-19 8.25

D1. Delayed transfers of Care (DTOCs) S / P / N M 7.88 Jun-19 6.65 ↓ ICB, BCT DTOC Digest and BCF Metric 3

D2. Proportion of discharges (following emergency admissions) which occur at the weekend P / N ICB, BCT

D3. Trusted Assessors TBC

D4. Admissions for people aged 18+ with a stay of 21+ days per 100,000 age-sex weighted 

population C A 2017-18

ELR - 454

WL - 527 RightCare Pack P76

D5. Admissions for people aged 75-84 with a stay of 21+ days per 100,000 age-sex weighted 

population C A 2017-18

ELR - 2039

WL - 2362 RightCare Pack P77

D6. Admissions for people aged 85+ with a stay of 21+ days per 100,000 age-sex weighted 

population C A 2017-18

ELR - 4782

WL - 5274 RightCare pack P78

D7. Rate of admissions per care home resident aged 65+ with a stay of 21+ days C A 2017-18

ELR - 0.04

WL - 0.07 RightCare pack P106

PA1. Number of Elective patients Pre-abled to return home

PA2. Reduction in DTOCs due to Pre-ablement
PA3. Reduction in Readmissions due to Pre-ablement

R1. Effectiveness of reablement - still at home 91 days after discharge S / P / N A 87.0% Q4, 2018-19 87.7% ↑ ICB, BCT ASCOF 2B(1) and BCF Metric 2

R2. Access to reablement - 65+ receiving reablement after discharge S / P / N A 2017/18 2.8 ↑ ICB NHSOF 3.6.ii

R3. Proportion of people discharged from re-ablement requiring no or reduced services P A  2017-18 80.4 ↑ ICB, BCT ASCOF 2D

R4. Proportion of people receiving a home first offer who received a response in 2 hours ICB

P1. Permanent admissions to residential care S / P / N A 624.1 2018-19 615.0 ↓ ICB, BCT ASCOF 2A(2) and BCF Metric 1

HF1. Increasing the number of service users that receive HART P / N

HF2. Increasing the reduction we achieve in ongoing care costs P / N

HF3. Average duration of reablement episodes (Days) P / N

HF4. Average Ongoing Need (Hours/Week) P / N

HF5. HTLAH subset from existing dashboard to be inserted

Discharge

Reablement and 

Home First

These are the TOM indicators, the Leicestershire County Home First offer is yet to 

develop KPIs.  They've got a meeting next week.  Is also linked to the CSR.

Prevention

First Contact 

Plus

Local Area 

Coordination

Local Area Co-ordinators have been working to capacity so a decrease in 

introductions are due to this. The team have been supporting a number of work 

areas such as the recruitment to social prescribers and people zones. The Local 

Area Co-ordination team have also been testing the Theseus system ready for 

implementation in the next couple of weeks.

Housing

Pre-ablement Not currently collected.

84



Integration Offer Metrics
S / P / N 

/ C

Input / 

Output / 

Outcome

Frequency

M / Q / A / 

B

Updated 

since last 

IDG

Target (if 

applicable)

Latest 

period

Latest 

position

Direction 

of travel
Trend

Appears in 

Other 

Dashboard

Comments / Source of Data

Prevention

First Contact 

Plus

Local Area 

Coordination

Neighbourhood 

Teams

UC1. Emergency Admissions (65+) C M Jun-19

ELR - 1320

WL - 1565 ↓ ICB Check whether CSU report breaks this down by LA?

UC2. Emergency readmissions C M Jun-19

ELR - 448

WL - 585 ↓ ICB, BCT Check whether CSU report breaks this down by LA?

UC3. Unplanned hospitalisation for Chronic Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions C M Jun-19

ELR - 192

WL - 223 ↓ BCT Check whether CSU report breaks this down by LA?

UC4. Rate of emergency admissions per care home resident aged 65+ C A 2017-18

ELR - 0.73

WL - 0.73 RightCare Pack P98

UC5. Rate of A&E attendances per care home resident aged 65+ C A 2017-18

ELR - 1.04

WL - 1.07 RightCare pack P99
UC6. Number of days spent in hospital as an emergency (for people on the community health 

caseload)

C1. Carer Involvement (SACE Q18) P B  2018-19 62.5 ↓ SACE Q18 

C2. Carer reported quality of life P B 2016-17 7.5 → ASCOF 1D

C3. Overall satisfaction of carers with social services P B 2016-17 31.2% → ASCOF 3B

C4. Number of Carers Assessments Completed (ASC)

F1. Emergency hospital admissions due to falls in people aged 65 and over P A 2017-18 1792.8 PHOF 2.24i

F2. Steady Steps To review data from Lucy / Jo

F3. Falls Triage P M Jun-19 45 ↓ LPT

F4. Number of Electronic Assessments completed

F5. Number of electronic falls assessments resulting in a referral for intervention

CH1. Percentage of admissions for people aged 75+ who were discharged to a care home 

(NHS or Non-NHS) C A 2017-18

ELR - 6.3

WL - 6.2 RightCare Pack P59

CH2. Rate of care home beds (all care homes - nursing or residential) per 100 population 

aged 75+ C A 2017-18

ELR - 8.0

WL - 8.5 RightCare Pack P90

CH3. Rate of nursing home beds per 100 population aged 75+ C A 2017-18

ELR - 2.3

WL - 2.8 RightCare Pack P91
CH4. Rate of residential care home and nursing home beds per 100 people aged 65+ 

registered with dementia C A 2017-18

ELR - 55.1

WL - 53.6 RightCare Pack P92

Mental Health

 Indicators are not currently collected or Place Holders for data to be included at a later date.

S / P / N / C System, Place, Neighbourhood, CCG

M / Q / A / B Monthly, Quarterly, Annually, Bi-Annually

Care Homes

Discussions currently ongoing to agree Metrics to be included.

Carers

Falls

Urgent Care

Discussions currently ongoing to agree Metrics to be included.

85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER FOR 
LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENTS ACROSS LEICESTERSHIRE OVER THE 

NEXT TEN YEARS 
 
Purpose of the report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of recent housing completions 

and the number of houses planned in the future. The report also provides information 
on current engagement with health partners (UHL, LPT, Primary Care and NHS 
England) and an update on current initiatives related to the provision of future 
housing. 

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. The provision of housing is directly related to the health and wellbeing of all 

communities living and working in Leicester and Leicestershire (L&L).  
  
Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board notes the information 

contained in the report. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

4. The Health and Wellbeing Board discussed health and housing at a workshop held in 
November 2018, and on 14 March 2019 received a presentation on the recently 
approved Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan and links to health and 
wellbeing.     

 
Context 
 
5. In recent years a key aspiration of Government has been to substantially increase 

the supply of new housing to provide 275,000 or more new homes per year nationally 
to keep up with population growth and start to tackle years of under supply which has 
led to difficulties with the ability to become a home owner and the availability of good 
quality housing to rent. 

 
6. Following the consultation outcomes on the ‘Fixing our Broken Housing Market’ 

Housing White Paper in March 2018 many measures have been, and continue to be, 
introduced to enable this ambition to be achieved.  These include revisions to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the introduction of a standardized 
methodology for the calculation of housing need.   

 

87 Agenda Item 8



 

7. For plan-making purposes Leicester and Leicestershire is identified as a single 
Housing Market Area (HMA) and Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA).  This 
reflects the high level of self-containment of migration flows, with 84% of people 
moving to the area moving from elsewhere within it, and 91% of those moving from a 
location within the area relocating to another part of it; together with strong migration 
flows between Leicester and adjoining authorities.  It also reflects the Leicester 
Travel to Work Area, defined by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) based on 
2011 Census data.  Around 78% of commuting flows are contained within the 
Leicester and Leicestershire authorities (Housing and Economic Development Needs 
Assessment, 2017).   

 
Recent housing completions 
 
8. Housing completions in Leicestershire have steadily increased over the last 10 years.  

There has been a marked increase in completions in the County since 2014/2015, 
with annual housing completions for affordable and market housing totalling over 
2,500 dwelling per annum and in the last three years (2016/2017 to the present 
monitoring year) totalling over 3,000 dwellings per annum.   

 
9. Employment completions have fluctuated during the same period, which is frequently 

the case due to the nature of employment land, and approximately 20 ha of 
employment land has been brought forward each year in the County area over the 
last four years. 

 
10. Appendix A shows housing completions across L&L on a district by district basis.  
 
Planned future growth over the next ten years 
 
11. The adopted Local Plans set out planned growth across Leicester and Leicestershire 

for the next ten years to 2031, with the most recently adopted Local Plan for Melton 
Borough (adopted 2018) extending over 15 years to 2036. Local Plans are produced 
by the district and city councils as local planning authorities (the County Council is 
the local planning authority for minerals and waste). 

 
12. The spatial distribution of the planned growth in existing adopted Local Plans is 

focused on the City and the market towns, following an underlying strategy of urban 
concentration and rural restraint.  A key feature of the adopted Local Plans is the use 
of Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) to create new communities adjacent to 
Leicester (Ashton Green to the north of Leicester in the City area, Lubbesthorpe to 
the west of the City in Blaby District and the North East of Leicester SUE in 
Charnwood Borough), and adjacent to the market towns (West of Loughborough 
SUE in Charnwood Borough, Barwell and Earl Shilton SUEs in Hinckley and 
Bosworth Borough, South East Coalville SUE in North West Leicestershire District).  
This concept has been carried forward in the Strategic Development Areas (SDAs) in 
Harborough District (Lutterworth East and Scraptoft) and in the North and South 
Sustainable Neighbourhoods at Melton Mowbray in Melton Borough. 

 
13. The L&L current Local Plans entail the provision of just over 4,000 dwellings per 

annum (Appendix B), of which the SUEs and other significant allocations will make 
an increasing contribution.  

 
 

88



 

Longer term growth  
 

14. The Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) is a non-statutory strategic plan which was 
prepared jointly by the district councils as local planning authorities, the County 
Council as the highway authority and the City Council as a unitary authority with 
combined planning and highways responsibilities. 

 
15. All ten partners (including the LLEP) approved the SGP in late 2018. The SGP 

provides the strategic steer for the next round of Local Plan making. Setting out a 
strategy for the growth and development of L&L for the period to 2050, it enables 
partners to consider the longer term needs of the area and opportunities which 
extend beyond the conventional timeframe of a Local Plan. 

 
16. The SGP proposes that most development will take place in major strategic locations 

with less development happening in and adjoining existing towns, villages and rural 
areas; and in so doing, it allows new development to be focused along transport 
corridors and close to employment centres. 

 
17. The distribution of housing and employment land over the period 2011 to 2031 and 

2011 to 2036 was considered in the context of the Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment (January 2017) in order to give a more detailed 
framework for Local Plans. 

 
18. Analysis indicated that through existing and emerging Local Plans and planning 

permissions provision can be made for the amount of new housing needed in the 
area to 2031.  This will be achieved through a mixture of major strategic sites already 
identified in Local Plans (approximately 40%) and smaller scale growth on non-
strategic sites (approximately 60%).  The new spatial distribution of strategic 
development, therefore, does not need to focus on this time period but it remains an 
important part of the SGP, particularly if partners wish to accelerate the delivery of 
consented and allocated sites and need to secure the infrastructure which is 
essential to their success.              

 
19. Beyond 2031, the SGP proposes that more growth should be directed to strategic 

locations.  This requires new strategic infrastructure to open up land for development 
and the Midlands Connect Strategy (setting out key transport priorities for the East 
and West Midlands) lays the foundations for this.   

 
20. The SGP growth areas are: 

 

 Leicester City; 

 the A46 Growth Corridor; 

 the Leicestershire International Gateway in the north of the County; 

 the A5 Improvement Corridor; and  

 the Melton Mowbray Key Centre for Regeneration and Growth. 
         
21. The towns of Coalville, Hinckley, Loughborough, Lutterworth and Market Harborough 

are identified as areas where growth would be managed in Local Plans.  In the 
villages and rural areas, the SGP proposes that there will be limited growth 
consistent with providing for local needs. 
 

89



 

22. The ambition is to deliver high quality development through creating new or 
extending existing communities. The decisions will be made in the Local Plans but 
the intention is that individual decisions will be made in line with the SGP strategy. 
The SGP estimates the likely scale of growth for 2031 to 2050.  This was estimated 
across the whole HMA and is set out in Appendix B Table 4 of the SGP; an extract of 
which is included in Appendix B to this report. The numbers will be consistently 
monitored and reviewed and can be adjusted as necessary.   

 
23. The SGP assumes that both Leicester City and Oadby and Wigston BC will be 

unlikely to be able to meet their objectively assessed needs during this period (2031 
to 2050) so assumes there will be a redistribution of housing across the HMA in line 
with the SGP strategy, and proposes a shift in the focus of development from small 
and medium sized sites to strategic locations. 

 
24. Table 4 of the SGP will be used as the basis for future Local Plans and will be 

reinforced in an agreed statement or Statement of Common Ground in Local Plans.  
 

25. In comparison with the housing provision within the current adopted Local Plans: 
 

 There is a significant uplift for Blaby District and Harborough District; 

 An increase for Charnwood Borough, Hinckley and Bosworth Borough and 
Melton Borough; 

 A similar level for North West Leicestershire District and Oadby and Wigston 
Borough; and 

 Leicester City has declared it will not be able to meet its assessed need and 
is currently working on its new draft Local Plan and will quantify this unmet 
need in due course. 
 

26. It is anticipated that Leicester City Council will be considering a report on the 
preparation of its new Local Plan towards the end of 2019.  This will provide 
information to inform the next round of local plan making for the other local planning 
authorities in Leicestershire  

 
27. Work streams continue to be undertaken to provide partners with further information 

on translating SGP strategy into implementation; an example of which is the work 
being progressed on ‘active’ design (an approach which has been embraced in the 
Melton Local Plan, one of the most recent Local Plans to be adopted in L&L) and the 
preparation of Statements of Common Ground. 

 
Engaging with health partners on proposed developments and Section 106 

 
28. At its meeting on 24 May 2019, the County Council’s Cabinet approved the 

establishment of a new Growth Unit, including an annual budget of £500,000. The 
Growth Unit will be responsible for the following:- 
 

a) Identifying and defining land use opportunity; 
b) Engaging with key partners to support the County Council’s growth aspirations; 
c) Programme management of the County Council’s growth delivery activity; 
d) Leading the design and establishment of appropriate growth delivery vehicles; 
e) Ensuring that the County Council positively influences the planning process, 

including its negotiation of s106 developer contributions for strategic housing 
schemes, maximising private sector payments towards roads, schools and other 

90



 

infrastructure and ensuring that planning permissions align with the County 
Council’s strategic outcomes. 

 
29. With regards to the Growth Unit’s role in relation to Section106 negotiations and the 

County Council’s strategic partner role, there have been a number of positive, 
exploratory discussions with representatives of the CCGs, UHL, LPT and latterly 
NHS England and their role in relation to Pharmacy, Dentistry and Optometry. These 
discussions have considered the long-term implications of the growth agenda in 
Leicestershire and specifically the impact the SGP to 2050 has on health services as 
well as the specific implications associated with the proposed Lutterworth East 
Strategic Development Area (SDA), a planning application which is due to be 
considered by Harborough District Council’s (HDC) Planning Committee in January 
2020. 
 

30. The County Council is the sole landowner and promoter for the Lutterworth East 
SDA, but it also has a role as a statutory and non-statutory consultee to the planning 
process and a strategic partner to health agencies and other bodies. A paper setting 
out these discrete roles has been developed and is appended to this report 
(Appendix D). 

 
31. With regards to the Lutterworth East SDA Section 106, discussions have been 

helpfully informed by the CCG’s recent estate audit for the wider Lutterworth Area. 
Proposals focus on extended provision to the existing health centre but also the 
possible delivery of services from a proposed Health and Wellbeing Hub to be 
located within the new development. The CCGs and others are contributing towards 
the functional design of this new Hub. 

 
Extra Care and supported living in Leicestershire  
 
32. The Social Care Investment Plan received Cabinet approval in June 2019 and details 

the need to increase the supply of accommodation-based support across the County 
for adults with a range of additional support needs. This includes a range of 
accommodation-based services to support both working age adults with mental 
health needs, learning disabilities, physical disabilities and for Older People.    
 

33. The current supply of Supported Living extends to approximately 350 units and Extra 
Care provision to 250 units in six schemes where Adult Social Care commission the 
wellbeing service. 
 

34. Using population figures in conjunction with the strategic intention to reduce the use 
of residential care it is estimated that by 2037 a further 750 units of supported living 
and 1200 units of extra care accommodation will be required across the County.  The 
need for nursing care placements and residential placements will remain relatively 
stable, but those requiring services will have far more complex needs.  

 
35. Additional work that has been carried out as part of the Adult Social Care Target 

Operating Model programme highlights the need for significant Supported Living 
Accommodation to be developed over the next 3 years to achieve the ambition of 
moving two thirds of the current working age adult population in residential care into 
supported living. 

 
 

91



 

36. The table shows a number of planned pipeline developments that includes new build 
and property purchase predominately for working age adults. There are no agreed 
plans for new supply of Extra Care for older people as yet, though a number of sites 
are being explored. Extra Care has been included in the proposal for Lutterworth 
East.  

 

Area Property Type Total Units Delivery 
Date 

Harborough 20 self-contained single flats, communal 
space, staff accommodation 

20 Jan 2020 

Harborough 3 bed bungalow, staff space 3 Jan 2020 

Coalville 2 bed house 2 Jan 2020 

Charnwood 14 flats – 10x2 bed, 4x 1 bed 20 July 2020 

Coalville 1 house, 2 blocks of flats 16 Mar 2021 

Coalville* 24 self-contained flats (mix of 1 & 2 bed) 24 2022 

Coalville* Mix of single and shared 10 2022 

*subject to business case and approval and includes provision for Older People 

 
Homelessness and developing the relationship with registered social landlords  
 
37. The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act last year came with a 

requirement to provide personal support plans and temporary accommodation to 
those at risk of homelessness. This has seen an increase in the administrative 
burden placed on local authorities, and has highlighted the extreme shortage of 
suitable temporary accommodation across Leicester/Leicestershire. 

  
38. The Housing Services Partnership has been successful in a bid for working with 

Private Landlords with the aim of providing permanent homes for homeless 
households.  However, this is challenging as the Local Housing Allowance which sets 
the level of Housing Benefit to be provided is based on the lower quartile of average 
rents in the locality, this coupled with many Private Landlords living the sector, and 
mortgage lenders prohibiting landlords from renting to benefit claimants has led to a 
short supply of affordable private sector housing. Whilst affordable homes have been 
built in Leicestershire this has not met demand which has resulted in more 
households waiting on local authority’s Housing Registers for longer periods of time 
and in turn pushing up the requirement for temporary accommodation. 

  
39. In terms of impact upon health, evidence of the above can been seen within the 

Delayed Transfer of Care reporting which shows that housing is increasing as a 
reason for delays, with the pressure on hospitals to provide throughput there is now a 
consideration to discharge patients from the Bradgate Unit as no fixed abode.   The 
weekly cost of step-down placement is £217 compared to a bed in a mental health 
unit which is £529 and, work with health colleagues to identify such solutions is 
ongoing but, pace is slow. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

92



 

Background papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet of Leicestershire County Council on 23 November 2018: Leicester 
and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan – Consideration of revised Plan for approval 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s142306/SGP%20Cabinet%20report%2023%20Nov
%202018%20final.pdf 
  
Report to the Cabinet of Leicestershire County Council on 24 May 2019 – Supporting 
Growth in Leicestershire 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5603&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet of Leicestershire County Council on 25 June 2019 – Capital 
Investment into Social Care Accommodation Support Services 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5604&Ver=4See 
llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk for HEDNA and other evidence for the SGP 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Rob Thornhill, Joint Strategic Planning Manager for Leicester and Leicestershire 
Tel: 07966 991950 
Email: Robert.thornhill@NWLeicestershire.gov.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Housing and Employment Land Completions by Authority 2010/2011 to 
2018/2019  
Appendix B: Notional Housing Need and Anticipated Delivery 2031 to 2050 
Appendix C: Briefing note 11 June 2019 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
40. This report is for information only.  An Equalities and Human Rights Impact 

Assessment (EHRIA) was undertaken on a number of options for the spatial 
distribution of growth within L&L, including that of the SGP.  It is clear that different 
options have the potential to have an impact, in different ways, on matters such as 
age, disability, race, religion or belief (some positive, some negative and some 
neutral). 
 

41. As the SGP is a high-level strategic plan, however, the responsibility for mitigating 
any adverse impacts upon individuals or community groups will fall to subsequent 
statutory plans, primarily the Local Plans prepared by individual authorities.  In most 
cases, it will be important to ensure that specific infrastructure and services are 
planned effectively to deal with the particular needs of these groups. The EHRIA 
ensures that the partner organisations are aware of the various impacts of the SGP 
and enables them to put in place any necessary mitigating measures and/or 
enhancements. 

                
 
 
 

93

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s142306/SGP%20Cabinet%20report%2023%20Nov%202018%20final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s142306/SGP%20Cabinet%20report%2023%20Nov%202018%20final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5603&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5604&Ver=4


 

Environmental Implications 
 
42. A Sustainability Appraisal has been undertaken on the SGP. See the environmental 

implications section to the Cabinet report considered by Leicestershire County 
Council on the SGP on 23 November 2018. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
43. The SGP has been prepared through joint partnership working and the need for 

partners to undertake and discharge their ‘Duty to Co-operate’.  
   

Risk Assessment 
 
44. Risks in not having a SGP were considered and these are set out in Appendix C to 

the Cabinet report considered by Leicestershire County Council on the SGP on 23 
November 2018.   

94



  APPENDIX A 
 
 
Housing and Employment Land Completions by Authority, 2010/2011 to 2018/2019 
 

 

Housing Completions - Leicester and Leicestershire 2010/11-2018/19

Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market Affordable Market

1 Blaby District Council 71 135 78 191 68 226 67 238 123 282 197 536 131 612 115 473 125 396 975 3089

2 Charnwood Borough Council 201 361 202 495 99 404 151 451 155 568 181 650 180 763 253 854 189 928 1611 5474

3 Harborough District Council 100 200 20 220 51 233 49 285 69 427 85 555 58 410 124 456 171 558 727 3344

4 Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 5 222 134 239 17 208 103 377 154 598 80 513 141 428 102 321 99 365 835 3271

5 Leicester City 0 0

6 Melton Borough Council 46 111 19 138 7 57 5 47 18 60 35 106 35 112 35 102 33 189 233 922

7 North West Leicestershire District Council 42 144 57 178 284 81 92 428 686 174 454 141 589 174 791 67 643 1031 3994

8 Oadby & Wigston Borough Council 14 65 12 67 0 44 0 47 24 92 0 117 74 101 12 95 11 83 147 711

9 County Total 479 1238 522 1528 526 1253 467 1873 543 2713 752 2931 760 3015 815 3092 695 3162 5559 20805

10 Leicester and Leicestershire Total 479 1238 522 1528 526 1253 467 1873 543 2713 752 2931 760 3015 815 3092 695 3162 5559 20805

Notes 

North West Leicestershire District Council - 686 total completions in 2014/15 - no data available on the split between affordable/market 

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council - 2018/19 figure is provisional

Employment Land Completions (hectares) - Leicester and Leicestershire 2010/11-2018/19

1 Blaby District Council

2 Charnwood Borough Council

3 Harborough District Council

4 Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

5 Leicester City

6 Melton Borough Council

7 North West Leicestershire District Council

8 Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

9 County Total

10 Leicester and Leicestershire Total

Notes 

Harborough - No figure available for 2010/11. Awaiting figure for 2018/19

North West Leicestershire District Council - No figures available for 2010/11 or 2011/12

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council - 2018/19 figure is provisional

0.90

1.30

0.00

17.68

17.68

13.76

0.67

1.05

20.60

88.89

0.00

167.805

167.805

33.80

10.38

15.665

-1.53

0.00

28.19

28.19

3.15

1.76

5.94

0.64

7.10

52.57

0.00

72.93

72.93

8.21

2.80

1.40

0.85

4.70

12.00

0.00

0.30

4.05

0.00

19.34

19.34

5.48

1.38

7.16

0.97

2.30

0.81

0.00

6.319

6.319

3.73

1.77

-4.011

1.72

1.00

1.46

0.00

2.871

2.871

0.30

0.50

2.261

-2.65

1.10

16.70

0.00

20.255

20.255

0.11

1.50

1.365

-0.52

-3.39

-3.39

0.00

1.55

2.80

0.20

0.00

3.61

3.61

-6.39

3.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

-0.94

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

Notional Housing Need and Anticipated Delivery 2031 to 2050 

 
 

Authority Notional Housing Need 
2031-2050 

Delivery 2031-2050 Current Adopted Local Plan 

 DPA* Total no. of 
dwellings 

DPA* Total no. of 
dwellings 

DPA* Total 

Blaby 361 6,859 924 17,560 380 8,740 ÷ 23 
yrs  

Charnwood 994 18,886 994 18,890 820 13,940 ÷ 17 
yrs 

Harborough 514 9,766 838 15,930 557 11,140 ÷ 20 
yrs 

Hinckley & 
Bosworth 

454 8,626 531 10,090 450 9,000 ÷ 20 
yrs 

Leicester 1,668 31,692 550 10,450 1,280 25,600 ÷ 20 
yrs 

Melton 170 3,230 280 5,320 245 6,125 ÷ 25 

97



yrs 

NW Leics 448 8,512 512 9,720 481 9,620 ÷ 20 
yrs 

Oadby & 
Wigston 

155 2,945 139 2,640 148 2,960 ÷ 20 
yrs 

Total L&L 4,764 90,516 4,768 90,600 4,361 N/A 

* Number of dwellings per annum 
 
Source: SGP Appendix B, Table 4, columns a,b, f and g, and data from adopted Local Plans 
 
                    
 
 
 
 
 

98



 
            Appendix C 
 
Briefing Note (11 June 2019) 
Developer Contributions – Roles and Responsibilities 
Planning Applications, S106 Agreements and Governance 
This note has been prepared to assist partners with understanding Leicestershire County 
Council (LCC) officers’ roles and responsibilities for dealing with the matters listed below, 
along with perceived ‘conflicts of interest’. 
1. County-wide strategic planning matters 

2. LCC’s planning application for Lutterworth East (as ‘applicant’) 

3. Project management of LCC’s planning application  

4. Co-ordination of S106 developer contribution requests 

5. Determining LCC’s planning application 

6. Strategic Partner 

 
1. County-wide strategic planning matters 

 
Strategic Planning Group (SPG) 
The County Council is part of the county-wide SPG, made up of senior 
representatives of the City Council, County Council, seven District Councils and the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP). This group discusses 
cross-boundary strategic planning matters primarily to inform the preparation of 
local plans (and supporting evidence) and other strategic planning issues that affect 
planning decision making, including infrastructure, funding and cross-boundary 
planning application matters. This includes producing the recently adopted Strategic 
Growth Plan (SGP) for Leicester and Leicestershire. Bill Cullen (Chief Executive, 
Hinckley and Bosworth BC) is the Chair of this meeting. Tom Purnell (Assistant 
Chief Executive) attends on behalf of LCC, accompanied by Ian Vears (Assistant 
Director, Environment and Transport). 
 
The SPG has been briefed about the UHL S106 contributions and at its May 2019 
meeting and resolved to commission legal advice to understand whether the 
requests for contributions comply with CIL regulations. This advice is being sought 
to assist local planning authorities in making decisions, but none of the partners will 
be bound by that advice. Each local authority is legally required to determine their 
own planning applications based on the merits of each planning application, having 
regard to their own planning policies and other material planning considerations. 
 
Members Advisory Group (MAG) 
The MAG is a group of political leaders, cabinet members and portfolio holders 
which represent each of the City, County and district authorities on strategic 
planning matters. This group meets to provide political guidance and leadership to 
SPG. Members are supported by senior officers from each of the City, County and 
district authorities.  Mr Pendleton (now the County Council’s representative on the 
MAG having previously represented NWLDC) was re-elected as chair of MAG on 
11 July 2019).  He is supported by Ann Carruthers (Strategic Director, Environment 
and Transport) and Tom Purnell (Assistant Chief Executive). 
 
Planning Officers Forum (POF) 
The POF is a group that sits underneath SPG and comprises heads of planning 
from each of the City, County and district planning authorities. POF provides 

99



technical support to SPG and has responsibility for delivering projects set by SPG. 
This might include commissioning evidence studies or agreeing statements of 
common ground to inform the production of plans. The POF chair for 2018/19 is Nic 
Thomas (LCC Head of Planning). Nic also attends SPG meetings as representative 
of POF. 
 
POF is not a decision-making body and makes no decisions on whether S106 
requests should be accepted or rejected by local authorities. Its role is to provide 
technical advice to SPG. 
 

2. Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC’s) planning application for Lutterworth 

East (as ‘applicant’) 

The applicant for the Lutterworth East planning application is Leicestershire County 
Council. The officer lead is Jon Bennett (Head of Strategic Property). Jon works 
within the Directorate of Corporate Resources, led by Chris Tambini. Jon 
commissioned Marrons Planning to prepare and submit the planning application to 
Harborough District Council (HDC) on LCC’s behalf. All liaison between HDC an 
LCC as applicant is between HDC officers (led by the case officer, Andrew Senior) 
and Marrons Planning. 
 

3. Project management of LCC’s planning application  

Being public sector owned and led, Lutterworth East presents an opportunity to 
deliver a unique form of development that is high quality, innovative and 
aspirational. To ensure alignment with LCC’s strategic outcomes, Simon Lawrence 
(Major Projects Manager) has a project management and co-ordination role. Simon 
works with colleagues throughout LCC, including service providers, to ensure that 
the Lutterworth East development aligns with the County Council’s strategic plan. 
 
Simon does not have a role as ‘applicant’ for the Lutterworth East scheme and has 
no strategic planning role. 
 

4. Co-ordination of S106 developer contribution requests 

The County Council has a responsibility for delivering infrastructure, whether that be 
through developer contributions or through facilities being constructed as part of 
major development making use of its own capital funds or through successfully 
securing external funding (e.g. Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). The co-ordination 
of developer contributions for LCC infrastructure and facilities falls within LCCs 
Chief Executive’s department, led by LCC’s Planning team (Nic Thomas’ service 
area). For Lutterworth East, this includes the range of facilities necessary to make 
the development high quality and sustainable, including community and health 
facilities. 
 
Nic Thomas is not involved in Lutterworth East as ‘applicant’ and has no 
involvement in the planning application process with LCC’s officers (as applicant) or 
Harborough District Council as decision maker. 
 
Nic has a responsibility to periodically report to Members (Cabinet) on S106 
matters. 
 

5. Determining LCC’s planning application 

The Local Planning Authority for the Lutterworth East planning application is 
Harborough District Council (HDC). Norman Proudfoot is Joint Chief Executive at 

100



HDC and represents HDC at SPG. David Atkinson is Head of Planning and 
Regeneration at HDC and represents that authority at POF. The recommendation 
about whether to grant planning permission, and any S106 requirements and/or 
planning conditions will be made by HDC officers. The decision will be taken by 
HDC’s Planning Committee, or the Secretary of State if the application is ‘called-in’ 
(or if HDC refuse the application and an appeal is lodged). 
 
It is a matter for HDC as to whether they consider individual requests for S106 
developer contributions to be compliant with relevant legislation and their local plan 
policies and if so, the weight they give to these requests (including all relevant 
information) as part of the decision-making process.  
 
LCC, in its capacity as applicant, is entitled to make representation to HDC about 
whether requests are in accordance with the relevant legislation and local plan 
policies. Similarly, they will be entitled to raise any concerns about how a package 
of S106 obligations affects the viability of the scheme. 
 
The County Council also acts as a consultee to the planning application process for 
matters such as highways, education, waste, social care etc. Careful consideration 
is given to avoid there being any conflict of interest between these responsibilities 
and the County Council acting as the developer, in this case. 
 

6. Strategic Partner 

The County Council along with the other strategic public-sector bodies in the 
County, have an additional responsibility for collaboration. The County Council is 
committed to delivering growth in a way that meets its strategic objectives and 
outcomes but also, where possible, aligns to the objectives and outcomes of other 
public-sector bodies in the County. In particular given the joint national policy 
agenda with the NHS on health and care integration LCC has a role in supporting 
placebased discussions with the NHS, so that every opportunity is taken to 
collaborate on developments which further the delivery of health and wellbeing 
outcomes to Leicestershire’s citizens. 

 
 
 
 

101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26th SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

ACTIVE DESIGN IN NEW COUNTY HOUSING DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Purpose of report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Board on progress made to incorporate active 
design principles into new housing developments in Leicestershire.  

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. This report outlines progress made by Leicestershire County Council to use Health 

Impact Assessment (HIA) and a Health in All Policies (HiAP) approach to influence the 
design of major developments, policies and programmes. The report specifically 
focusses on how the Authority is progressing in ensuring that new housing developments 
facilitate increases in physical activity by good design, and how it can ensure active travel 
is the default option for moving both within and to and from new developments. Creating 
environments that enable and support healthy behaviours contributes to the all the 
following strategies and plans.  

 
a. The six pillars of intervention  
b. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 
c. Progress against the Integration Agenda 
d. The Better Care Fund; 
e. Better Care Together workstream(s); 
f. The Sustainability and Transformation Plan; 

 
Recommendation 
 

3. It is recommended that the  Board notes the report and supports the Council’s approach 
to help create healthy communities. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
4. Working to improve the wider determinants of health is one of the key objectives of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategy. 
 
Background 
 

5. Almost everything shapes the populations health – where they work, live and play   and 
the social and economic conditions around them make a major contribution to their health 
and wellbeing. Most studies agree that the contribution of health care, although 
important, is responsible for less than half of a person’s health. The biggest contributor is 
the wide bundle of factors often referred to as ‘the wider determinants of health’, those 
factors that are not health care, behaviours or genetics.  
 

103 Agenda Item 9



 

6. Creating healthy places is an essential component of the County Council’s focus on 
prevention. Heathy places can enable people to make healthy choices; promote physical 
activity and active travel; provide access to green spaces, healthy food and warm 
homes.  
 

7. More specifically walking and cycling are good for physical and mental health. Switching 
more journeys to active travel will improve health, quality of life and the environment, and 
local productivity, while at the same time reducing costs to the public purse. These are 
substantial ‘win-wins’ that benefit individual people and the community as a whole. 
 

8. PHE guidance (Public Health England. Working Together to Promote Active Travel: A 
briefing for local authorities. 2016) shows that: 
• physical inactivity directly contributes to 1 in 6 deaths in the UK and costs £7.4 billion 
a year to business and wider society 
• the growth in road transport has been a major factor in reducing levels of physical 
activity and increasing obesity 
• building walking or cycling into daily routines are the most effective ways to increase 
physical activity 
• short car trips (under 5 miles) are a prime area for switching to active travel and to 
public transport 
• health-promoting transport systems are pro-business and support economic 
prosperity. They enable optimal travel to work with less congestion, collisions, pollution, 
and they support a healthier workforce 
 

9. In 2017 Leicestershire County Council along with Leicestershire and Rutland Sport and 
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council were selected to take part in a series of 
workshops with the Design Council and the Local Government Association, to embed 
active design principles into the design of a new housing development to the east of 
Hinckley. The lessons learnt from this have been incorporated into a more systematic 
use of HIAs across the County (see the Appendix for the developed checklist). 
 

10.  A HIA is a systematic, objective and practical way of assessing both the potential 
positive and negative impacts of a proposal on health and well-being and suggests ways 
in which opportunities for health gain can be maximized and risks to health minimised. 
HIA looks at health in its broadest sense, using the wider determinants of health as a 
framework. Importantly, HIA highlights the uneven way in which health impacts may be 
distributed across a population and seeks to address existing health inequalities and 
inequities as well as avoid the creation of new ones. HIA is a tool to implement a HIAP 
approach. It is not an end in itself but is a tool to support decision making – and the 
process of gathering evidence, consulting with stakeholders and developing and 
implementing recommendations is as important as the final document. 
 

11. Over the last 5 years the Public Health Department has undertaken a number of HIAs in 
order to pilot an approach to HIA / HIAP across Leicestershire. These included: 
 
i) Lubbesthorpe 
 

A desk based HIA for the proposed major development in Blaby District for over 10,000 
people with a variety of homes, schools, shops, places to work, community facilities 
and parks and natural green spaces was undertaken with support from the New 
Lubbesthorpe Delivery Group and Blaby District Council. Key evidence based 
recommendations were made covering: 

104



 

 road safety and active travel; 

 street scene development; 

 sustainability of residential units including community energy; and 

 use of buildings and land for community develop projects. 
The recommendations are being considered by the Lubbesthorpe Executive Board 
for inclusion into the final plans. 

 
ii) Melton Borough Council Local Plan 
 

The emerging Options (draft plan) provided an opportunity to undertake a HIA. The 
Local Plan includes the development of at least 6,125 homes and 51 hectares of 
employment land between 2011-2036. The focus for the HIA was on two new large 
scale sustainable neighbourhoods – ‘Melton North’ and ‘Melton South’ urban 
extensions. 

 
The HIA included policy analysis, literature/evidence review, analysis of health needs 
and inequalities, and a stakeholder engagement event with members of the Local 
Plan reference group. Recommendations cover a number of policy areas including: 

 minimising the disruption, anxiety and uncertainty – especially during 
construction phases; 

 fostering and enabling community cohesion and social networks 

 provision of sufficient and appropriate housing types, 

 provision of allotments, community gardens and school gardens, 

 accessibility and affordability of sports facilities; 

 prioritising active transport and including 20mph zones. 
 

The recommendations will now be considered alongside all other formal consultation 
responses in the development of the final plan.  

 
iii) North West Leicestershire Housing Strategy 2016 - 2021 
 

This desk based/ rapid HIA also included community engagement as well as 
evidence appraisal, community profiles gaps analysis and recommendations. The 
latter covered: 

 Supply – holistic delivery of housing; lifetime homes; Training skills and 
employment. 

 Standards – affordable warmth; focus on private rented sector; build for life 

 Support – energy advice; homelessness; community development and social 
networks. 

 
As well as the opportunity to use HIA/HIAP for major strategies, plans and 
developments, this approach can also be used to enhance major procurements 
through applying these principles to social value policies. 
 

12. The latest development to use this approach will be the land east of Lutterworth owned 
by the County Council.  There is an opportunity to create an exemplar in active design, 
using the latest evidence, technologies and methodologies to create a healthy, 
prosperous and sustainable community.  
 

13. By building the Council’s expertise and partnership working in this field it has been 
requested by the City and County Strategic Growth Plan Board to develop a Healthy 
Communities Design Guide. This has the potential to form a framework that would be 

105



 

adopted by Leicester City, Leicestershire County Council and seven Districts Councils, 
and inform and influence the all major housing and infrastructure developments and  
programmes over the next few decades.  

 
Proposals/Options 
 
14. Leicestershire County Council working with Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport and all 

key stakeholders will continue to develop this approach to creating active and healthy 
communities. The Health and Wellbeing Boar is asked to endorse and support this 
approach.  

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
0116 305 4239 
Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Rob Howard 
Consultant in Public Health 
Rob.Howard@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

The process of Health Impact Assessment considers the likely impact on people of 
infrastructure developments, including consideration of the impact on equality and 
diversity. 
 

Appendix  
 

HIA checklist 

106

mailto:Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk


APPENDIX – HIA Checklist 

 

Health Impact assessment Appraisal Tool Checklist : LCC Public Health 

 Nature 
How will the proposal affect health 

Positive or Negative? 

Scale /  

distribution? 

Affect different 
groups of people in 
different ways? 
impact on 
inequalities 

 

Timing  

Short, mid, 

long term? 

Severity 

Minor, 

moderate, 

major 

Lifestyles 

Diet 
Physical activity 
Use of alcohol, 
cigarettes, substance misuse,  
Sexual activity 
Other risk taking 
activity 

 

 

   

Community and Social Influences 

Family organisation and roles 
Citizen power and influence 
Social support and social networks 
Neighbourliness 
Sense of belonging 
Local pride 
Divisions in community 
Social isolation 
Peer pressure 
Community identity 
Cultural and spiritual ethos 
Racism 
Design for low crime 

    

107



APPENDIX – HIA Checklist 

 

Other social exclusion 

Living environmental conditions 

affecting health 

Built environment 
Neighbourhood design 
Diverse retail offer / healthy food 
Housing – affordable; warm; 
ventilation; specific needs; diverse 
types; 
Indoor environment 
Noise 
Air and water quality 
Flooding risk 
Attractiveness of area 
Street furniture 
Shade and rest 
Natural env: 
Green space 
Blue space 
Outdoor PA opps 
Community safety 
Smell/odour 
Waste disposal 
Road hazards / safety 
Community severance 
Cycling and walking facilities and 
infrastructure 
Public transport 
Prioritise pedestrian and cyclists 
Traffic calming 
Walkability incl. connectivity, mixed 
land use, compact neighbourhoods, 
Injury hazards 
Quality and safety of play areas 

    

108



APPENDIX – HIA Checklist 

 

 

Economic conditions affecting 

health 

Unemployment 
Income 
Economic inactivity 
Type of employment 
Workplace conditions 

    

Access and quality of services 

Medical services 
Other caring services 
Careers advice 
Shops and commercial services 
Food – access healthy food; limit fast 
food. Allotments; growing projects. 
Public amenities 
Transport including parking; public 
transport incl stops. 
Education and training 
Information technology 

    

This table combines categories of assessment recommended by 4 publication:  

HIA: A Practical Guide. Welsh Health Impact Assessment Unit. 

https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/files/7714/9555/1126/Whiasu_Guidance_Report_English_V2_WEB.pdf  

Healthy High Streets: Good place-making in an urban setting. PHE and Institute of Health Equity. 2018. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-high-streets-good-place-making-in-an-urban-setting  

Healthy Street Indicators. Transport for London. http://content.tfl.gov.uk/guide-to-the-healthy-streets-indicators.pdf  

109

https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/files/7714/9555/1126/Whiasu_Guidance_Report_English_V2_WEB.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-high-streets-good-place-making-in-an-urban-setting
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/guide-to-the-healthy-streets-indicators.pdf


APPENDIX – HIA Checklist 

 

Spatial Planning for Health: An evidence resource for planning and designing healthier places. PHE 2018. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spatial-planning-for-health-evidence-review  

 

 

Rob Howard, Consultant in Public Health, Room G58, Leicestershire County Council, County Hall, Glenfield, Leicester, LE3 8TB 

Tel: 0116 3054256, Mob: 07748428689 

Email: rob.howard@leics.gov.uk 

110

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spatial-planning-for-health-evidence-review


 

 
 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26th SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT – MULTIMORBIDITY AND 
FRAILTY 

 
Purpose of the report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the recommendations that have 

arisen from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Multimorbidity and Frailty 
chapter. 

 
 Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. The local authority and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) have equal and joint 

statutory responsibility to prepare a JSNA for Leicestershire, through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 to introduce duties and 
powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs. 

 
3. JSNAs are a continuous process and are an integral part of CCG and local authority 

commissioning cycles. Health and Wellbeing boards need to decide for themselves 
when to update or refresh JSNAs or undertake a fresh process to ensure that they 
are able to inform local commissioning plans over time.  

 
4. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 

sets out a vision for the future of health and care services. It focuses on ensuring that 
consistently quality services are delivered which are easier for local people to 
access. Where possible, it is important that the JSNA is used as the evidence base 
for the STP. 
 

5. The purpose of the JSNA is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
community and reduce inequalities for all ages. It should be viewed as a continuous 
process of strategic assessment and planning with the aim to develop local evidence-
based priorities for commissioning which will improve the public’s health and reduce 
inequalities. 
 

6. The JSNA will be used to help to determine what actions the local authority, the local 
NHS and other partners need to take to meet health and social care needs, and to 
address the wider determinants that impact on health and wellbeing. 
 

7. The local authority, CCGs and NHS England’s plans for commissioning services will 
be expected to be informed by the JSNA. Where plans are not in line with the JSNA, 
the local authority, CCGs and NHS England must be able to explain why. 
 

111 Agenda Item 10



2 
 

8. The JSNA is a statutory document that is used by many organisations to evidence 
changes to the commissioning of local services. As such, if any organisation receives 
a legal challenge to the services they commission based on the JSNA, the local 
authority could also be part of that legal challenge.  It is essential that the process 
that is followed meets the legislation that is set out and that the JSNA is a robust 
document. 

 
Recommendation 
 
9. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board welcomes and supports the 

recommendations of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  - Multi Morbidity and 
Frailty. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
10. The last full JSNA for Leicestershire was produced in 2015 and can be accessed at:  

http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html.   
 
11. The Health and Wellbeing Board received a paper in January 2018 which proposed 

that the JSNA would be published in subject-specific chapters throughout a three-
year time period on an iterative basis, in line with CCG and local authority 
commissioning cycles.  This approach was supported with the JSNA outputs agreed 
as: 

 

 Subject-specific chapters of an assessment of current and future health and social  

 care needs.  

 Infographic summary of each chapter 

 A data dashboard that is updated on a quarterly basis to allow users to self-serve 

high level data requests  

12. The Health and Wellbeing Board considered the adult mental health chapter in some 

detail at its Development Day in Autumn 2018.  This resulted in the development of 

an Action Plan which is being considered as a separate item on this agenda. 

 

13. The Board also considered the Air Quality and Health Chapter at its meeting in July 

2019.   

 
14. The JSNA chapters published to date can be accessed at: 

http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html 

 
Background 
 
15. The JSNA Multimorbidity and Frailty chapter was published online in September 

2019 following discussion at the JSNA Reference Group. A link to the full chapter can 
be found under Background papers section towards the bottom of this report.  A 
summary of the recommendations arising from the chapter is provided below. 
 

Summary of Recommendations JSNA Multimorbidity and Frailty 
 

112

http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html
http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2018-2021-jsna.html


3 
 

16. Overall the Multimorbidity and Frailty JSNA chapter has provided an overview of the 

current risk stratification work completed locally and cross referenced this with rapid 

literature reviews of national evidence. The chapter has limitations due to the rapid 

nature of these reviews, and the scope and limitations of the risk stratification and 

segmentation (including coding of the data). However, this JSNA aims to provide 

some direction to support and open conversations about developing systematic, 

targeted approaches to population health management and using the Johns Hopkins 

ACG Tool across Leicestershire and wider LLR. 

 

Results from the Multimorbidity and Frailty JSNA chapter have been triangulated and 

discussed with partners to provide the following recommendations;  

17. Develop a Leicestershire and wider LLR strategy for population health management, 

utilising risk stratification and care coordination approaches. This should consider; 

a) What is the key driver for the strategy? For example, if targeting the greatest 

proportion of people with a Long-Term Condition (LTC), priorities would 

include primary and secondary prevention for hypertension, ischaemic heart 

condition, chronic renal failure and diabetes. However, if average secondary 

care cost over a 12month period is the driver, then specifically people aged 

18-44years with multimorbidity (especially 5 and over LTCs), Congestive Heart 

Failure (CHF), 14% of the population who are frail, high cost and risk of A&E 

admission, followed by depression, schizophrenia and seizure disorders 

should be prioritised for care coordination and prevention interventions.  

Within this strategy, the system should consider prioritising access to those 

who are most deprived due to the gradient in health needs, and increased 

service usage. 

b) Exploring whether further care coordination/ case management work could be 

completed with immunosuppression/transplant patients that have a LTC as 

these patients cost approximately double the cost of other LTC patients with 

two or more conditions.   

c) The importance of combining clinical knowledge with the risk stratification 

results to identify patients that are likely to respond positively and actively to a 

personalised care plan or care coordination approach. 

d) Developing regular data reporting approach for frailty and multimorbidity as 

part of the population health management approach. Ensure the system is 

trained and supported to utilise this data effectively to influence commissioning 

and care delivery at a place and neighbourhood Primary Care Network (PCN) 

level.  

113



4 
 

18. Complete a further evidence review on the clustering of LTCs and define the key 

preventative interventions that should be prioritised across the system in line with the 

agreed priorities for risk stratification as part of the population health management 

approach. This may take a different approach depending on the number of LTCs the 

patient already has such as primary prevention1 for the wider population, secondary 

prevention2 for those with 2-3 LTCs or moderate frailty, and more tertiary prevention 

for those with 5+ LTCs. 

19. Triangulate the results from this JSNA with those from the Right Care national 

evidence. In particular the falls and fragility pathway and long-term conditions work.  

20. Complete further analysis exploring different cohorts of high risk patients to develop 

appropriate interventions at the system, place and neighbourhood level of population 

health management.  

21. PCNs to review LTC disease segmentation within their own practices to identify local 

priorities for commissioning and care coordination. 

22. Agree one, system-wide classification of frailty for LLR. 

23. Work with academic partners to evaluate the impact of risk stratification and care 

coordination across LLR. This may be locally by reviewing the evaluation matrix and 

more formally through bidding for national funding and academic support. 

24. Multimorbidity is now the norm, hence there is a need to ensure appropriate primary 

and secondary care services to address these needs holistically through 

implementation of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

guidance to ensure high quality care plans are completed at scale and accessible 

across organisations. UHL may therefore consider how it may treat multimorbid and 

frail patients more holistically in the longer term. 

25. Embed Making Every Contact Count (MECC) Plus across the system to ensure all 

professionals are aware of the prevention services and referral pathways available 

across Leicestershire. 

26. LLR prevention board to consider the implications for frail and multimorbid patients 

as part of the self-care management workstream including use of assistive 

technologies.  
 

 
 

                                            
1
 Primary prevention refers to actions aimed at avoiding the manifestation of a disease. 

2
 Secondary prevention aims to reduce the impact of a disease or injury that has already occurred. 

114



5 
 

Conclusion 
 
27. Multimorbidity is the norm and services across Leicestershire must ensure they 

respond to these needs. The multimorbidity and frailty JSNA chapter has provided 
some initial evidence to start conversations to support the development of an 
evidenced based population health management strategy that effectively utilises the 
risk stratification and segmentation approaches to care coordination. The chapter 
acknowledges that further work is needed to identify key clusters of multimorbidity 
and what interventions should be prioritised to address these needs. The JSNA 
chapter will be presented to future LLR Primary Care Board, and Integrated 
Communities Board meetings to start this consideration. The results will also be 
progressed through the LLR Population Health Management task and finish group.  
 

 
Background papers 
 
JSNA Multimorbidity and Frailty Chapter can be accessed via the following link: 
http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/multimorbidity-and-frailty.pdf 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys  
Director of Public Health 
Telephone: 0116 3054239 
Email: Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Caroline Boucher 
Head of Business Intelligence 
Telephone: 0116 3057262 
Email: Caroline.boucher@leics.gov.uk 
  
Kajal Lad 
Public Health Business Partner 
Telephone: 0116 3054266 
Email: Kajal.lad@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
28. The JSNA is subject to an EHRIA.  This is being conducted on an ongoing basis in 

consultation with the council’s policy officers.  A representative from the 
Leicestershire Equality Challenge Group (LECG) sits on the JSNA Reference Group 
and members of the LECG participate in the Task and Finish Groups which oversee 
the development of each chapter.  

 
  
Environmental Implications 
 

115

http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/multimorbidity-and-frailty.pdf
mailto:Mike.Sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.boucher@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Kajal.lad@leics.gov.uk


6 
 

29. No significant environmental implications. The JSNA chapter encourages a more 
preventative approach that may increase physical activity and active transport across 
the population.  
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
30. The JSNA chapter highlights the need to consider multimorbidity as the norm, and 

how services need to wrap around the patient to deliver a holistic approach to their 
health and care including considering the implications of care coordination and social 
prescribing for the wider determinants of health. Therefore, the results from this 
chapter are wide ranging across health and care partners, hence will be shared 
widely across a number of partnerships.  

116



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 September 2019 
 

REPORT OF LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUPS 

 
MENTAL HEALTH STANDARDS AND LOCAL INVESTMENT PLANS FOR 

2019/20 ONWARDS 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with details of the Clinical 

Commissioning Group’s investments into Mental Health services in 2019/20 and 
confirmation of their compliance with the requirements of the Mental Health 
Investment Standard (MHIS). 
 

Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

2. This report provides an overview of ; 

 NHS Investments into Mental Health service provision in 2019/20 

 The overall delivery of the MHIS requirements 

 The key strands of the NHS Long term plan (LTP) that these investments 
support 

 
Recommendation 

 
3. The Board is asked to note the CCG’s investment plans and compliance with the 

MHIS. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

4. This report relates to the CCG’s responsibilities under the NHS LTP and the MHIS. 
CCG operational and financial plans are constructed using a combination of national 
planning guidance, constitutional requirements and NHS England mandated service 
developments including those governed by the LTP. These will inform 
Commissioning intentions with local providers and the setting of annual or longer 
term contracted services. The MHIS, required LLR CCGs to increase the level of 
investment in mental health services in 2019/20 by a percentage equivalent to their 
overall funding growth plus 0.7%. This meant a required aggregate increase of 6.4%. 
The Appendix confirms the CCGs have exceeded this requirement, increasing 
expenditure by 6.93% from 2018/19  
 

Background 
 
 

5. This report was requested by the Health and Wellbeing Board in order for it to have 
an oversight of the investments being made by CCGs, receive assurance that they 
are in accordance with Joint Strategic Need Assessment priorities and are meeting 
the needs of local residents. 

 
                                                                      Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 

West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

117 Agenda Item 11



 

 
 
6. During 2019/20 CCG planning, the following Mental Health areas were flagged as 

key priorities for investment; 
a. Perinatal Services – development of local services with Leicestershire Partnership 

Trust (LPT)  - local and LTP priority 
b. IAPT services, including the increased number of IAPT trainees – local and LTP 

priority, specific targeted improvement in access rates required. 
c. Children and Young People improved waiting times – local priority due to relative 

poor position of local provider 
d. Adult Crisis services – local and LTP priority 
e. Learning Disability Transforming Care programme – targeted schemes to reduce 

the number of NHS funded inpatient placements. 
 

7. The LLR STP have also recently secured additional transformation funds to expand the 
community crisis service offer including the further development of alternatives to 
admission including the provision of a crisis café.  This funding is available in 2019/20 
and 2020/21 and will enable the crisis service to offer more intensive home treatment 
interventions and early supported discharge from acute mental health admissions. 
 

8. The LLR STP has also secured an additional £500,000 funding for 2020/21 to be able to 
further develop the mental health liaison service and be able to achieve Core 24 
compliance, with a greater presence in the LRI Emergency Department to support 
people presenting with mental health issues. 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 

 
9. Engagement and consultation is undertaken on a scheme by scheme basis where 

appropriate. 
 

Resource Implications 
 

10. There are no resource implications directly as a result of this paper, but attached is the 
summary CCG investment plan for 2019/20. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Colin Groom, Deputy CFO, ELR CCG 
Telephone: 0116 295 3405  
Email:  colin.groom@EastLeicestershireandRutlandccg.nhs.uk,  

Sarah Warmington, Associate Director of Commissioning ELR CCG 
Email:Sarah.Warmington@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk 

 
Appendix 
 
Summary CCG Investment plan 
 
 
 
 
 

118

mailto:colin.groom@EastLeicestershire
mailto:Sarah.Warmington@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk


 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
11. Individual commissioning and investment decisions are assessed for quality, equality 

and human rights implications as part of the relevant business case for development. 
In addition, service specifications will be drawn up as part of the commissioning 
process and agreed with service providers for inclusion in the relevant contract or 
agreement. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
12. CCGs work with local providers (LPT and Nottinghamshire Healthcare – IAPT 

provider) Local Authorities and patient representative groups when shaping Mental 
Health strategies and programmes. 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
13. CCG investment plans for all services, as with all public sector planning, face 

resource constraints against a backdrop of growing demand. There is a risk inherent 
within the Financial Plan for mental health services that not all priority areas can be 
addressed within 2019/20 and that unexpected cost pressures may require an in year 
review to ensure that wider financial statutory duties can still be met. 

119



LLR CCGs Summary Financial Planning 2019/20 - As at 15th May 2019 Appendix 1

LLR

2018/19 FOT 

M9 - Core 

Mental Health

2018/19 FOT 

M9 - Non-Core 

Mental Health

Total 18/19 

Mental Health 

Spend

Non-recurrent 

adjustment to 

allocation (-/+)

2018/19 Sub-

total for MH 

Investment 

Standard Start 

Point

Non-recurrent 

spend (-/+)

Underlying 

FOT Position 
CQUIN

Opening 

19/20 Position
Inflation (+) Efficiency (-)

Growth 

(Demographic) 

(+)

Growth (Non-

Demog) (+)

Other 

Recurrent 

Cost Pressures 

(+)

Total Before 

CQUIN
CQUIN

Total 2019/20 

Plan Pre-QIPP
QIPP (-)

Revised Total 

2019/20

LPT MH Main Contract, OOA and 

variable activity 95,370,356 0 95,370,356 748,580 94,621,776 -387,874 95,009,650 1,131,450 93,878,200 3,820,843 -1,032,660 563,269 1,408,173 219,688 98,857,512 1,235,719 100,093,231 -1,971,442 98,121,789

LPT LD Main contract 13,468,294 0 13,468,294 0 13,468,294 -13,052 13,481,346 164,594 13,316,752 541,992 -146,484 79,901 199,751 -41,254 13,950,658 174,383 14,125,041 -279,652 13,845,389

0

Sub-total LPT 108,838,650 0 108,838,650 748,580 108,090,070 -400,926 108,490,996 1,296,044 107,194,952 4,362,835 -1,179,144 643,170 1,607,924 178,434 112,808,170 1,410,102 114,218,272 -2,251,094 111,967,178

0

Nottinghamshire Healthcare IAPT 7,777,220 0 7,777,220 540,000 7,237,220 -16,000 7,253,220 0 7,253,220 295,206 -79,785 43,519 108,798 1,104,253 8,725,211 0 8,725,211 0 8,725,211

Future In Mind 511,954 252,761 764,715 0 764,715 -155,030 919,745 0 919,745 38,353 -10,117 5,518 13,796 -87,969 879,327 0 879,327 0 879,327

Perinatal assumed development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other MH Investments 422,370 132,400 554,770 527,963 26,807 -269,200 296,007 0 296,007 6,822 -1,800 2,041 6,956 285,278 595,305 0 595,305 0 595,305

MH Non Contracted Activity 1,166,319 0 1,166,319 0 1,166,319 0 1,166,319 0 1,166,319 47,470 -12,830 6,998 17,495 0 1,225,452 0 1,225,452 0 1,225,452

Alternative Hospital Placements 9,172,000 0 9,172,000 0 9,172,000 142,000 9,030,000 0 9,030,000 376,551 -99,330 54,180 135,450 0 9,496,851 0 9,496,851 0 9,496,851

S117 Aftercare 11,784,550 0 11,784,550 0 11,784,550 0 11,784,550 0 11,784,550 491,416 -129,630 70,707 176,768 0 12,393,811 0 12,393,812 0 12,393,812

Out of County MH Contracts 871,673 0 871,673 0 871,673 -250,000 1,121,673 0 1,121,673 45,659 -12,338 6,730 16,825 4,638 1,183,187 0 1,183,187 -150,000 1,033,187

Partnerships 878,468 635,495 1,513,963 0 1,513,963 -248,262 1,762,225 0 1,762,225 73,485 -19,384 10,573 26,433 0 1,853,332 0 1,853,332 0 1,853,332

LD Pooled Budget 83,047 17,402,435 17,485,482 0 17,485,482 0 17,485,482 169,270 17,316,212 511,611 -148,009 107,477 964,053 0 18,751,344 237,796 18,989,140 -934,898 18,054,242

Acute Including UHL Contract 0 472,254 472,254 0 472,254 0 472,254 0 472,254 23,860 -5,195 3,778 12,751 0 507,449 3,086 510,534 0 510,534

EMAS Contract 0 420,109 420,109 0 420,109 0 420,109 0 420,109 17,182 -4,621 3,361 11,343 -291 447,083 0 447,083 0 447,083

Continuing Healthcare 0 23,019,699 23,019,699 0 23,019,699 0 23,019,699 329,420 22,690,279 988,919 -286,266 208,193 1,884,280 0 25,485,405 307,353 25,792,758 0 25,792,758

Childrens Continuing Care 0 1,363,926 1,363,926 0 1,363,926 0 1,363,926 17,049 1,346,877 51,181 -14,816 10,775 96,975 0 1,490,992 18,637 1,509,630 -166,667 1,342,963

Better Care Fund 0 1,071,866 1,071,866 0 1,071,866 0 1,071,866 0 1,071,866 0 0 0 0 0 1,071,866 0 1,071,866 0 1,071,866

Voluntary Sector 102,161 87,456 189,617 0 189,617 0 189,617 0 189,617 0 0 0 0 0 189,617 0 189,617 0 189,617

MPCs 0 373,480 373,480 0 373,480 0 373,480 0 373,480 0 0 2,241 17,367 0 393,088 0 393,088 0 393,088

GP Prescribing 0 8,605,751 8,605,751 0 8,605,751 0 8,605,751 0 8,605,751 0 0 68,846 292,596 0 8,967,193 0 8,967,193 0 8,967,193

Enhanced Services 0 186,044 186,044 0 186,044 0 186,044 0 186,044 0 0 930 2,605 0 189,579 0 189,579 0 189,579

Untransacted QIPP and 

developments -30,000 0 -30,000 0 -30,000 -30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,317,097 3,317,097 0 3,317,097 -1,231,120 2,085,977
Increase

Total 141,578,412 54,023,677 195,602,089 1,816,543 193,785,546 -1,227,418 195,012,963 1,811,783 193,201,181 7,330,550 -2,003,266 1,249,038 5,392,415 4,801,441 209,971,359 1,976,974 211,948,334 -4,733,779 207,214,555 6.93%

 

120



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION 
 

BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2019/20 
 
Purpose of the report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Health and Wellbeing Board 

for the Leicestershire Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for 2019/20, due to be submitted 
to NHS England on 27th September 2019. 

  
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the BCF Plan for 2019/20 be approved for submission to 

NHS England.  
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3. The 2019-20 BCF policy framework was published on 10th April 2019. This confirmed 

that the BCF provides continuity from the previous round of the programme. The 
delayed BCF planning requirements for 2019-20 were published on 18th July 2019, 
along with the final financial allocations for the BCF Plan. 

 
4. The four national conditions set by the government in the policy framework remain 

the same and are: 

a. That a BCF plan, including at least the minimum mandated funding to the 
pooled fund specified in the BCF allocations and grant determinations, must 
be signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board, and by the constituent local 
authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG). 

b. A demonstration of how the area will maintain the level of spending on social 
care services from the CCG minimum contribution in line with the uplift to the 
CCG minimum contribution. 

c. That a specific proportion of the area’s allocation is invested in NHS-
commissioned out of hospital services, which may include seven-day 
services and adult social care. 

d. A clear plan on managing transfers of care (and improving delayed transfers 
of care), including implementation of the national high impact change model 
for managing transfers of care. 

 
5. Ahead of the BCF policy framework and planning requirements being published, 

work commenced in September 2018 to refresh the BCF plan in line with the annual 
planning arrangements for the CCGs and local authority. 
 

6. The outputs of the review were reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 14th 
March 2019, which included the draft BCF expenditure plan. The Board approved the 

 

121 Agenda Item 12



 

draft BCF plan for 2019/20 for submission to NHS England in line with the national 
timetable, subject to the publication of the national BCF guidance and any further 
amendments required.  

 
7. The Board received a further update on progress to finalise the BCF plan at its 

meeting on the 11th July.  
 

8. In addition, East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
(ELRCCG) and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (WLCCG) 
approved the BCF plan at their Governing Body meeting on 10th September.  

 
BCF Plan for 2019/20 
 
9. The BCF plan for 2019/20 is viewed as a continuation of the previous plan which 

covered 2017-19, therefore materials for the national submission to NHS England are 
being collected through a planning template, and we are not required to provide a 
detailed narrative report on this occasion.  
 

10. The following sections of this report provide an overview of the BCF components and 
submission materials. 
 

Strategic Narrative 
 
11. The narrative section (available at Appendix A) sets out Leicestershire’s approach to 

the integration of health and social care under the headings from the template: 

a. Joined up care around the person; 

b. Joint commissioning and delivery of health and social care at Health and 
Wellbeing Board level; 

c. How the BCF plan and relevant elements of the Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships/Integrated Care Systems plan aligns, including 
any jointly owned outcomes. 

 
BCF Income 
 
12. The BCF plan for Leicestershire now totals £60.2million. Contributions are 

summarised in the table below: 
 

 £000 

ELRCCG minimum contribution 16,825 

WLCCG minimum contribution  22,352 

Improved BCF grant (autumn 2015) 11,353 

Improved BCF grant (spring 2017) 3,403 

Winter Pressure Grant  2,414 

Disabled Facilities Grant 3,920 

Total £60,267 

 
13. In terms of the CCG minimum contribution, in January 2019 NHS England published 

an indicative inflationary increase of 1.79% for the CCG minimum contribution to the 
BCF, which was incorporated into the March version of the BCF plan. It was reported 
in April, following the publication of the policy framework, that this figure would likely 

122



 

be higher, but the announcement of the final figure did not take place until July. The 
final figure increased by the following amounts against 2018/19 spend: 

a. ELRCCG uplifted by 4.25% 
b. WLCCG uplifted by 5.24% 

 
14. NHS England have recognised that there will be a funding pressure on CCGs with 

the additional increase and have looked at ways to support CCGs with the social 
care element of this funding pressure. Further information has been received which 
shows how much additional allocation CCGs should receive to cover the social care 
uplift. This confirmed that the CCGs should receive the following amounts to cover 
the social care pressure: 

a. ELRCCG (for Leicestershire) - £287,000 
b. WLCCG - £388,000 

 
15. These amounts will cover the funding pressures for both CCGs relating to the social 

care spend. The additional funding should be released to CCGs following regional 
assurance that the BCF plan meets the appropriate criteria. 

 
BCF Expenditure Plan 
 
16. The BCF expenditure plan, provided at Appendix B, sets out the line items/service 

areas for each element of the BCF pooled budget. 
 

17. The individual line items show the apportionment of the financial contribution across 
ELRCCG and WLCCG. For the majority of the line items, this is divided in the 
proportions of 42.95% for ELRCCG and 57.05% for WLCCG. (Note that the CCG 
percentage split used for each CCG has been updated to reflect the proportional 
change in the CCG minimum allocations). 
 

18. In some cases, there are line items that are specific only to one CCG or the usual 
proportions have been varied, due to other service specific factors. All of these 
apportionments have been confirmed and assured by the respective parties. 
 

19. The line items funded by the Improved Better Care Fund and Winter Pressures Grant 
(adult social care grants) are highlighted and are subject to Local Authority 
determination and associated grant conditions. 
 

20. The Disabled Facilities Grant allocation is automatically transferred to each District 
Council per the apportionment set out by government. 

 
21. The Integration Finance and Performance Group (IFPG), which includes Finance and 

Strategy Leads from Leicestershire County Council, ELRCCG and WLCCG, reviewed 
the updated expenditure plan at its meeting on 14th August. 
 

22. The IFPG provided a number of recommendations to finalise the BCF expenditure 
plan, with a caveat that if the NHS England additional allocation to CCGs for the 
social care uplift is lower than has been reported, then the IFPG would need to 
address the difference at a future meeting. 

 
23. In summary, since the BCF plan was reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board in 

March, the following amendments have been made to the BCF plan: 

123



 

 
a. The Intensive Community Support service has been renamed Home First, 

Nursing and Therapies in line with the Community Service Redesign 
specification. 

 
b. In the 2017-19 BCF plan, an additional CCG contribution was included in the 

BCF plan to fund the total county contribution towards the Intensive 
Community Support service. As the BCF plan only contributes part of the 
total costs for the Home First line, it was agreed to move the additional 
allocation back into CCG funding sources. 

 
c. Following agreement at the IFPG on 1st July, partners have included within 

the BCF plan a part-year contribution for a CCG Vista grant (which provides 
advice, information and support to individuals who have a sight loss). This 
has been included in the plan for 2019/20 only. 

 
d. The IFPG agreed to transfer the existing mental health section 256 

agreements (total value £168k), which are historical agreements between the 
CCGs and Leicestershire County Council. This has been included in the plan 
for 2019/20 only. 

 
e. Due to the additional CCG BCF contribution uplift announced in July 2019 

(funds designated nationally to be spent on social care), for Leicestershire a 
further £572,000 is required to be spent on maintaining social care spend, to 
ensure that the plan meets this national condition (see para 4b). Following 
discussion at the IFPG, and subsequently agreed by CCG Boards, it was 
agreed to apply this additional uplift contribution on the following two areas: 

 
i. Social Care Protection – the current BCF plan includes contributions 

to adult social care services which were agreed as protected at the 
commencement of the BCF in 2015. These areas of expenditure have 
been maintained within the BCF plan and uplifted each year in line 
with the CCG minimum contributions. However, the actual cost of 
these services (inflationary pressure) has increased at a far greater 
rate than the annual CCG uplift in contributions. It was recommended 
that £417,000 should be used to provide additional funds into the 
protected areas of spend to mitigate inflationary pressures and ensure 
that the level of provision can be maintained.  

 
ii. Learning Disability Lead Commissioning Arrangements – the 

current section 75 arrangements for the lead commissioning of the 
learning disabilities joint funded care are being reviewed during 
2019/20. The cost of providing the lead commissioning functions and 
activity is also under review. The council’s current estimate is that the 
real cost of providing the care management, case management, 
commissioning, contracting and finance functions is £230,000 per 
annum. This is £155,000 more than the current £75,000 paid by the 
CCGs to the council for this service. It was recommended to include 
the additional £155,000 in the BCF plan and then review the actual 
requirement as part of the finance monitoring process. 

 

124



 

f. The additional CCG minimum contribution also identified £87,000 for 
ELRCCG and £289,000 for WLCCG for health spend, which has been 
applied to existing CCG priorities by recommendation of the Chief Finance 
Officers. 

 
24. Within the BCF plan, there is also an existing total of £632,000 allocated to social 

care for ‘invest to save’ schemes. Two areas have been recommended for 
investment relating to Home First and the Transforming Care Programme (TCP). The 
Home First investment (£422,000) will fund the integrated model of reablement and 
the TCP investment (£210,000) will fund the behavioural support services and a 
review of the multi-disciplinary team arrangements for TCP in the county was 
proposed. This is subject to a scoping document which is in progress. The 
investments include some dedicated analyst time to track and evaluate the impact of 
the developments. 

 
High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfers of Care 
 
25. National condition four of the BCF requires health and social care partners to work 

together to agree a clear plan for managing transfers of care and improved integrated 
services at the interface of health and social care to reduce delayed transfers of care. 
 

26. Appendix C provides details on our priorities for embedding elements of the high 
impact change model (HICM) for managing transfers of care; which includes the 
current performance issues that need to be addressed and future changes planned 
for 2019/20. 
 

27. This section also sets out the current position of maturity for each of the eight 
changes in the model and the planned level of implementation by March 2020. The 
Discharge Working Group has oversight on the progress of the HICM for Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 
BCF Metrics 
 
28. BCF plans for 2019/20 will continue to be assessed against the following four 

national BCF metrics. As before, these will be reported nationally, on a quarterly 
basis, to NHS England. 

a. Reducing the number of total emergency admissions (target pre-populated 
from CCG operating plans); 

b. Improving delayed transfers of care (target set by NHS England); 

c. Effectiveness of reablement at 91 days; 

d. Reducing permanent admissions to care and nursing homes. 
 

29. Appendix D provides details on the proposed trajectory for 2019/20; a summary of 
the rationale for the level of performance being aimed for and an update on the 
current progress against the planned target. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

125



 

Next Steps and Assurance Process 
 
30. The submission and assurance process will follow the timetable below: 

 

BCF planning submission from local Health and 
Wellbeing Board areas (agreed by CCGs and local 
government). 

By 27th 
September  

Scrutiny of BCF plans by regional assurers, assurance 
panel meetings, and regional moderation  

By 30th October  

Regionally moderated assurance outcomes sent to BCST 
 

By 30th October  

Cross regional calibration  
 

By 5th November  

Assurance recommendations considered by Departments 
and NHSE  

5th – 15th 
November  

Approval letters issued giving formal permission to spend 
(CCG minimum)  

Week 
commencing 18th 
November  

All Section 75 agreements to be signed and in place  By 15th 
December 

 
31. Work to update the BCF section 75 agreement has commenced and will be 

submitted through the relevant governance routes ahead of the deadline of 15th 
December for approval. 

 
Engagement Planner 
 
32. In preparation for the BCF plan 2019/20, there has been partner engagement as part 

of the review, as shown in the engagement planner in Appendix E. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Cheryl Davenport, Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment) 
0116 305 4212 
Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk  
 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – BCF Plan – Strategic Narrative 

 Appendix B – BCF Expenditure Plan 

 Appendix C – High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfers of Care 

 Appendix D – BCF Outcome Metrics 

 Appendix E – Engagement Planner 

 
 
 

126

mailto:Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk


 

 
Background Papers 
 
BCF Policy Framework 2019/20 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
821676/Better_Care_Fund_2019-20_Policy_Framework.pdf  
 
BCF Planning Requirements 20190/20 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/821675/BCF_Planning_Requirements_2019-20_DHSC_1.pdf  
 
Leicestershire BCF Plan 2017-19 
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/download/Leicestershire-BCF-Plan-2017-
19.pdf  
 
Report to the Board – March 2019 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144895/BCF%20Plan%20Report.pdf  
 
Report to the Board – 11th July 2019 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s147049/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Board_BCF%20R
eport.pdf  

 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
33. The BCF aims to improve outcomes and wellbeing for the people of Leicestershire, 

with effective protection of social care and integrated activity to reduce emergency 
and urgent health demand. 
 

34. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been undertaken which is 
provided at  
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf. 
This finds that the BCF will have a neutral impact on equalities and human rights. 
 

35. A review of the assessment was undertaken in March 2017. 
 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
36. The delivery of the BCF plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget is 

managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers in 
Leicestershire. 
 

37. Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme 
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have 
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

38. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated 
services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being 
implemented through the five year plan to transform health and care in 
Leicestershire, known as the Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships  

 http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/  

127

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821676/Better_Care_Fund_2019-20_Policy_Framework.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821676/Better_Care_Fund_2019-20_Policy_Framework.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821675/BCF_Planning_Requirements_2019-20_DHSC_1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821675/BCF_Planning_Requirements_2019-20_DHSC_1.pdf
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/download/Leicestershire-BCF-Plan-2017-19.pdf
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/download/Leicestershire-BCF-Plan-2017-19.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s144895/BCF%20Plan%20Report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s147049/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Board_BCF%20Report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s147049/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Board_BCF%20Report.pdf
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – BCF Plan Strategic Narrative 
 
Section A – Integrating Care Around the Person 
Leicestershire’s vision for health and care integration is to create a strong, sustainable, 
person-centred, and integrated health and care system, which improves outcomes for our 
citizens. Our model of care is designed to:  

 Deliver more care outside of hospital. 

 Provide integrated, personalised, and holistic services.  

 Help citizens, carers and professionals work hand in hand to maintain health, 
wellbeing and independence, for as long as possible. 

 
The key features of our model are summarised in the table below, and in the BCF Plan on a 
Page, (see the supporting reference document). 
 

BCF THEME DESCRIPTION IMPACT 
 

Integrated 
Neighbourhood 
Teams 

Proactive, MDT teams delivering 
multiagency care planning in 
partnership with GP practice. 
 
Care coordination targeted to 
segmented groups e.g. frailty, 
multiple long-term conditions, 
other complex high health and 
care needs, end of life, 
supporting simple hospital 
discharges at risk of 
readmission.  

Minimising hospital admissions 
Minimising readmissions 
Improving the personalisation, 
quality and coordination of 
community care 
Maximising the coordination and 
impact of local, multiagency 
resources on health and wellbeing 
outcomes 
Maximising the impact of 
Leicestershire’s prevention offer 
 
Enabled by MDT working, risk 
stratification, population health 
management, Leicestershire’s 
social prescribing and prevention 
offer. 

Home First 
 
 

Integrated teams for hospital 
discharge and reablement, 
involving nurses, therapists, 
social care and housing experts, 
operating on a “home first” 
philosophy 
 
Supporting people to step down 
their care after a stay in hospital 
or step up their care at home, 
(e.g. when needs change and/or 
in a crisis).  
 
Joint planning, oversight and 
review of packages of care at 
home. 

Minimising hospital discharge 
delays 
Minimising readmissions 
Maximising opportunities for 
reablement 
Maximising the number of people 
still in usual place of residence 
following reablement. 
 
Enabled by the national high 
impact changes framework for 
DTOC, trusted assessment, 
technology solutions, and co-
location including new Locality 
Decisions Units (LDUs) to direct 
referrals and workflow.  

Adult Social 
Care 
Sustainability  

A new target operating model for 
sustaining adult social care 
involving large-scale process 
redesign and changes to cultural 
and operational practice -  from 

Sustainability of social care 
Releasing efficiencies and more 
time to front line care. 
Minimising hospital discharge 
delays 

129



the customer services centre, 
through assessment, to front line 
delivery. 
 
Aligning adult social care 
resources to new health and 
care models e.g. neighbourhood 
working, crisis response, and 
integrated reablement.  
 
 

Maximising opportunities for 
reablement  
Maximising the number of people 
in usual place of residence 
following reablement 
Reducing permanent admissions 
to residential care 
 
Enabled by process 
improvements, technology, co-
location, trusted assessment, the 
ASC Strategy, LLR Carers 
Strategy and the ASC 
accommodation strategy. 

Community 
Services 
Redesign 

A new specification and delivery 
model for NHS community 
services, including changes to 
bed-based services. 
 
Aligning community nursing and 
therapy services to new care 
models e.g. neighbourhood 
working, crisis response, home 
first (integrated discharge and 
reablement) 
 

Minimising hospital discharge 
delays 
Reducing permanent admissions 
to residential care settings 
Maximising reablement and 
independence at home  
 
Enabled by process 
improvements, technology, co-
location including LDUs, as noted 
above, trusted assessment and 
improved medical support in the 
community. 

Lightbulb: 
Leicestershire’s 
Integrated 
Housing Service 

One stop shop for major/minor 
adaptations, home safety, 
affordable warmth, housing 
options/benefits, hoarding etc. 
 
Delivered by innovation and “can 
do” housing coordinators based 
within hospital discharge teams 
and in the community. 
 

Minimising hospital discharge 
delays 
Reducing permanent admissions 
to residential care settings 
Maximising reablement and 
independence at home  
 
Enabled by embedding housing 
workers in hospital discharge 
teams, the housing MOT, 
streamlined DFG processes, 
continuous improvement, RRO, 
trusted assessment. 

Unified 
Prevention Offer  

A clear, coordinated multiagency 
prevention offer. 
Targeted to population/ 
community needs 
Supporting neighbourhood 
teams to apply prevention 
interventions to their caseload 
 
 

Maximising the impact of local, 
multiagency resources on health 
and wellbeing outcomes 
Maximising the uptake and impact 
of Leicestershire’s prevention offer 
Enabled by  

 First Contact (front door for the 
prevention offer) 

 Staff “making every contact 
count” 

 Local Area Coordinators –an 
asset-based approach in 
communities.  

 GP practice-based social 

130



prescribers. 

Easy to access 
urgent care 

Providing clear alternatives to 
A&E e.g. via urgent care 
centres, the acute home visiting 
service, and extended GP 
services. 

Reducing hospital admissions 
 
Reducing attendances at A&E and 
the overall burden on the 
ambulance service 

Technology 
enabled care 

Digital solutions for care 
delivery, professionals and their 
customers. 
 
 

Maximising staff efficiency through 
technology and via e-care 
transfers between organisations. 
Reducing permanent admissions 
to residential care settings 
Maximising reablement and 
independence at home  
 
Enabled by: 

 PHM tools 

 Summary Care Record, 

 E-referrals/transfers  

 Assistive/smart tech at 
home 

 Residential/nursing home 
connectivity 

 Improved digital channels 
for prevention & self-care 

 

 
 

Person Centred Approaches: Promoting Choice, Maximising Independence 
 
A number of joint assessment and trusted assessor developments have already taken place 
which will become further embedded in 2019/20. 
Leicestershire’s integrated reablement and crisis response service has a joint holistic 
person-centred assessment which directs joint care planning and delivery across community 
nursing and adult social care. 
 
The UHL Integrated Discharge Team has Trusted Assessment (TA) in place, delivered by a 
small team of UHL admission avoidance nurses, on the Acute medical unit, in-reaching into 
ED, across the emergency floor. TA competency workshops have taken place to help 
facilitate this, and Community Hospitals can now accept discharges direct from the 
Integrated Discharge Team.  
 
The Integrated Needs Assessment Tool (INAT - single assessment tool) has been 
developed and approved by all partners. This is used to identify the individual’s needs in the 
acute sector and supports matching patients to suitable onward placements or care 
pathways. This is now operating as the accepted tool for TA between all organisations. The 
tool is being rolled-out in community settings in 2019/20. A Trusted Assessor role has been 
recruited to deliver care homes' assessments across City and County, to ensure that 
potential clients for Care Homes are assessed within 24 hours, and can be received without 
query/delay into care homes, improving DTOC. 
 
In Leicestershire’s integrated housing service (Lightbulb) the Housing Support Coordinators 
are also now trusted assessors for major and minor adaptations, was achieved through 
service and process redesign, with appropriate training from the OT service.  
 

131



Leicestershire’s jointly commissioned domiciliary care service (Help to Live at Home) has 
integrated, person centred approaches built into the process of assessment, placing and 
review of care packages delivered in the home. As we prepare for recommissioning the 
service from November 2020 these will be reviewed/improved further in conjunction with the 
new reablement pathway. 
 
The operating model of integrated teams is focused on improving MDT working, care 
coordination and person-centred care planning/delivery, for patients who are frail, multi 
morbid or who have high health care costs, with their named GP retaining overall 
accountability. Investing further in care coordinators for this cohort of patients across each 
area of Leicestershire is a key development for 2019/20. Care Coordinators will be 
supported by the introduction of designated social prescribing roles for each PCN per the 
NHS long term plan, which in the case of Leicestershire will build on our existing prevention 
offer and social prescribing infrastructure. Care Coordinators in Neighbourhood Teams have 
tested commissioning a small threshold of social care support as part of the integrated 
teams pilot in Leicestershire, which can inform the model further. 
 
The multiagency frailty check developed in 2018/19 list has been adopted into assessment 
and person-centred care planning in the acute sector, on hospital discharge and into the 
work of the Integrated Teams. 
 
Work is also commencing at the time of this BCF submission to consider alignment with and 
preparations for the requirements of the Long-Term Plan Ageing Well strategy, for which 
some additional national funding is being made available.   
 
Promoting Personalisation, Choice and Independence  
 
Leicestershire’s model of integrated health and care is designed to offer more choice and 
personalised care planning via:  

 The delivery of improved person-centred care planning in neighbourhood teams, 

supported by a strong platform of social prescribing, including face to face support 

from local area coordinators 

 The home first philosophy, promoting maximum reablement opportunity at home 

 The LLR Carers Strategy 

 The holistic and asset-based assessment/offer from adult social care’s customer 

services team 

 The holistic housing MOT from the Lightbulb Housing Service 

 Supporting those with learning disabilities to achieve maximum independence in the 

community through the LLR Transforming Care programme and the council’s 

accommodation strategy, whereby a large capital investment for additional supported 

living and extra care units across the county has recently been approved by Cabinet. 

 
Personal Budgets  
 
Although NHS and LA partners already have individual strategies for the delivery of personal 
budgets and direct payments respectively, work commenced in Q4 2018/19 to scope a 
number of priorities for joint working, with a view to producing and approving a joint LLR-
wide strategy for personal budgets by September 2019.  This will set out how integrated 
personal commissioning/integrated personal budgets can be offered and administered for a 
proportion of the local population.   
 

132



This work is being led from the Leicestershire BCF but is being conducted on an LLR-wide 
basis. The joint areas of focus will likely include technical and process developments to 
create joint commissioning infrastructure, cultural change, identifying cohorts of service 
users to test integrated personal budgets, and joint approaches to market development. The 
direct payment cards currently in use in local authorities may be adopted more widely across 
the partnership as a result. 
 
 
 
 
Narrative Section B (i)  
 
Approach to Integrating Services at HWB Board Level (Place) – (and neighbourhood 
level where applicable) 
 
To include reference to joint commissioning arrangements, alignment with PCNs and 
primary care, approach to partnership with the VCS, services to be commissioned via 
the BCF, noting any major changes to the approaches/BCF schemes. 
 
LCC, NHS, District Councils and other partners collaborate to ensure the BCF plan and 
pooled budget is used in accordance with national conditions and funding rules, and to 
maximum impact, so that the model of health and care integration is implemented, can be 
sustained, and that Leicestershire delivers good performance against the BCF metrics.  
 
Since 2015, the Leicestershire BCF plan and pooled budget has been deployed to transform 
and enable new models of care closer to home. It has:  

 Brought health and social care partners into more effective joint working/teams, 

 Redesigned pathways of care more effectively around the individual 

 Delivered a unified prevention offer, and developed the approach to social 
prescribing 

 Provided major improvements to hospital discharge and reablement 

 Sustained adult social care financially, supporting delivery of the adult social care 
strategy 

 Supported the development of new urgent care services, in the community and at 
home 

 Supported the development of neighbourhood teams, testing new approaches to risk 
stratification, MDT working, care coordination and prevention 

 Delivered innovation, (falls pathways, data integration, technology enabled care and 
integrated housing support). 

 
The BCF pooled budget will fund the following key areas of place-based services in 2019/20: 
First Contact, Care Coordination, Urgent Care at Home/in the Community, Integrated 
Hospital Discharge and Reablement Pathways, Domiciliary Care, Transforming Care and LD 
priorities, health and care data integration solutions, assistive technology developments, key 
services and support to sustain adult social care, (e.g. Care Act requirements, residential 
respite, assessment and review teams, quality assurance team for care and nursing homes, 
mitigation of demographic growth and winter pressures). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133



 
 
Alignment with Primary Care/PCNs 
 
Leicestershire’s neighbourhood teams, previously aligned to GP localities, are now being 
aligned to PCNs. They are comprised of designated social care staff and community nursing 
staff, supported by Local Area Coordinators, Lightbulb Housing Services, and the wider 
multiagency prevention offer. There are good working relationships with district councils in 
each neighbourhood, and via county wide arrangements, (e.g. Health and Wellbeing Board, 
Unified Prevention Board, Lightbulb Management Board). 
 
A supporting reference document has been provided to the regional BCF Manager which 
sets out the PCN arrangements in Leicestershire, and the alignment of multiagency 
resources to this model. 
 
How Leicestershire’s Prevention Offer and approach to Social Prescribing supports the work 
of Neighbourhood Teams 
 
Leicestershire’s multiagency Unified Prevention Board (health, social care, police, fire, 
district councils and VCS) has designed and implemented the county wide prevention offer 
and approach to social prescribing over the last two years, ensuring recurrent investment in 
the model by partners. The BCF plan continues to contribute to the First Contact prevention 
hub, a one stop shop featuring web based/telephone self-referrals and GP e-referrals, via 
PRISM.  
 
To support the development of community-based assets and provide a face to face element 
of the prevention offer for citizens, Local Area Coordinators, funded by public health, operate 
in Leicestershire, with a dual role of community capacity building, and supporting individual 
citizens to access local support to maintain their health, wellbeing and independence.  
 
The prevention offer has been specifically designed around the model of neighbourhood 
teams, which have very productive working relationships with First Contact, LACs and local 
district councils, maximising their engagement with, and the uptake of, the prevention offer.  
 
The introduction of social prescribing roles within PCNs from 2019/20 provides an additional 
resource into Leicestershire’s prevention offer. Local partners are in the process of co-
designing how these new roles will operate. A support offer from Local Area Coordinators is 
part of this approach. 
 
Joint Commissioning 
 
Joint commissioning arrangements for domiciliary care services have been in place since 
2016, with recommissioning from November 2020 onwards currently underway.  
 
A joint commissioning OD workshop was held in May 2019, to refresh/reset ways of working 
and agree a new joint commissioning work plan, for the emerging place-based ICS 
arrangements. The workplan includes updating the LD s75 pooled budget, developing an 
approach to integrated personal budgets, improving CHC systems/processes for jointly 
funded cases, commissioning plans for the NHS community services redesign programme, 
and the future of the health and social care protocol.  
 
Partners are currently considering future opportunities and timings for reviewing VCS 
commissioning at place level, in order to develop clear medium-term commissioning 
intentions for the model of VCS support across Leicestershire, including the VCS 
infrastructure arrangements. 

134



 
 
Enablers and Governance for Joint Commissioning 
 
A new Leicestershire joint commissioning forum is being established from September 2019 
to lead delivery of the workplan at place. The implementation of population health 
management across LLR, our refreshed JSNA and a joint commissioning outcomes 
framework, (being developed in Q3 of 2019/20) will provide improved insights for partners, 
with the ability to measure impact both on individual and population outcomes more 
effectively at place level. It is anticipated the reconfiguration of the CCGs will lead to further 
opportunities to develop joint commissioning infrastructure from 2020 onwards. 
 
 
 
B(ii) Approach to integration of Disabled Facilities Grants and wider housing services, 
to support the needs of people with disabilities or care needs, include any 
arrangements for the use of adaptions and technologies to support independent 
living in line with Regulatory Reform Order 2002. 
 
Strategic Growth Plan for Leicestershire 
 
Leicestershire’s LA’s strategic growth plan to 2050 indicates the level of housing expansion 
and infrastructure developments expected over this period. The HWBB is already actively 
engaged, ensuring design elements for healthy places/spaces and planning the impact of 
population and housing growth on health and care. LCC is working with the NHS on the 
implications for Lutterworth, where preparatory work is underway for a development of 2750 
homes. 
 
Lightbulb 
 
The Lightbulb Service is a collaboration of seven districts councils, LCC, Public Health, three 
CCG’s and UHL. The service delivers an integrated housing offer which promotes health, 
wellbeing and independence, which has both a community-based component and a hospital 
discharge component.   
 
The service is well evidenced in terms of reducing delays to hospital discharge, maximising 
independence at home, and revolutionising the DFG process. It has been cited in national 
best practice, (the major national review of DFGs published in Q4 2018/19, a recent report 
by the Royal College of OT’s), showcased at conferences, and won awards. 
 
The service went live across Leicestershire in October 2017. It is configured in a hub and 
spoke model, hosted by Blaby District Council. The hub provides general management 
support, there is a community-based service with “spokes” into each District Council, with 
staffing allocated according to demand.  
 
The community-based service is accessed via several routes, (ASC customer service 
centre, First Contact, Neighbourhood Teams, District Councils). Wherever the entry point 
happens, the referral will immediately come into the one-stop shop, Lightbulb.   
 
The service has 7.5wte staff based in the hospital sector, (the HET team), who operate 
across UHL and the Bradgate Mental Health Unit. They are embedded within integrated 
discharge teams and are established as an essential part of the discharge and flow, offering 
a follow up service in the community for complex cases. 
 

135



Along with providing a holistic housing MOT which considers all the potential housing issues 
for the person (such as affordable warmth/damp homes, home safety and falls prevention, 
major and minor adaptations, advice on housing options and benefits), Lightbulb has 
developed innovative solutions to address those housing issued which previously took many 
weeks to resolve, (and in hospitals impacted on valuable clinical time). These include: 
 

 Implementing a cleaning and clearing service to enable properties to be made 
accessible, habitable and suitable for care to be provided in the home 

 Furniture packs/white goods for accessing rented accommodation 

 Furniture moves within the home, for example to enable downstairs existence, often 
enabled by support from the fire service’s community team 

 Bespoke support to the homeless, those seeking refuge from domestic violence or 
those who lack the necessary residency documentation/status in order to access 
housing solutions/benefits 

 Process redesign for DFGs so that financial assessments and decisions are taken 
early in the process, more tasks can be done by fewer roles, and with fewer handoffs 
(via training and trusted assessment) 

 Achieving a stretch target for DFGs end to end times – e.g. completion within 20 
weeks (achieved across Leicestershire by Q2 2019)  

 Consideration of assistive technology and how properties can be made dementia 
friendly 

 
The Lightbulb Service has been supported by the development and approval of a Regulatory 
Reform Order (RRO), providing additional flexibility and aligned criteria covering the use of 
statutory DFG allocations, discretionary DFG spend and the Home Improvement Grant, in 
line with the housing MOT and improved DFG procedures. 
 
The service is currently considering how DFG funding can be allocated to consider specific 
cohorts of the population, for example those with arthritis following a recent study by the 
Arthritis Society which highlighted that the majority of people who live with arthritis would 
qualify for DFG funding, but do not make applications for DFG’s.  
 
Governance  
 
The governance for Lightbulb comprises a Management Board of senior officers of all 
District Councils, LCC and NHS representation. The purpose of this Board is to oversee the 
delivery and performance of the Lightbulb service, and its medium-term strategy. The Board 
is supported by a Lightbulb Delivery Group comprised of operational managers leading 
continuous improvement in housing services across the county.  
 
Lightbulb Commissioning Decisions 2019/20 onwards 
 
Leicestershire’s Local Authorities took the decision in January 2019 that the hub and spoke 
community service be commissioned recurrently by all LAs in the county for a further three 
years.   
 
The HET (hospitals team) is commissioned non-recurrently from the IBCF until March 2020, 
CCG’s have confirmed the HET service will be supported with recurrent funding at the 
current investment levels beyond this date (likely to be incorporated recurrently into the BCF 
at this point). 
 

136



 
  

137



Narrative Section C – System Alignment 
 
How the BCF plan and other plans align to the wider integration landscape, such as 
STP, ICS. A brief description of the joint governance arrangements for the BCF plan 
(visuals/diagrams can be added to supplementary information sheet) 
 
The transformation and integration of health and care is being tackled at system (across 
LLR), at place (across Leicestershire) and at neighbourhood (within local teams and 
communities). Further information on the approach to the delivery of models of integrated 
health, care, prevention and housing, (at both place and neighbourhood levels), is given in 
sections B(i) and B(ii) 
 
The Leicestershire BCF plan and pooled budget is just one element of many components of 
activity and sources of funds that can be prioritised and deployed by all partners to drive and 
deliver transformational change at these three tiers. It is also a comparatively small 
investment (£60.9m) when compared to the over £1.4bn spent on health and care in LLR 
annually.  
 
Since 2014 partners across LLR have been collaborating on the transformation of health and 
care via the “Better Care Together” programme, now known as the LLR Better Care 
Together Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP). The LLR STP has several 
clinical and enabling workstreams. (see diagram and list on the supplementary sheet).  
 
Many of the activities, services and deliverables funded via the Leicestershire BCF feed into 
the delivery plans of LLR-wide STP workstreams (see NHS System Operational Plan 
2019/20), for example: 
  

 Workplan of the Discharge Working Group and the HICM feeds into the A&E Delivery 
Board 

 Workplans for falls, care homes, community services redesign, integrated reablement 
and neighbourhood teams feed into the LLR Integrated Community Services Board 

 Workplans on data integration, business intelligence (such as for population health 
management), and technology enabled care feed into the LLR IM&T Board, which 
oversees delivery of the Digital Roadmap for LLR. 

 
Maintaining Strategic and Financial Alignment 
 
Following the establishment of the LLR STP, when the 2017-19 BCF submission was made, 
the Leicestershire BCF plan was fully refreshed and aligned formally to the emerging LLR 
STP workstreams. The overall BCF plan structure, themes and funding priorities were 
updated accordingly.  
 
As each element of the LLR STP programme has led to redesign/recommissioning, any 
associated BCF funds have been adjusted to synchronise with these changes. E.g. the 
targeted investments to improving DTOC and the implementation of the new LLR urgent 
care services, whereby BCF funds have been re-directed over time to these new models of 
care. Currently the redesign of community services is also leading to phased implementation 
of operational and funding changes using BCF funds. 
 
The introduction of the IBCF and Winter Funding allocations to LAs presented additional 
non-recurrent elements of the BCF plan and pooled budget to direct. These have been 
carefully managed, both in terms of meeting the conditions of use, such as in support of 
DTOC including the HET (housing discharge team), but also by ensuring financially the 
application of non-recurrent funding within ASC is used to implement transformational 

138



change that generates medium term benefits, such as new approaches to the recruitment 
and retention of care workers, releasing operational efficiencies, or by applying time limited 
project support, infrastructure and quality improvements for work with specific short term 
milestones, such as Transforming Care. 
 
Work is also commencing at the time of this BCF submission to consider alignment with and 
preparations for the requirements of the Long-Term Plan Ageing Well strategy, for which 
some additional national funding is being made available.   
 
Irrespective of the national BCF submission timetable, the Leicestershire BCF plan and 
pooled budget is fully refreshed and aligned annually in Q3/Q4 so that it maintains alignment 
with the medium term financial plan of LCC, departmental budget setting for ASC, and the 
operational plan and financial plans of both CCGs including QIPP assumptions.   
 
The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board has traditionally held a commissioning 
intentions development session (annually in Q3) so that the commissioning priorities and 
financial plans of all partner agencies are shared, discussed and aligned. 
 
System, Place and Neighbourhood – the journey to ICS 
 
The STP and its system level workstreams provide direction across the LLR footprint in 
terms of the national requirements and standardised models of health and care that are 
driven largely by NHS policy, as set out previously in the Five Year Forward View and since 
January 2019, the NHS Long Term Plan. The NHS Long Term Plan indicated that every part 
of the English NHS should become an ICS by 2020/21 and the LLR STP leadership team is 
currently assessing local implications and milestones using the national maturity matrix. 
 
The delivery of integrated models of health and care with Local Authorities relies on a clear 
vision and direction at place, and strong coordination and relationship management with a 
range of other agencies outside of the STP partnership, such as District Councils, the Police 
and enterprise partnerships.  In particular, those commissioning and delivering solutions 
targeted to the wider determinants of health and wellbeing, including economic growth, 
housing, transport, community safety and other socio-economic factors.  
 
For Leicestershire, there are a number of key areas of wider place-based partnership 
working which have implications for the commissioning and provision of integrated health, 
care, housing and prevention services. These include: 
 

 Leicestershire’s 2050 Strategic Growth Plan 

 The priorities of the Housing Services Partnership 

 The target operating model for adult social care  

 The priorities of the Children’s Partnership Plan  

 The adult social care Accommodation Strategy (extra care/supported living) 

 The priorities of the LLEP, and its associated Industrial and Workforce Strategies 

 The Leicestershire Communities Strategy (asset-based communities) 

 The overall role and work of Public Health  

 The overall role and work of Leicestershire and Rutland Sport 
 
Place level working also necessitates effective arrangements and infrastructure for joint 
commissioning including the implementation and oversight of pooled budgets between the 
NHS and Local Government, (see further detail about Leicestershire’s arrangements at 
section Bi). 
 

139



The organisational development plan for the LLR STP to become an ICS by 2021 will 
include refreshing the system level governance structure. This refresh has begun with the 
introduction of a new Partnership Board comprised of lay members and councillor 
representatives, the latter being the Chairs of the three HWB Boards. 
 
The journey to ICS will also involve setting out a clearer articulation of the governance and 
delivery arrangements for the integration of health and care at all three tiers of the NHS 
system. It is envisaged the role of the health and wellbeing board and its governance sub 
structure at “place” will become increasingly important in this regard. In addition, the national 
policy refresh of the BCF for 2020 may lead to changes in how the BCF functions and is 
positioned and structured within ICS arrangements going forward. 
 
In the meantime, Leicestershire’s placed-based governance arrangements have been 
updated during 2019 with the aim of: 

 Centralising integration governance arrangements across the two existing CCG 
footprints/Boards in the County 

 Build in place level representation from the emerging PCNs 

 Provide routine information and a support offer to PCNs about the workplan at place 

 Develop a new place-based dashboard in three sections: a) commissioning 
outcomes, b) impact/outcomes of integrated models of health and care and c) health 
and wellbeing/wider determinants outcomes 

 
It is recognised we are likely to remain in this transitional phase between the old and new 
arrangements through the remainder of 2019/20 and into Q1 of 2020, when the CCGs are 
fully reconfigured, and as new NHS structures for delivery at system, place and 
neighbourhood are established. 
 
A further review of place-based governance will be undertaken, when the: 

 new CCG AO is in post and the CCG is reconfigured 

 ICS arrangements are further developed in LLR 

 BCF policy framework for 2020 onwards is communicated. 
 
Joint Governance Arrangements for the BCF Plan 
 
Leicestershire’s place-based governance arrangements have been updated in Q2 2019 and 
are shown in diagrammatical form on the supplementary reference sheet. 
 
In summary:  

 The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board has three sub-groups as follows: 
o The Leicestershire Integration Executive 
o The Unified Prevention Board  
o The Children and Families Partnership Board. 

 

 The Leicestershire Integration Executive, a director level group, which currently meets 
bi-monthly, has delegated duties from the Health and Wellbeing Board which includes 
the oversight of the preparation and day to day delivery of the BCF plan and pooled 
budget.  
 

 The Integration Executive is now supported by three sub-groups as follows:   
o Integrated Finance and Performance Group (meets quarterly, oversight of 

pooled budgets/s75 agreements)  
o Integration Delivery Group (new May 2019 – meets monthly – comprised of 

providers and commissioners, including primary care – new place-based group 

140



overseeing the overall delivery of integrated models of care for health, care, 
prevention and housing across the County) 

o Joint Commissioning Forum – (new August 2019 -  meeting monthly – 
commissioners only – oversight of the new joint commissioning workplan – see 
further information in section Bi)  

 

 The Leicestershire BCF plan and pooled budget is approved formally as follows: 
o By two x County CCG governing bodies (10th – September 2019) 
o By LCC departmental (adult social care) and corporate governance (11th 

September 2019) 
o By all partners via the Health and Wellbeing Board (BCF preparation reports 

already submitted in January, March, and July 2019, followed by final report for 
formal approval, 26th September 2019) 

 

 The engagement and governance planner undertaken for the refresh and approval of 
the Leicestershire BCF Plan across all partners during 2019/20 is provided in the 
supplementary sheet. 

 
 

141



This page is intentionally left blank



Reshaping the provision of health services in Leicester, Leicestershire  
and Rutland by integrating health and care to improve outcomes  

for patients, and to deliver care more efficiently.

Better Care Fund 2019/20 – Integrating health and care
www.healthandcareinleicestershire.co.uk

The Leicestershire BCF plan, developed by the county’s Health and Wellbeing Board and Integration Executive, has a total pooled budget of £60 million provided by the council and NHS bodies. This is spent on 
developing and implementing plans for integrated health and care services, and to improve the quality and accessibility of services for people in local communities. The BCF plan includes specific funding allocated to 

councils to meet the increased pressures on Adult Social Care, tackle delayed transfers of care, winter pressures and stabilise the local social care provider market.

Unified  
Prevention Offer
Prevention services for people and 
communities which support health, 
wellbeing and independence (accessed 
via First Contact Plus).

Integrated Community Services
Redesigned community services including Integrated Reablement

Integrated  
Housing Support 
Lightbulb
One integrated housing service for 
Leicestershire, which supports safety, 
independence and wellbeing  at home.

Neighbourhood  
Teams
GP services, community nursing  
and social care working hand-in-
hand in each community to provide  
joint care and support.

Integrated Reablement  
and Hospital Discharge
24/7 community care reducing delays in hospital 
discharge. Working to the Home First principle of 
preventing readmission and providing reablement.

Integrated  
Domiciliary Care
Help to Live at Home
Leicestershire’s domiciliary care 
service providing help with day-to-
day activities at home.

Assistive  
Technology
Utilising opportunities presented by new 
technology to support people to live more 
independently.

Digital Records  
and Data Integration
Care Planning and Care Delivery 
supported by an integrated electronic 
summary care record and an integrated 
data warehouse.

Sustaining Adult  
Social Care 
Managing demand, developing the 
workforce and ensuring that services are 
provided in accordance with The Care Act 
2014.

Integrated  
Commissioning
Improving joint infrastructure 
(between Local Authority and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups) in priorities  
such as integrated personal budgets  
and learning disabilities.

Integrated  
Urgent Care
Clear, easy to access alternatives to 
A&E, with improved clinical triage and 
navigation.

T0
23

6

www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk

Reduce the number of 
permanent admissions  
to residential and nursing 
homes (to no more than 
850 admissions) supporting 
people to stay in their 
homes for longer.

Increase the number 
of service users still 
at home 91 days 
after reablement 
(to a minimum of 
87.91%).

Reduce the number of 
delayed bed days in 
hospital (no more than 7.88 
delayed bed days per day 
per 100,000 population).

Reduce the number of 
emergency admissions 
(no more than 837.44  
admissions per 
100,000 population).

What 
improvements 
will we see?

££

Leicester CityUniversity Hospitals of Leicester
NHS TrustEast Midlands Ambulance Service

NHS Trust Helping people. Shaping placesEngland

143



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B - BCF Expenditure Plan 2019/20

Scheme Name IBCF 

Code

West Leics CCG

£000

East Leics & Rutland 

CCG

£000

Leics County Council

£000

Total Budget

£000

Unified Prevention Offer

First Contact Plus s 87.9 66.1 .0 154.0

Total Unified Prevention Offer 87.9 66.1 .0 154.0

Integrated Community Services

Primary Care Coordinator n 19.6 14.7 .0 34.3

Community Hospital Link Workers s 121.6 91.6 .0 213.2

Improving Mental Health Discharge s 159.6 120.2 .0 279.8

Lightbulb - Housing (Discharge) Enablement Team 7.4 i .0 .0 100.0 100.0

GP Link Workers (ELRCCG) (Part of Care Coordination) s .0 430.0 .0 430.0

Additional Link Workers w .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Care Coordination (WLCCG) - details TBC s 209.5 .0 .0 209.5

LLR Community Integrated Neurology & Stroke Rehabilitation Service (CINSS) n 161.6 121.7 .0 283.3

Bradgate Unit - develop an integrated discharge pathway/team 2.3 i .0 .0 30.6 30.6

Non-weight bearing pathway (case management function) s 49.7 37.4 .0 87.1

Discharge Pathway 3 Contract n 233.6 262.6 .0 496.2

Discharge Pathway 3 - Case Management s 22.8 17.2 .0 40.0

Integrated Community Nursing n 3,635.9 2,248.5 .0 5,884.5

Home First, Nursing & Therapies n 1,980.1 1,481.0 .0 3,461.1

Home First Integrated Reablement Investment s 240.4 180.9 .0 421.3

Integration of health & social care rehab/reablement services inc. 24 hour crisis response 3.6 i .0 .0 64.1 64.1

Development of interim bed capacity (D2A) 3.9 i .0 .0 230.5 230.5

Discharge Response Team 6.8 i .0 .0 274.3 274.3

HTLAH - Community Based Review Team (2 week review team) s 240.1 180.7 .0 420.8

HTLAH Reablement - HART (Step Down) s 358.0 269.5 .0 627.5

HTLAH - Independent Providers (Step Up) n 52.3 39.7 .0 92.0

HTLAH Back Office Support s 58.2 43.8 .0 102.0

Crisis Response Service (CRS) - Social Care s 332.5 250.3 .0 582.7

Home First Review Team (2FTE) i .0 .0 110.0 110.0

LCC Home First/ASC Integration PMO 3.1 i .0 .0 274.8 274.8

Enhanced IAG Offer - self-funders in hospital w .0 .0 30.0 30.0

Enhanced IAG Offer - improved information offer to general public w .0 .0 40.0 40.0

Care Homes support / trusted assessment w .0 .0 70.0 70.0

Care Homes support - telemedicine/care for care homes to support ICT infrastructure .0 .0 50.0 50.0

CSC winter pressures demand support w .0 .0 25.0 25.0

Enhanced Home First Offer w .0 .0 150.0 150.0

Additional capacity for redesign of reablement offer (TOM) w .0 .0 400.0 400.0

Reablement Case Management & Assessment Capacity w .0 .0 150.0 150.0

Adult Mental Health Step Down Provision w .0 .0 30.0 30.0

Total Integrated Community Services 7,875.5 5,789.7 2,129.3 15,794.5

ASC Sustainability, Workforce, Market Development

Multi-disciplinary review team for top 100 high cost placements (young adults with LD & autism) 1.3 i .0 .0 186.9 186.9

Home Care Service (ASC protected) s 6,538.9 4,922.0 .0 11,460.9

Assessment and Review (ASC protected) s 935.6 704.3 .0 1,639.9

Residential Respite Service (ASC protected) s 423.7 318.9 .0 742.6

Assistive Technology 7.4 i .0 .0 729.6 729.6

Development of external workforce 6.5 i .0 .0 156.8 156.8

Nursing Care Packages (ASC protected) s 2,053.5 1,545.8 .0 3,599.3

Provider incentives to pick up packages quicker w .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Additional support for homecare/direct payments/residential packages w .0 .0 1,159.2 1,159.2

Stabilising the social care provider market i .0 .0 12,091.7 12,091.7

Total ASC Sustainability, Workforce, Market Development 9,951.8 7,491.0 14,424.3 31,867.1

Care Act

Care Act Support Pathway s 259.0 195.0 .0 454.0

Provision of enhanced carer support services in line with new carers strategy 3.8 i .0 .0 103.6 103.6

Care Act Enablers s 42.8 32.3 .0 75.1

Total Care Act 301.9 227.2 103.6 632.7

Integrated Commissioning

Case Managers for Transforming Care to support inpatient reductions 5.3 i .0 .0 120.9 120.9

Health & Social Care Protocol Training s 58.4 43.9 .0 102.3

CHC Commissioning capacity to support new CHC end to end process & ensure transfer to  assess D2A pathways 2.2 i .0 .0 64.0 64.0

Transforming Care - Lead Commissioner 5.1 i .0 .0 63.9 63.9

Capital contribution to capital costs of Transforming Care accommodation costs 5.2 i .0 .0 10.0 10.0

Contribution to TCP Coordinator role (ELRCCG) New i .0 .0 20.0 20.0

Post Diagnostic Community & In-Reach Service for people affected by Dementia s 164.3 123.6 .0 287.9

Post Diagnostic Community & In-Reach Service for people affected by Dementia n 29.5 29.5 .0 59.0

LD Lead Commissioning Arrangements s 88.4 66.6 .0 155.0

LD Short Breaks n 598.5 260.6 .0 859.1

Positive Behaviour Support Team - to support LD patients w .0 .0 110.0 110.0

Transforming Care Programme - ASC Investment s 119.8 90.2 .0 210.0

Improving Quality in Care Homes s 298.8 224.9 .0 523.7

Vista Grant n 7.3 6.3 .0 13.6

Total Integrated Commissioning 1,365.0 845.6 388.9 2,599.5

Mental Health S256

MH Care Management & Rehab s 53.3 45.7 .0 99.0

MH Welfare Rights s 11.6 9.9 .0 21.6

MH Hospital Inreach s 11.4 9.7 .0 21.1
MH Day Centres s 14.2 12.1 .0 26.3

TOTAL S256 90.5 77.5 .0 168.0

Urgent Care

Night Nursing Service n 232.3 174.9 .0 407.2

Loughborough Urgent Treatment Centre n 905.9 .0 .0 905.9

Home Visiting Service n 1,301.4 633.6 .0 1,935.0
Urgent Care Centres (ELRCCG) n .0 1,338.8 .0 1,338.8

Total Urgent Care 2,439.6 2,147.3 .0 4,586.9

Data Integration

Data Integration Tool s 36.2 27.3 .0 63.5

Total Data Integration 36.2 27.3 .0 63.5

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)

Blaby DC d .0 .0 585.0 585.0

Charnwood BC d .0 .0 992.9 992.9

Harborough BC d .0 .0 451.6 451.6

Hinckley and Bosworth BC d .0 .0 510.2 510.2

Melton BC d .0 .0 303.8 303.8

North West Leicestershire BC d .0 .0 670.3 670.3

Oadby and Wigston BC d .0 .0 405.6 405.6

Total DFGs .0 .0 3,919.5 3,919.5

Programme Resources/Enablers

Integration Programme Management s 203.8 153.4 54.6 411.8

Additional TU Business Consultancy Capacity 7.1 i .0 .0 54.8 54.8

Additional Department Support for Transformation 7.2 i .0 .0 15.0 15.0

Total Programme Resources/Enablers 203.8 153.4 124.4 481.6

TOTAL BCF EXPENDITURE 22,352.1 16,825.1 21,090.0 60,267.2

CCG BCF Minimum Funding Allocation 2019/20 22,352.1 16,825.1 39,177.2

iBCF Supplementary Funding (Social Care Allocation - Spring 2017) 3,403.6 3,403.6

iBCF (Autumn 2015 Spending Review Announcement) 11,352.7 11,352.7

ASC Winter Pressures Funding 2,414.2 2,414.2

DFG Allocation 3,919.5 3,919.5

Total Allocation 22,352.1 16,825.1 21,090.0 60,267.2

Over/ -Underspend Commitment .0 .0 .0 .0

Breakdown of BCF Spend Areas

Maintaining Social Care Spend s 13,194.1 10,213.2 .0 23,407.3

NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Spend (from CCG minimum allocation) n 9,158.1 6,611.9 .0 15,769.9

Disabled Facilities Grants d .0 .0 3,919.5 3,919.5

Improved Better Care Fund Spend i .0 .0 14,756.3 14,756.3

ASC Winter Pressures Funding w .0 .0 2,364.2 2,364.2

22,352.1 16,825.1 21,040.0 60,217.2

2019/20 SPENDING PLAN

145



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C – High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfers of Care 
 
Explain your priorities for embedding elements of the High Impact Change Model for 
Managing Transfers of Care locally, including:     

 Current performance issues to be addressed    

 The changes that you are looking to embed further - including any changes in the 
context of commitments to reablement and Enhanced Health in Care Homes in the 
NHS Long-Term Plan   

 Anticipated improvements from this work 

 
A fully integrated LLR-wide action plan is in place for the delivery of the HICM, led by the 
multiagency LLR Discharge Working Group (DWG). The Leicestershire BCF plan provides 
0.5wte project management resource into the DWG to support the coordination, delivery and 
reporting/assurance process associated with the HICM. 
 
The HICM drives the prioritisation of hospital discharge investments within the Leicestershire 
BCF/IBCF and is delivered through the action plan led by the DWG. The Leicestershire BCF/ 
IBCF expenditure plan also includes mapping of specific investments to the categories of the 
HICM for ease of reference.  
 
The following priority areas for 2019/20 have been identified via the Q1 review of the DWG 
action plan, and are targeted activities to remaining areas of DTOC concern/HICM delivery.  

 Awaiting assessments in mental health – MHSOP and AMH  

 Roll-out use of D2A beds for MHSOP 

 Care homes bed capacity tracker 

 IAG for Self-Funders  

 Trusted Assessor for Care Homes – EMCARE worker  

 Social Care Assessment beds  

 Expansion of the HET service 

 Learning from developments of Integrated locality commissioning pilot site at 

Hinckley and Bosworth focusing on unsupported discharges 

At the end of the 2018/19 financial year, ‘seven-day services’ was assessed as ‘Plans in 
Place’ against the HICM framework. In Q1 of 2019/20 this progressed to established due to 
recent MADE events and improved discharge planning and further investment in provider 
pick-up times for domiciliary care.  
 
All eight high impact changes are therefore now assessed as Established, with the exception 
of Focus on Choice, which is assessed as ‘mature’. 
 
Additional Adult Social Care funding has been recognised as making a positive contribution 
to the progression of delivery of the HICM with all eight areas scheduled to reach maturity by 
the end of the 2019/20 financial year. For 2019/20, this has been concentrated in areas that 
require improvement and are detailed below: 

 Multi-disciplinary teams: 100k to support additional social care link-workers in 

community hospitals and out of county hospitals. This work has contributed to this 

change reaching the ‘mature’ assessment within Q1, 2019/20. 

 Trusted assessors: £70k to procure Trusted Assessors, in conjunction with 

EMCARE, to provide support to care home providers. This will reach ‘mature’ within 

Q2 2019/20 

147



 Focus on Choice: £30k to support the development of the information and guidance 

offer for self-funders.  

 Enhancing health in care homes: £50k to support a Project Implementation lead; 

working with the care home provider market to determine needs across LLR. This 

includes supporting homes to manage complex dementia patients and investigating 

electronic solutions to care. This will contribute to this high impact change reaching 

‘mature’ status in Q2, 2019/20 

Further to the above, there has been significant progress made to further embed the 
Enhanced Health in Care Homes programme. The Care Home Sub Group (CHSG) has been 
refocusing and strengthening LLR’s programme of work under the national Enhanced Health 
in Care Homes (EHCH) agenda.  
 
Improvements have been made in the following areas: 
 

 Increasing the take-up of digital communications tools by care homes, enabling 
improved care by increasing their direct access to health information about their 
residents.  

 The red bag project is ensuring improved information travels residents admitted to 
hospital, reducing the need for clinicians to chase for supplementary information and 
ensuring that individuals’ preferences are factored into care decisions more 
systematically. 

 The care home bed tracker has been introduced in well over half of LLR’s homes, 
making it easier to for commissioners to support prompt hospital discharge where a 
care home bed is required. This will also support members of the public looking to 
identify care homes with vacancies. 

 We have been linking different care home datasets to provide a richer picture of the 
crisis care needs of homes 

 Successful pilot projects have been run in a range of areas increasing the learning 
about what makes a difference, for example to prevent falls or reduce the use of food 
supplements 

 
Changes that will be embedded in the coming months include: 
 

 The UHL Medicines Optimisation in Care Homes project implementation will support 
step down from hospital. 

 A second national digital funding bid, supplemented by social care winter pressures 
funding, is looking to enable wider rollout of the DSP Toolkit, NHSmail and the EPR 
system (also opening up synergies with Medicines Optimisation). The tools would 
bring efficiencies to up to half of LLR’s 300 homes, to health and care colleagues and 
support improved care. 

 We are collating a consolidated view of the training available from various sources 
across LLR and looking to evolve the offer  

 The care homes element of the falls prevention demonstrator project will be 
implemented 

 We are investigating communications platforms to ensure that homes can access the 
information they need, better supporting self-help approaches. 
 

 
Adult Social Care are reviewing and improving the reablement offer within Leicestershire as 
part of the target operating model and redesign of the work of the department.  
Six ‘Try Its’ for the reablement workstream were put into place and tested in Hinckley. The 
detail below provides an update on how the reablement KPI has changed over this period. 

148



The aim of the workstream is to increase the numbers of people able to benefit from an 
improved HART (LCC reablement) service. This involves moving HTLAH (independent 
sector) reablement packages into HART and maximising the independence of those 
accessing the service.  
 
In order to take on the target increase in HART service users (929) across the county, we 
need to release 31% of capacity. The average duration of reablement in Hinckley during the 
try it phase has reduced from c23 days to c15 days, representing a 34% reduction. 
 
Further work will need to take place to establish the right balance of capacity and demand 
across the remaining nine ASC neighbourhood teams to ensure this benefit can be realised 
across the county. Key deliverables are listed below: 
 

 OT and review Co-location with the HART Team. 

 Update the Language in Service User Guide 

 Transfer of Hinckley HTLAH Reablement Cases in to the HART Service 

 Change Job Role Language of HART Workers 

 Senior First Visit Checklist including Goal Setting 

 Frequent Feedback on Goal Progression between HCAs and Senior HCAs 

 

So far, the majority of the impact has been seen in reducing the duration of reablement 
episodes. Therefore, we will be looking to focus on how we can further improve the goal 
setting/progression activities and utilise the OT and Review resource to reduce the ongoing 
need of our service users in coming months. 
 
Summary 
 
The DWG will continue to work in the same manner as in 2018/19 and has already provided 
assurance that the current HICM framework will be fully implemented to Established level (or 
better) by the end of Q1 2019/20.  
 
In addition, the action plan and focused areas of work listed above, which are supported by 
BCF/IBCF funding, will contribute to six of the eight high impact change areas being 
assessed as mature by Q4 19/20 with the exception of seven-day services which will be 
assessed as Established and Focus on Choice which will be assessed as Exemplary. 
 
The DWG will continue its innovation and improvement ethos throughout 2019/20, for 
example they will be closely involved in the next steps on MH and LD accommodation 
solutions and they will look ahead to the revised HICM requirements from 2020, in order to 
address these as soon as practicable. 
  

149



Current position of maturity for each High Impact Change and planned level of 
implementation by March 2020. 
 
 

 Please enter current 
position of maturity 

Please enter the 
maturity level 
planned to be 

reached by March 
2020 

Chg 1 Early discharge planning Established Mature 

Chg 2 System to monitor patient 
flow 

Established Mature 

Chg 3 Multi-disciplinary/multi-
agency discharge teams 

Mature Mature 

Chg 4 Home first/discharge to 
assess 

Established Mature 

Chg 5 Seven-day service Established Established 

Chg 6 Trusted assessors Established Mature 

Chg 7 Focus on choice Mature Exemplary 

Chg 8 Enhancing health in care 
homes 

Established Mature 

 

150



Appendix D – BCF Outcome Metrics 
 
The BCF plan is measured against four outcome metrics. The following tables set out each 
BCF metric, our target for 2019/20, current performance and a summary of the rationale for 
the level of performance we are aiming for. 
 

 

Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and 
nursing care homes, per 100,000 population 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to reduce 
inappropriate admissions of older people to residential care.   

Trajectory for 
2019/20 

Current 
Performance 

Target setting rationale 

850 or less 
permanent 
admissions (or 
586.9 per 
100,000 
population)  

Current full year 
forecast (as at 
July) is for 856 
admissions for 
2019/20 

For this metric, we have set a further stretch target for 
2019/20 taking us beyond our already good 
performance. This has been set due to additional 
interventions and plans in place from 2019/20 
onwards, whereby the council is expanding the 
number of extra care and supported living 
accommodation units, via a planned capital 
programme as outlined in the council’s 
accommodation strategy and MTFS. 
 

 
 

 

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days 
after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to increase the 
effectiveness of reablement and rehabilitation services whilst ensuring that the number of 
service users offered the service does not decrease.   
The aim is therefore to increase the percentage of service users still at home 91 days after 
discharge. 

Trajectory for 
2019/20 

Current 
Performance 

Target setting rationale 

88% of people 
discharged 
from hospital 
into 
reablement/ 
rehabilitation 
services still at 
home after 91 
days 

Between Feb – 
Apr 2019, 
87.9% of people 
discharged from 
hospital into 
reablement/ 
rehabilitation 
were still at 
home 91 after 
days. 

In terms of our reablement metric, again we are 
seeking to maintain our excellent and plan a small 
further stretch to this in 2019/20. This is in recognition 
of our new integrated reablement team/offer, 
implemented in October 2018 across the County as 
part of our Home First philosophy. During 2019/20 
further redesign to NHS community-based services 
will take place and we will be looking ahead to the 
recommissioning of our joint domiciliary care services, 
from 2020 onwards, all of which will be targeted to a) 
maximising the number of people accessing our 
reablement offer and b) achieving optimum outcomes 
from reablement. 
 

 
  

151



 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population (average per 
month) 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome of effective joint 
working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) and community-based 
care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all hospitals for all adults.  
The aim is therefore to reduce the rate of delayed bed days per 100,000 population.   

Trajectory for 
2019/20 

Current 
Performance 

Target setting rationale 

To achieve a 
rate of no 
more than 7.88 
average days 
delayed per 
day per 
100,000 
population 
 
(Set by NHS 
England) 

In June 2019, 
Leicestershire 
achieved 6.65 
average days 
delayed per day 
per 100,000 
population 

The implementation of the HICM for transfers of care, 
along with many local innovations, has ensured a 
sustained good performance against the DTOC target 
throughout 2018/19. Plans for 2019/20 will be focused 
on achieving further improvements for LD and mental 
health discharge pathways, including implementing 
new medium and longer-term accommodation 
solutions outside of hospital settings, as well as 
anticipating areas of further development that may be 
needed to achieve the revised HICM from 2020 
onwards. 
 

 

 

Non-Elective Admissions (General & Acute) 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring the reduction in non-elective admissions 
which can be influenced by effective collaboration across the health and care system. 
Total non-elective admissions (general and acute) underpin the payment for performance 
element of the Better Care Fund. 

Trajectory for 
2019/20 

Current 
Performance 

Target setting methodology and rationale 

Monthly 
average of 
864.94 per 
100,000 
population (or 
a total of up to 
72,313 
admissions 
during 
2019/20) 
 
 
Pre-populated 
from CCG 
operating 
plans 

Between Apr – 
June 2019 there 
have been 
17,362 non-
elective 
admissions 
against a target 
of 17,542 (180 
lower than 
target) 

In terms of emergency admissions performance, the 
urgent care redesign work completed two years ago 
has become fully embedded, with the Leicestershire 
BCF plan supporting recurrent elements of this 
service at urgent care centres and within the acute 
home visiting service. The achievement of the BCF 
metric for emergency admissions marks a major 
turning point and it is hope this position can be 
sustained, however this relies on a wide range of 
other investments and interventions that are aligned 
to the CCG’s operating plan assumptions for this 
metric. The full roll out of integrated teams across 
LLR, supported by population health management, 
anticipated in 2019/20, is expected to bring further 
benefits to admissions avoidance. The Leicestershire 
BCF will provide new investment in care coordination, 
and a continuation of investment in the community-
based prevention offer, so that essential supporting 
infrastructure and capacity is in place across the 
county for the new PCNs and their integrated teams. 
 

 

152



 
 

Appendix E – BCF Engagement Activities 
 
The table below provides detail of activities undertaken between September 2018 and 
September 2019 evidencing how the BCF refresh has been undertaken, with the 
engagement of all stakeholders. 
 
Date Purpose Audience 

20
th
 Sept 18 Initial workshop to review the existing 

BCF schemes 
Integration Operational Group 

24
th
 Sept 18 Review of outputs from workshop Integration Finance and Performance 

Group 

2
nd

 Oct 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress Integration Executive 

10
th
 Oct 18 Review of progress on BCF refresh ASC Transformation Delivery Board 

16
th
 Oct 18 Review of progress on BCF refresh WLCCG Board Development Session 

22
nd

 Oct 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LPT Executive Team 

25
th
 Oct 18 Review of alignment of BCF plan for 

CCG operating plan 
CCG Planning & Strategy Teams 

2
nd

 Nov 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress District Councils Chief Executive 

12
th
 Nov 18 Briefing on BCF progress EMAS Senior Leadership Meeting 

15
th
 Nov 18 Briefing BCF Regional Lead BCF NHS England Regional Lead 

22
nd

 Nov 18 Second workshop to review the existing 
BCF schemes 

Integration Operational Group 

29
th
 Nov 18 Review of outputs from workshop Integration Finance & Performance 

Group 

29
th
 Nov 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress Health & Wellbeing Board 

4
th
 Dec 18 Update on progress of the BCF refresh ELRCCG Integrated Governance 

Committee 

4
th
 Dec 18 Update on progress of the BCF refresh Integration Executive 

6
th
 Dec 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LCC Transformation Delivery Board 

18
th
 Dec 18 Update on progress of the BCF refresh WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup 

19
th
 Dec 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress District Council Health Leads 

20
th
 Dec 18 Briefing on BCF refresh progress District Council Health & Housing MAG 

14
th
 Jan 19 Review of BCF expenditure plan Integrated Finance and Performance 

Group 

16
th
 Jan 19 Update on progress of the BCF refresh ASC Transformation Delivery Board 

5
th
 Feb 19 Update on progress of the BCF and 

section 75 refresh 
Integration Executive 

25
th
 Feb 19 Review of outstanding actions in BCF 

expenditure plan 
Integrated Finance & Performance 
Group 

26
th
 Feb 19 Review of draft BCF submission WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup 

5
th
 Mar 19 Review of draft BCF submission ELRCCG Integrated Governance 

Committee 

12
th
 Mar 19 Sign-off of draft BCF submission ELRCCG Governing Body 

12
th
 Mar 19 Sign-off of draft BCF submission WLCCG Board 

14
th
 Mar 19 Final sign-off of draft BCF submission Health & Wellbeing Board  

26
th
 Mar 19 General programme update & briefing on 

BCF refresh 
Healthwatch Board 

2
nd

 Apr 19 Update on progress of the BCF refresh Integration Executive 

8
th
 Apr 19 Review of ASC winter pressures grant 

proposals 
Integration Finance and Performance 
Group 

153



 
 

9
th
 Apr 19 General programme update & briefing on 

BCF refresh 
LPT Community Health Service SDG 

15
th
 Apr 19 General programme update & briefing on 

BCF refresh 
LPT Executive Team 

18
th
 Apr 19 General programme update & briefing on 

BCF refresh 
UHL Director of Marketing & 
Communications 

30
th
 Apr 19 Presentation on the BCF Refresh 

Process 
VAL Health and Social Care Forum 

10
th
 Jun 19 Briefing BCF Regional Lead BCF NHS England Regional Lead 

24
th
 Jun 19 Briefing on BCF refresh progress District Council Health & Housing MAG 

18
th
 Jul 19 Update on progress of the BCF refresh LCC Transformation Delivery Board 

6
th
 Aug 19 Update on progress to complete the BCF 

plan following publication of planning 
requirements 

Integration Executive 

14
th
 Aug 19 Review final actions on BCF expenditure 

plan 
Integration Finance and Performance 
Group 

19
th
 Aug 19 Update on progress to finalise BCF plan CCG Executive Leadership Team 

28
th
 Aug 19 Review outstanding actions on BCF 

expenditure 
ELRCCG, WLCCG & LCC Strategy and 
Finance Leads 

10
th
 Sept 19 Approval of BCF Submission ELRCCG Governing Body 

10
th
 Sept 19 Approval of BCF Submission WLCCG Board 

11
th
 Sept 19 Approval of BCF Submission ASC Transformation Delivery Board 

13
th
 Sept 19 Briefing on BCF submission Lead Member for Health 

23
rd

 Sept 19 Briefing on BCF submission UHL Director of Marketing & 
Communications 

26
th
 Sept 19 Final sign-off of BCF submission Health & Wellbeing Board 

 
 

154



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
AND SUB STRUCTURE 

 
Purpose of the report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with an update on the governance 

structure in support of the Board following changes that have taken place in 2019. 
  
Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. The governance arrangements led by the Health and Wellbeing Board relate to the 

delivery and oversight of a number of key duties and work programmes for the Place 
of Leicestershire.  
 

3. These include for example: 
 

a. The production of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)  
b. Other place-based needs assessments (e.g. the pharmaceutical needs 

assessment) 
c. The development and oversight of the Leicestershire Better Care Plan and pooled 

budget 
d. The development and delivery of Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy  
e. The development and delivery of Leicestershire’s multiagency Prevention Offer 
f. The development of the strategy, priorities and other activities led by the Children 

and Families Partnership. 
 

4. The sub structure beneath the Health and Wellbeing Board also supports activities 
related to the workstreams of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Better Care 
Together (Sustainability and Transformation Partnership).  

 
Recommendation 
 
5. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:  

 
a. Approve the changes to the sub structure and governance arrangements being 

made during 2019/20 
 

b. Request the Director of Health and Care Integration to carry out a further review of 
place based governance in 2020, when:  
 

i. the new CCG Accountable Officer is in post and the CCG is reconfigured 
 

155 Agenda Item 13



 

ii. There is further clarity about the governance arrangements at the system, 
place and neighbourhood tiers within the emerging LLR Integrated Care 
System. 

 
iii. The BCF policy framework for 2020 onwards is communicated and other 

related policy matters linked to the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
are clearer (e.g. the medium term policy and funding position for adult 
social care). 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
6.  The 2012 Health and Social Care Act involved the introduction of Health and 

Wellbeing Boards with specific statutory duties at Place. 
 

7.    The Terms of Reference of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board were last 
updated and approved in May 2016. 

 
Background 
 
8. Leicestershire’s placed-based governance arrangements are in the process of being   

refreshed and updated during 2019/20, with the aim of: 
 

a. Further centralising integration governance arrangements, in particular across the 
two existing CCG footprints in the County. 

b. Improving place level representation from the existing GP federations and the 
emerging Primary Care Networks (PCNs) in response to changes arising from the 
new NHS plan 

c. Providing information and support to the emerging PCNs about the place level 
workplan and deliverables – when appropriate, in line with the local PCN 
organisational development plan/timetable; 

d. Developing a new integrated place-based dashboard for the Integration Executive 
and Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

9. The revised governance arrangements are shown in the Appendix to this report.  
 

10. In summary, the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board currently has three sub-
groups as follows: 

 
o The Leicestershire Integration Executive 
o The Unified Prevention Board  
o The Children and Families Partnership Board. 

 
11. There is also the Local Health Resilience Partnership (a group operating across 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR)- which reports annually to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and a multiagency task group leading the refresh of the JSNA. 
 

12. The Leicestershire Integration Executive, a director level group, which currently meets bi-
monthly, undertakes, on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the day to day 
oversight of the preparation and delivery of the BCF plan and pooled budget.  

 
 
 

156



 

 
 

13. The Integration Executive is now supported by three sub-groups as follows:  
 

a. Integrated Finance and Performance Group (existing: meets quarterly, oversight 
of pooled budgets/s75 agreements). 
 

b. Integration Delivery Group (new May 2019 – meets monthly – comprised of 
providers and commissioners, including primary care – place-based group 
overseeing the overall delivery of integrated models of care spanning health, 
care, prevention and housing across the County). 

 
c. Joint Commissioning Forum – (new September 2019 -  meeting monthly – 

commissioners only – oversight of a new joint commissioning workplan). 
 

14. It is recognised that partners are currently within a transitional phase between the old 
and new NHS arrangements, and this will be the case through the remainder of 
2019/20 and into 2020/21, as the CCGs are fully reconfigured, new NHS structures for 
delivery at system, place and neighbourhood are established in LLR, as PCNs develop 
and the local response to the NHS Plan is prepared and submitted.  

 
Background papers 
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board – 5 May 2016 – Outputs from the Health and 
Wellbeing Board Development Session held on 10 February 
2016.http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=4632&Ver=4 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title: Cheryl Davenport, Director of Health and Care Integration 
Telephone: 0116 305 4212 
Email: cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk  
 
Appendix 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board Governance Structure – September 2019 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 

15. The Health and Wellbeing Board is leading the delivery of a complex programme of 
transformation for health, care, housing and prevention services within the place of 
Leicestershire, in a political, policy, financial and organisational landscape which 
continues to evolve. 

 
 

157

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=4632&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

INTEGRATION 
EXECUTIVE

UNIFIED 
PREVENTION BOARD

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 
PARTNERSHIP BOARD

Purpose

Leading integration policy 
implementation, including 
the Better Care Fund.  
Provides strategic 
leadership, direction and 
assurance, on behalf of 
the HWB Board to ensure 
that the overall vision for 
health and care 
integration is delivered. 

Multiagency membership 
e.g. NHS, (including 
primary care clinicians) 
social care, public health, 
Districts, Healthwatch.

Purpose

Leading the development, 
design and delivery of 
Leicestershire’s unified 
prevention offer and the 
model for social prescribing, 
targeted to health and 
wellbeing outcomes. 
Coordinates associated 
prevention activities and the 
HWB Board’s communication 
plans across sectors. 

Multiagency membership  e.g. 
NHS , social care, police, fire, 
VCS, District Councils, Public 
Health, Comms.

Purpose 

Provides strategic leadership, 
direction and assurance on 
behalf of the HWB Board to 
ensure that Children and 
Young People in Leicestershire 
are safe, living in families 
where they can achieve their 
full potential ,and have good 
health and wellbeing.

Multiagency membership e.g. 
children and families social 
care, NHS, police, education.

159



INTEGRATION EXECUTIVE

INTEGRATION 
FINANCE AND 
PERFORMANCE 
GROUP (IFPG) 
(Defined in the BCF 
Section 75 agreement  as 
the “Partnership Board”-
is mandatory)

Purpose: Develop 
s75 agreements and 
oversee the 
performance of 
existing s75 
agreements. Oversee 
task groups to 
develop/update 
individual s75/other 
partnership  
agreements.

Meets: Quarterly
Membership: CCGs 
and LA, incl. Chief 
Finance Officers.

JOINT COMMISSIONING 
FORUM (new)

Purpose:
Lead and oversee
delivery of the health and 
care joint commissioning 
outcomes framework and 
joint commissioning 
workplan at Place (areas 
such as LD, PHBs, Dom Care 
etc.) 

Develop  joint 
commissioning tools and 
infrastructure at place level, 
as directed by Integration 
Executive

Meets: Monthly
Membership:
Commissioning leads, SMEs 
and finance leads from 
CCGs and LA

INTEGRATION DELIVERY 
GROUP (new)

Purpose: 
Oversee the development and 
implementation of an 
operational model of integrated 
health and care for 
Leicestershire, in line with the 
vision of the Leicestershire 
Integration Executive and, 
where applicable, the LLR Better 
Care Together Partnership, so 
that the agreed vision, service 
models and outcomes are 
delivered for the benefit of the 
residents of Leicestershire

Develop the Place based 
delivery plan and outcomes 
framework

Meets: Monthly
Membership – multiagency, 
providers and commissioners 
including Primary Care/PCN 
clinicians

160


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2019 and Action Log.
	September2019HWBBActionLog

	5 Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report.
	LR SAB Annual Report 2018-19

	6 Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Childrens' Board Annual Report.
	LRLSCB Annual Report 2018-19

	7 Developing a New Place- Based Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Framework for Leicestershire.
	AppendixA - LLR_STP_BCT Outcomes Framework - Aug2019
	AppendixB - Place Based Outcomes

	8 Housing Developments across Leicestershire over the next 10 years.
	APPENDIX A - Housing and Employment Land Completions by Authority
	APPENDIX B - Notional Housing Need and Anticipated Delivery
	Appendix C

	9 Active Design in New County Housing Developments.
	HIA Appraisal Checklist

	10 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - Multimorbidity and Frailty.
	11 Mental Health Standards and Local Investment Plans from 2019/20 Onwards.
	12 Better Care Fund Plan 2019/20.
	Appendix A - BCF Plan Strategic Narrative
	Appendix A1-BCF plan on a page
	Appendix B - BCF Expenditure Plan 2019-20
	Appendix C - HICM
	Appendix D - BCF Outcome Metrics
	Appendix E - Engagement Planner

	13 Health and Wellbeing Board Governance Arrangements and Sub Structure.
	Appendix Updated HWBB governance substructure


